

Climate Change in the Asia/Pacific Region

A Consultancy Report Prepared for the Climate Change and Development Roundtable

Prepared by Benjamin L. Preston Ramasamy Suppiah Ian Macadam Janice Bathols

Climate Change Impacts and Risk CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research

Wednesday, 11 October 2006

Enquiries should be addressed to:

Benjamin L. Preston, PhD CSIRO Marine & Atmospheric Research Private Bag 1 107-121 Station Street Aspendale, VIC 3195 Phone: +61 3 9239 4400 Fax: +61 3 9239 4444 benjamin.preston@csiro.au

Important Notice

© Copyright Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation ('CSIRO') Australia 2006

All rights are reserved and no part of this publication covered by copyright may be reproduced or copied in any form or by any means except with the written permission of CSIRO.

The results and analyses contained in this Report are based on a number of technical, circumstantial or otherwise specified assumptions and parameters. The user must make its own assessment of the suitability for its use of the information or material contained in or generated from the Report. To the extent permitted by law, CSIRO excludes all liability to any party for expenses, losses, damages and costs arising directly or indirectly from using this Report.

Use of this Report

The use of this Report is subject to the terms on which it was prepared by CSIRO. In particular, the Report may only be used for the following purposes.

- this Report may be copied for distribution within the Client's organisation;
- the information in this Report may be used by the entity for which it was prepared ("the Client"), or by the Client's contractors and agents, for the Client's internal business operations (but not licensing to third parties);
- extracts of the Report distributed for these purposes must clearly note that the extract is part of a larger Report prepared by CSIRO for the Client.

The Report must not be used as a means of endorsement without the prior written consent of CSIRO.

The name, trade mark or logo of CSIRO must not be used without the prior written consent of CSIRO.

CONTENTS

EXE	CUT	IVE SUMMARY	1
1.	INT	ERNATIONAL CONTEXT	6
	1.1	Introduction to Global Climate Change	6
	1.2	International Perspectives on 'Dangerous' Climate Change	7
2.	REG	GIONAL CONTEXT	9
	2.1	Economic Status and Trends of Asia/Pacific Nations	9
	2.2	Asia/Pacific Climate and Trends 2.2.1 Arid and Semi-Arid Asia 2.2.2 Temperate Asia 2.2.3 Tropical Asia	13 .15 .16 .16
	2.3	Regional Climate Vulnerability	17
3.	CLII	MATE PROJECTIONS FOR THE ASIA/PACIFIC REGION	19
	3.1	Global Climate Model Selection	19
	3.2	Generation of Climate Change Projections	20
	3.3	Projected Asia/Pacific Temperature Changes	21
	3.4	Projected Asia/Pacific Rainfall Changes	22
	3.5	Sea-level Rise and Variability	26
	3.6	Climate Extremes and Surprises	28
4.	CLII	MATE CHANGE IMPACTS IN THE ASIA/PACIFIC REGION	29
	4.1	Coastal Communities	30
	4.2	Ecosystems and Biodiversity	33
	4.3	Infectious Disease and Heat-Related Mortality	36
	4.4	Water Resources	38
	4.5	Agriculture and Commercial Forestry	40

	4.6	Regional Economic Impacts	44
	4.7	Cross-Sectoral Synthesis	46
	4.8	Climate Impacts and Human and Regional Security	48
5.	REG	GIONAL ADAPTATION AND CAPACITY-BUILDING	51
	5.1	Climate Adaptation: Terms and Definitions	51
	5.2	Summary of Adaptation Strategies	53
	5.3	Adaptation in the Context of Sustainable Development	55
	5.4	Balancing Mitigation and Adaptation	57
6.	KNC	OWLEDGE GAPS	58
7.	CON	NCLUSIONS	60
8.	APF	PENDIX I. VITAL STATISTICS FOR ASIA/PACIFIC NATIONS	62
9.	APF ASS	PENDIX II. 2004/2005 AUSTRALIAN DEVELOPMENT SISTANCE TO ASIA/PACIFIC NATIONS	64
10.	APF	PENDIX III. MODEL SELECTION CRITERIA	65
11.	APF	PENDIX IV. SECTORAL IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE	68
	11.1	Coastal Communities	68
	11.2	2 Ecosystems and Biodiversity	70
	11.3	Infectious Disease and Heat-Related Mortality	71
	11.4	Water Resources	72
	11.5	o Agriculture	73
	11.6	Regional Economies	77
NOT	ES		78

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The 'Anthropocene Era'

The Earth currently finds itself in the midst of what some have termed the "Anthropocene Era" – a period during which human activities have become a dominate force affecting not only the planet's landscape, but also its atmosphere. Since the dawn of the industrial evolution of the mid-18th century, humans have contributed to substantial increases in the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Carbon dioxide has increased by 36%, methane by 17%, and nitrous oxide by 151%. These changes in the global atmosphere are directly linked to over two centuries of growth in the burning of fossil fuels by humans. The increase of these gases is warming the world. Temperatures have increased by approximately 0.8° C since 1880, the global sea-level is rising, and Earth is already committed to additional global warming and climate change in the years ahead.

How much warming is likely to occur over the next century? More importantly, how much can the Earth system tolerate before critical thresholds are crossed and widespread, abrupt and/or irreversible consequences affect the global climate, environment, and human societies? A number of international assessments point to a threshold for 'dangerous' climate change of approximately 2° C above pre-industrial temperatures. Given historical warming, the current commitment to future warming as well as future growth in greenhouse gas emissions, remaining below such a threshold will necessitate global greenhouse gas emissions reductions on the order of 30-55% below 1990 levels. Under proposed burden sharing schemes, reductions for developed nations would likely be significantly higher. This is one component of the climate challenge facing human society. The other component is how the global environment – its oceans, rivers, forests and biodiversity – and human society will cope with the consequences of climate change. The implications of climate change will very significantly from one region of the world to another, but as this report demonstrates, the Asia/Pacific region is likely to experience significant adverse consequences.

The Asia/Pacific Region in Context

The Asia/Pacific region encompasses some of the planet's greatest cultural, economic, and ecological diversity. Approximately 60% of the world's population resides in the region, in communities ranging from major urban centres to remote rural communities. The collective economic activity of the region represents roughly 25% of the global domestic product. Rapid growth in large regional economies such as China and India has elevated human prosperity. However, unless ultimately decoupled from fossil fuel use, such growth also threatens to exacerbate the climate challenge. Furthermore, many of the countries within the Asia/Pacific region are developing nations, still struggling to tap into the global economic market and with little climate footprint. This means low performance in development indicators such as economic diversification, literacy, per capita income, and access to basic food and water security. Meanwhile, ongoing environmental degradation is eroding the valuable goods and services of the region's natural ecosystems. To combat these disadvantages, significant development assistance flows into the Asia/Pacific region on an annual basis. Australia contributed over \$1 billion in aid to Asia/Pacific nations in 2004/05. These socioeconomic circumstances form the human and environmental context in which climate change and its consequences will be experienced.

The Changing Regional Climate

Climate modelling indicates temperature increases in the Asia/Pacific region on the order of 0.5–2°C by 2030 and 1–7°C by 2070. Temperatures are likely to warm more quickly in the arid areas of northern Pakistan and India and western China. In addition, models indicate increasing rainfall throughout much of the region in the decades ahead, including greater rainfall during the important summer monsoon. Yet the potential for changes in monsoon variability as well as for drying of monsoon rains from atmospheric aerosols leave the benefits of such rainfall changes in doubt. Furthermore, winter rainfall is projected to decline in South and Southeast Asia, suggesting increased aridity from the winter monsoon. The region will be affected by a rise in global sea level of approximately 3–16 cm by 2030 and 7–50 cm by 2070 in conjunction with regional sea level variability. Other modelling studies have also indicated the potential for more intense tropical cyclones and changes in important modes of climate variability such as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation.

Asia/Pacific Climate Vulnerability

Multiple factors indicate that the Asia/Pacific region possess a high degree of vulnerability to such climate changes. Many nations within the region already struggle to cope with the current climate variability to which they are exposed including tropical cyclones, rainfall extremes, frequent droughts, and extreme tides. The region is also highly sensitive to climate conditions. For example, widespread coral bleaching was observed in the Indian Ocean in response to anomalously warm conditions during the 1997/98 El Niño event, while cyclones, droughts and floods routinely affect thousands to tends of thousands of individuals each year, with costs measured in both dollars and lives. Meanwhile, the socioeconomic conditions in the region convey little in the way capacity to manage climate impacts.



Indicators of the vulnerability of several Asia/Pacific sectors to climate change. Individual estimates of climate change impacts are presented as a percentage of estimates that reflect losses from climate change, gains from climate change, or the potential for both gains and losses, depending upon study assumptions.

A review of 186 different regional and national estimates of the potential impacts of future climate change to various sectors within the Asia/Pacific region confirms that there is little room for optimism. At the regional scale, 62% of impact estimates indicated clear adverse consequences, and only 19% indicated clear benefits, with the remaining 20% suggesting the direction of impacts could lean either way. At the national scale, 58% of estimates indicated adverse effects, and only 14% indicated benefits. Furthermore, studies indicated that different sectors have different vulnerabilities to climate change.

- **Coastal Communities.** All of the studies, whether conducted at a regional or national level, indicated the region's coasts would experience climate damages in the decades ahead. These damages include coastal inundation and erosion from sea-level rise, the displacement of communities, increased coastal management and defence costs, and the potential for more intense tropical cyclones. Most at risk are the low-lying river deltas of Bangladesh, India, Vietnam, and China as well as the small island states.
- Ecosystems and Biodiversity. The natural ecosystems of the Asia/Pacific region will face increasing pressure from human activities and land use change. These factors will reduce the resilience of ecosystems to the effects of climate change. Coral reefs are likely to be damaged from increases in the frequency of bleaching events, while the region is likely to lose 1-13% of its mangrove wetlands with much larger proportional losses for some individual nations. Changes in the high altitude biomes of the Tibetan Plateau may see desert and steppe systems give way to forests and grasslands. However, existing grasslands of Arid Asia and the boreal forests of China are projected to decline, while wildfires and dieback may affect some tropical forests.
- **Disease and Heat-Related Mortality.** Changing patterns of temperature and rainfall will likely cause shifts in the distribution of dengue and malaria-carrying mosquitoes. On a local basis, disease risk will increase for some and decrease for others, but region-wide, the net effect is projected to expose millions of additional individuals to such infectious diseases by the end of the century. Higher temperatures may reduce the risk of cold-weather mortality, but increase heat-related mortality, while increased flooding and intensification of tropical cyclones would increase climate-related injuries and deaths.
- Water Resources. Managing water resources to ensure a secure supply to growing populations is already a major challenge in many areas of the Asia/Pacific region. Climate change is likely to further alter the availability of water resources, driven by seasonal reductions in rainfall and runoff in South and Southeast Asia and increases in runoff in other areas, particularly the Pacific Islands. Some river basins may benefit from increasing runoff. Nevertheless, on a regional basis, water stress is likely to affect millions of people throughout the region, and the costs for managing water resources will rise. Furthermore, to the extent that rainfall increases manifest as extreme events, flood risk is also likely to increase.
- Agriculture and Forestry. Studies indicate a high degree of spatial variability in the vulnerability of Asia/Pacific agriculture to climate change. Although increases in summer rainfall alone may benefit crop production and commercial forestry, particularly in South Asia, crop stress from rising temperatures may offset such benefits, particularly for rice yields. Furthermore, areas currently in water crisis, such as

northeast China and flood-prone river deltas of Bangladesh and Vietnam, are likely to experience significant land degradation and loss in a changing climate. For the least developed nations, such agriculture impacts may threaten not only food security, but also national economic productivity.

• **Regional Economies.** The net effect of climate change on regional and national economies is projected to be largely negative. Loss of agricultural revenue and additional costs for managing water resources, coastlines, and disease and other health risks will be a drag on economic activity. Given long-term, sustainable economic development and growth in per capita wealth, such economic impacts may comprise a declining portion of total economic welfare, and regional capacity to effectively manage climate risk is likely to rise. However, a number of Asia/Pacific nations currently have sluggish or stagnant economic growth that, in some instances, is projected to persist for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, even with growing regional prosperity, localised climate impacts, such as the collapse of a fishery or the inundation of core cropping land, could devastate local economies.

Existing challenges to human security in the Asia/Pacific region may be significantly exacerbated by the broad range of impacts that climate change may bring. Chronic food and water insecurity and epidemic disease may impede economic development in some nations, while degraded landscapes and inundation of populated areas by rising seas may ultimately displace millions of individuals forcing intra and inter-state migration. The implications of such challenges to human security are difficult to anticipate, but there is currently little awareness of the implications and regional management frameworks for addressing climate change-induced security and migration issues are lacking.

Reducing Climate Risk

Climate risk in the Asia/Pacific region may be ameliorated through two complementary strategies: greenhouse gas mitigation and adaptation. Mitigation will reduce the magnitude of climate change to which the region is exposed over the long-term, but will do little to address climate risk over the near-term, particularly in the least developed nations where climate vulnerability is substantial yet responsibility for global greenhouse gas emissions is quite small. Under the United Nations Framework Convention for Climate Change, the developed world has already agreed to take the lead in pursuance of greenhouse gas mitigation. Yet, as these efforts progress, investments must also be made in increasing the capacity of Asia/Pacific nations to adapt to climate change adaptation into development assistance that addresses developing world needs with respect to governance, education, health, technology, security, and disaster management.

Effective implementation of adaptation and capacity building projects is key to reducing future vulnerability of Asia/Pacific nations to climate change. This necessitates the development and maintenance of institutions and human capital that are knowledgeable regarding climate change and capable of effective decision-making, resource allocation, and risk management. At present, there are numerous examples of decision-making that will increase, rather than decrease, the future vulnerability of Asia/Pacific ecosystems and communities to climate change. Reigning in such behaviours and devising sustainable environmental management

practices that harmonise economic development and wealth generation with natural resource management and vulnerability reduction is a core regional challenge.

1. International Context

1.1 Introduction to Global Climate Change

Over the past few centuries, the rate at which human beings have altered the Earth system and the various ecosystems of which it is comprised has grown exponentially. Species extinctions, deforestation, urbanisation and other changes to the landscape, along with the release of toxic substances to sea, land, and air have all been associated with rapid increases in the global population and economic activity.¹ Within the past several decades, it has become clear that the progressive growth of the human influence on the planet is now affecting the climate system itself.² As the climate is a major factor determining not only the spatial distribution of the world's plants and animals, but also the enterprises of human beings such as agriculture and forestry, such climate change is likely to have significant global consequences.



Figure 1.1. The Greenhouse Effect³

The source of this climatic change lies in the historical dependence of human beings upon fossil fuels as the primary source of the energy driving global mobility and commerce. To date, human consumption of fossil fuels has grown in step with the global population and economy, and the unintentional side-effect of their combustion has been a significant change in the composition of the Earth's atmosphere. The atmosphere has multiple components, several of which are naturally-occurring gases referred to as 'greenhouse gases,' due to their ability to trap heat. The primary greenhouse gas is water vapour, but others such as carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), and nitrous oxide (N₂O), are also important. Energy from the sun passes through the atmosphere and warms the surface of the planet (Figure 1.1).³ While most of this heat is simply radiated back into space, some is trapped by greenhouse gases. This has a warming effect on the atmosphere and ultimately keeps the planet at an average annual

temperature of approximately 15° C. Without this process, the global average surface temperature would be closer to -18° C.

Centuries of human combustion of fossil fuels, along with land-clearing, have increased the flow of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere, increasing their concentration and subsequently magnifying the natural greenhouse effect. Carbon dioxide levels have increased by approximately 36% relative to their concentrations prior to the industrial revolution. At the end of 2005, the average atmospheric CO₂ concentration was 379 parts per million (ppm)⁴ – higher than at any point over at least the past 650,000 years.⁵ Meanwhile, other greenhouse gases such as N₂O and CH₄ have increased by 17% and 151%, respectively.⁶

The net effect of these changes to the atmosphere has been a warming of the planet. Since the mid-19th century, the average temperature at the Earth's surface has increased by approximately 0.8°C,⁷ and according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, a significant portion of this warming is attributed to human activities.² Such warming has also contributed to an acceleration in the rate of global sea-level rise.⁸ Additional warming is projected over the 21st century and beyond in response to continued emissions of greenhouse gases. In 2001, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change projected future increases in global mean temperature of 1.4–5.8°C by the year 2100, along with an increase in sea level of 9–88cm,² The actual magnitude of climate change that is ultimately realised will depend in large part upon future human emissions of greenhouse gases. Nevertheless, it is clear that humans, and the environment in which they live, are currently surrounded by a changing climate, and how we respond to this change over the next few decades will be central to achieving global economic and environmental sustainability.

1.2 International Perspectives on 'Dangerous' Climate Change

Are there limits to the rate and magnitude of climate change with which Earth's ecosystems and human enterprises can cope? This is a question that is central to international decision-making on climate change. Article II of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (1992), specifies the ultimate goal of international climate policy as follows:⁹

"The ultimate objective of this Convention and any related legal instruments that the Conference of the Parties may adopt is to achieve, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Convention, stabilisation of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system."

Since the *Third Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,² considerable attention has been devoted to identifying what magnitude of climate change comprises "dangerous anthropogenic interference" and, subsequently, assessing the risk of exceeding this temperature threshold under different scenarios of future growth in greenhouse gas emissions and/or efforts to reduce or mitigate those emissions.

Conducting such a risk assessment involves integrating estimates of the threshold for 'dangerous' climate change with the likelihood of different increases in future global temperatures. Various international estimates of the global threshold for 'dangerous' climate change were reviewed by Preston and Jones (2006).¹⁰ The international community appears to have arrived at a consensus estimate of approximately 1.5°C above 1990 temperatures or approximately 2°C above pre-industrial temperatures. This represents a threshold beyond which

there is a significant risk of damage or loss to unique or threatened systems (such as coral reefs), local to global economies, or large-scale and potentially irreversible changes in the climate system.¹¹

Meanwhile, a number of attempts have been made to estimate the likelihood of different magnitudes of global mean temperature change over the 21st century if the global economy and its greenhouse gas emissions continue along their current trajectories.^{12,13,14,15} These studies enable one to place the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change range (1.4-5.8°C) in some context and indicate that the likelihood of warming at either extreme of this range is relatively unlikely, relative to warming toward the middle of this range. What such studies also reveal, however, is that given 'business-as-usual' emissions, the likelihood of remaining below a 2°C threshold for average global temperature change is rather small (Figure 1.2). As a consequence, large-scale reductions in global greenhouse gas emissions on the order of 30-55% below 1990 levels are necessary over the 21st century if such a target is to be realised.^{16,17} In order to achieve such targets, several developed nations, including the United Kingdom and Sweden, have adopted greenhouse gas mitigation goals of reducing emissions by approximately 60% from current levels by 2050, as have the Australian state governments of South Australia and New South Wales.^{10,18,19} Such an emissions target was also recently recommended by the Australian Business Roundtable on Climate Change and the European Union's Environment Council.²⁰



Figure 1.2. Likelihood of exceeding a 2° increase in global mean temperature under different assumptions regarding the stabilisation of greenhouse gases.²¹

Achieving such a greenhouse gas concentration target is complicated by the inherent inertia of both the climate system as well as the global use of fossil fuels. For example, Hare and Meinshausen (2004) applied a simple climate model to estimate the commitment to warming.²¹ They concluded that if greenhouse gas and aerosol emissions were held at current levels, CO_2 concentrations would increase to 531 ppm by 2100 and 929 ppm by 2400. These concentrations carried warming in the range of 1.4–2.7°C above pre-industrial temperatures by 2100 and 2.5–6.1°C by 2400. These results highlight the fact that emissions will have to be reduced to limit warming to 2°C. In fact, according to Hare and Meinshausen's (2004) analysis, even immediately ceasing emissions altogether, temperatures would continue to increase by up to 1.2°C above pre-industrial levels by 2400. Thus, assuming a 2°C threshold for global mean

temperature change, the planet is already committed to covering half that distance without even considering the next century of population and economic growth, fossil fuel consumption, and greenhouse gas emissions.

What does the risk of 'dangerous' climate change at the global scale mean for individual nations or local communities and ecosystems? What constitutes 'dangerous' climate change for East Timor may be quite different from the Solomon Islands or a community in Bangladesh. Some areas already struggle to cope with existing climate variability, while others may have already taken advantage of the lessons learned in dealing with climate variability of the past and largely 'climate proofed' their communities, thereby buying greater coping capacity and resilience to future climate change. To understand future climate changes and impacts in the Asia/Pacific region, one must appreciate its socioeconomic, climatological, and environmental diversity.



Figure 1.3. Geographic extent of the Asia/Pacific region and various subregions as used in this report. The review of climate change impacts primarily addresses those nations coloured black.

2. Regional Context

2.1 Economic Status and Trends of Asia/Pacific Nations

The Asia/Pacific region encompasses some of the planet's greatest cultural, economic, and ecological diversity. The region spans the eastern Indian to southwestern Pacific oceans including the Bay of Bengal and the South China, Philippine, and Coral Seas (Figure 1.3).²² Approximately 60% of the world's population resides in the region, in communities ranging from major urban centres with 15+ million individuals to remote rural communities. The collective economic activity of the region represents roughly 25% of the global domestic product. In includes mature economic hubs such as Singapore, which are international

waypoints and centres for commerce, as well as the native cultures of the Indian islands of Andaman and Nicobar, where small fragile communities live largely in isolation from the rest of the world and continue to engage in traditional subsistence and cultural practices.²³ The region's ecosystems are unique and represent several of Earth's major biodiversity hotspots, including the lowland rainforests of the Indo-Malayan archipelago and the mangroves and wetlands of Papua New Guinea, the Solomon Islands, and Vanuatu.²⁴

Table 2.1. Vital Statistics for Selected Asia/Pacific Nations ^a								
Nation	Pop. Growth Rate	GDP Per Capita ^b	Agriculture as a share of GDP	Pop. Access to Safe Water	Adult Literacy	P/capita CO ₂ Emissions _(tons)		
Australia	1.1%	\$23,249	3.5%	100%	-	17.3		
Singapore	1.5%	\$18,707	0.1%	100%	92.5%	13.1		
Bangladesh	1.9%	\$399	22.7%	75%	40.6%	0.2		
China	0.6%	\$799	15.4%	77%	82.8%	2.7		
India	1.6%	\$543	22.7%	86%	58.0%	1.0		
Papua New Guinea	2.1%	\$971	26.9%	29%	64.6%	0.5		
Vanuatu	2.0%	\$1,151	15.1%	60%	-	0.4		
Vietnam	1.4%	\$171	23.0%	73%	92.7%	0.7		

Although the region has a profound economic, cultural, and environmental influence on the global community, much of the countries within the Asia/Pacific region are developing nations still in transition to mature market economies. This is readily demonstrated by comparing some vital statistics of Australia or a regional economic centre such as Singapore with those of the region's less developed nations (Table 2.1). Singapore, for example, is almost exclusively an urban nation devoted to an industrial and service economy. It has a high per capita gross domestic product (GDP), high rates of education and literacy among its population, and access to secure resources such as drinking water. In contrast, other Asia/Pacific nations, including Singapore's neighbours, have per capita GDPs an order of magnitude lower than that of Singapore, lower literacy rates, and lower access to safe water.

These problems are often exacerbated by rapid rates of population growth that continually challenge government institutions to provide sufficient services to the public. The consequence is a lack of confidence among individuals in government and lack of resilience among populations and institutions in response to disturbance or disaster. For example, AusAid's *Pacfic 2020* report identified the Pacific Islands as performing poorly relative to the generally

^a For vital statistics for additional Asia/Pacific nations, see Section 8.

^b In 1990 US\$

high rates of economic growth found across the region.²⁵ These challenges spill over to the environment. Developing nations of the Asia/Pacific region have high rates of environmental degradation from unsustainable resource extraction and use as individuals, communities, and enterprises seek the most immediately available opportunities to achieve economic needs and aspirations. This is perhaps best demonstrated by examining the region's progress toward the United Nations' Millennium Development Goals, which reveal that while progress is being made in other areas, environmental sustainability is perhaps the most recalcitrant problem in the region.²⁶



Figure 2.1. Global distribution of Australian development assistance.²⁴

To combat these disadvantages, significant development assistance flows into the Asia/Pacific region on an annual basis. The majority of Australia's global distribution of development assistance, for example, is concentrated in the Asia/Pacific region (Figure 2.1)²⁷ – the top ten recipients of Australian assistance during 2004/05 collectively received approximately \$1.2 billion (Table 2.2–see also Section 9). This assistance has historically targeted the areas of health, education, governance, and infrastructure, but additional assistance has been provided recently to address disaster relief from the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami.27 As of 2003/04, Australia's investment in development assistance had increased by 35% relative to 1971/72.²⁸ However, the average annual increase in foreign assistance has only been 1.1% - lower than the average rate of economic growth. As a consequence, the proportion of aid relative to Australian gross national income has declined over the past 30 years from 0.48% to 0.25%.

The outlook for economic development across the Asia/Pacific region varies considerably. During the late 1990s, China and India, the region's largest economies, had annual rates of economic growth of approximately 8% and 6%, respectively (Section 8). Such rapid rates of growth are projected to continue in the decades ahead as these nations comprise a greater fraction of global economic activity, which, as an indirect consequence, will result in a greater contribution from these and other nations in the region to global greenhouse gas emissions, and

thus the climate change challenge. A number of other Asia/Pacific nations such as Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam also posted healthy rates of economic growth in 2005 of 5-8%.²⁹

Table 2.2. Top-Ten Recipients of Australian Foreign Aid (2004/05) ²⁷							
Nation	Assistance (millions AUS\$)	Nation	Assistance (millions AUS\$)				
1) Papua New Guinea	\$366.6	6) Philippines	\$62.5				
2) Indonesia	\$270.3	7) China	\$49.8				
3) Solomon Islands	\$171.5	8) Sri Lanka	\$39.8				
4) Vietnam	\$74.4	9) Cambodia	\$38.2				
5) East Timor	\$64.2	10) Bangladesh	\$32.9				

In contrast, the outlook for other nations in the region, at least economically, is not so optimistic. AusAid's *Pacfic 2020* report warned, for example, that the Pacific Islands will not be able to address current and future challenges without sustained economic growth.³⁰ Furthermore, although such growth is possible, it remains to be seen whether such growth will occur or whether economies will continue to struggle and stagnate. Some of the key factors inhibiting growth in the Pacific Islands include:

- Weak Governance
- Poor and degraded infrastructure
- Limited cooperation politically and economically among nations

• Poor implementation of measures and policies to address soil and economic concerns

It is important to note that these socioeconomic circumstances establish the context in which climate change and its impacts will be experienced by nations and communities in the Asia/Pacific region. Yet this context can shift considerably in coming decades in response to changes in economic condition and governance. To the extent that positive trends persist and negative trends are reversed, the region's future vulnerability to climate change may be significantly reduced (see Section 5).

The outlook for economic development across the Asia/Pacific region varies considerably. During the late 1990s, China and India, the region's largest economies, had annual rates of economic growth of approximately 8% and 6%, respectively (Section 8). Such rapid rates of growth are projected to continue in the decades ahead as these nations comprise a greater fraction of global economic activity, which, as an indirect consequence, will result in a greater contribution from these and other nations in the region to global greenhouse gas emissions, and thus the climate change challenge. A number of other Asia/Pacific nations such as Indonesia,

Malaysia, the Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam also posted healthy rates of economic growth in 2005 of 5-8%.³¹

In contrast, the outlook for other nations in the region, at least economically, is not so optimistic. AusAid's *Pacfic 2020* report warned, for example, that the Pacific Islands will not be able to address current and future challenges without sustained economic growth.³² Furthermore, although such growth is possible, it remains to be seen whether such growth will occur or whether economies will continue to struggle and stagnate. Some of the key factors inhibiting growth in the Pacific Islands include:

- Weak Governance
- Poor and degraded infrastructure
- Limited cooperation politically and economically among nations
- Poor implementation of measures and policies to address soil and economic concerns

It is important to note that these socioeconomic circumstances establish the context in which climate change and its impacts will be experienced by nations and communities in the Asia/Pacific region. Yet this context can shift considerably in coming decades in response to changes in economic condition and governance. To the extent that positive trends persist and negative trends are reversed, the region's future vulnerability to climate change may be significantly reduced (see Section 5).

2.2 Asia/Pacific Climate and Trends

A broad range of climatological and geographic features exist within the Asia/Pacific region, from temperate areas with marked temperature differences from one season to another, to tropical areas with temperatures that are consistently relatively high throughout the year (Figure 2.2). For example for a nation such as China, which extends north of 30°N latitude, January temperatures may be at or below freezing, particularly in the high altitude areas around the Himalayas.³³ In contrast, the tropical areas south of 30°N, such as the Indian subcontinent, Southeast Asia, Indonesia, and the Pacific Islands, generally experience temperatures above 25°C throughout the year.

Similarly, there is significant spatial variability in seasonal precipitation (Figure 2.3). Regional rainfall, and subsequently temperature, are strongly influenced by the summer and winter monsoons. The summer monsoon (consisting of the Southwest Asian Monsoon and the East Asia Monsoon) influences the climate of this region from May to September and brings rains to South and Southeast Asia and east China. The northeast winter monsoon controls the climate from December to February and is characterised by dry winds out of the northeast which bring significant rainfall to parts of Southeast Asia, but leave much of South Asia dry, particularly central and northern India. The two inter-monsoon or transitional seasons comprise March to April and October to November. Strong inter-annual and intra-seasonal variations in climate of this region are caused by large and synoptic scale circulation patterns. Year-to-year monsoon variability and rainfall is strongly related to the El Niño-Southern Oscillation.³⁴ In general, below normal rainfall coincides with El Niño events, while above normal rainfall is associated with La Niña events.



Figure 2.2. Average seasonal temperatures across the Asia/Pacific region (1961-1990).²⁴

During the first six months of the year (January to May), continental Asia experiences moderate rainfall of less than 50 mm/month, whereas the equatorial areas further to the south receive intense rainfall of several hundred mm/month.³⁵ In contrast, during the latter half of the year, the precipitation band shifts north, bringing monsoon rains to South Asia, Southeast Asia, and southeast China. Some areas, such as northeast and western China as well as much of Pakistan receive relatively low precipitation throughout the year and tend to be more arid. These patterns of temperature and precipitation dictate not only the biological and ecological diversity throughout the region, but also the availability of natural resources such as water, and subsequently, the timing and productivity of agriculture.

For further detail on different areas, the region can be divided into four broad subregions, Arid and Semi-Arid Asia, Temperate Asia, North Tropical Asia and South Tropical Asia:³⁶ Each of these regions has its own distinctive climatological and ecological features that set the context for future climate change and impacts. Furthermore, future changes in climate will likely influence these four regions in different ways.

Generally, the Asia/Pacific region has experienced a warming trend in recent decades consistent with global temperature trends.³⁷ Trends in rainfall are more difficult to interpret, with some subregions experiencing declining rainfall, while others have experienced increases. For example, annual average rainfall has declined in the coastal margins and arid plains of Pakistan, the east coast of India, and in Indonesia.³⁷ Yet rainfall has increased in western and southeast coastal China, Bangladesh, and the Philippines.³⁷ In addition to such trends in average temperature and rainfall, there is some evidence that patterns of extreme weather in the Asia/Pacific region changed over the 20th century.³⁸ For example, significant changes in the

frequency and intensity of tropical cyclones have been reported.³⁹ While the number of cyclones and the number of cyclone days have fallen, the intensity of cyclones in the region has increased over the past 35 years in association with increases in sea surface temperatures. A recent paper by Landsea et al. (2006) suggests this trend may be largely due to of inaccurate estimates of historical cyclone intensities rather than climate change.⁴⁰ However, global increases in ocean temperatures have been linked to human greenhouse gas emissions.⁴¹



Figure 2.3 Average seasonal precipitation across the Asia/Pacific region (1979-1995)²⁵

2.2.1 Arid and Semi-Arid Asia

Arid and Semi-Arid Asia is comprised of the northern extent of India and Pakistan as well as western China, and the landscape is represented by tropical savannah vegetation, grasslands, and desert. This subregion has a tropical climate with hot summers that can be either warm or wet. Rainfall is limited and can be highly variable during the year, with significant rainfall in some areas occurring in only a few months. This subregion has experienced warming over the 20th century. For example, Central Asia warmed by approximately 0.1–0.2°C per decade,⁴² suggesting warming of 1–2°C over the past 100 years. Meanwhile, rainfall has increased by 22–33% in northwest China and most observing stations in Pakistan also record increases in rainfall.^{43,44}

The subregion, particularly central Asia, is well-known for extremes of climate. Extreme temperatures occur in western arid lands during summer. In addition, localised storms are a frequent occurrence, and cyclones occasionally affect the region between January and March. However, these cyclones deliver little precipitation to the region because of its aridity. The frequency and severity of wildfires in grasslands and rangelands in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia have increased in recent decades.⁴⁵ Water resources and human settlements have been affected

by increased melting of glaciers that appears to have increased the frequency of mudflows and avalanches. $^{\rm 46}$

2.2.2 Temperate Asia

Temperate Asia is comprised of the Tibetan Plateau, eastern China, and the Korean Peninsula. The landscape has been significantly altered due to centuries of deforestation and agriculture. Temperatures in northeast China over the 20th century increased in winter but decreased in summer, while southeast China warmed by 1–2°C. ^{47,48} Higher rates of warming (0.16–0.32°C per decade) have been observed on the Tibetan Plateau.⁴⁹ Rainfall in temperate Asia is strongly influenced by the East Asian Monsoon, providing a large fraction of annual rainfall during the summer wet season.³⁷ Warm years tend to be associated with stronger monsoons and higher rainfall, while cooler years tend to be associated with drier conditions.⁵⁰ Nevertheless, in China, annual precipitation has been decreasing continuously since 1965,⁵¹ although increases have been observed on the Korean Peninsula.⁵⁴

Countries in temperate Asia have been frequented by many droughts in the 20th century, including major droughts in China in 1972, 1978, and 1997.³⁷ Severe flooding has also affected China, Korea, and Japan in recent years.^{37,55} The occurrence of severe droughts and floods in temperate Asia also appears to be associated with the status of the El Niño-Southern Oscillation.³⁷

2.2.3 Tropical Asia

Tropical Asia/Pacific can be divided into two subregions: North Tropical Asia is comprised of central and southern India, Sri Lanka, Bhutan, Bangladesh, and Southeast Asia (e.g., Myanmar, Vietnam, Laos, Cambodia, and Thailand); while South Tropical Asia consists of the island nations of the equatorial Indian Ocean (Maldives); western Pacific Ocean (Philippines, Malaysia, Papua New Guinea); the Maritime Continent (Indonesia, East Timor); and the islands of the southwest Pacific (Cook Islands, Solomon Islands, Fiji, Vanuatu, Tuvalu). These subregions are geographically diverse and contain a number of hotspots for terrestrial and marine biodiversity. Although the economies within these subregions are based largely upon rural agricultural systems, the region also contains some of the world's largest, and most densely, populated cities.

For nations near the Equator, seasonal variability in temperature is small and increases as one moves toward higher latitudes. The dominating climatic feature in the region is the summer Southwest Asian Monsoon, which influences the climatology of the nations within the subregion to varying degrees and in diverse ways.³⁷ Observations indicate temperatures are increasing throughout much of the subregion. For example, warming in Vietnam of 0.32°C has been observed over the past three decades, consistent with other observations in Southeast Asia.³⁷ Meanwhile, temperatures in Sri Lanka and tropical India have increased by approximately 0.30°C and 0.68°C, respectively,^{56,57} while coastal Pakistan warmed by 0.6–1.0°C over the 20th century.⁵⁸ There has been no consistent trend in rainfall throughout the North Tropical Asia subregion. For example, while northwest India has experienced increased extreme rainfall events, there are no clear signals of a long-term trend in annual rainfall.⁵⁹ In fact, the number of rain days along the east coast has declined in recent years.⁵⁸ A declining trend in annual rainfall has been observed in Thailand.⁶⁰ Elsewhere, including Sri Lanka and Bangladesh, there is little

long-term trend, but rainfall is dominated by sequences of prolonged high rainfall years followed by low rainfall years.³⁷ Records also indicate that rainfall has decreased in the southwest Pacific.³⁷

Tropical Asia is routinely affected by climate extremes, particularly floods, droughts, and cyclones. The number of reported disasters has increased steadily over the past 50 years, as has the number of affected individuals.⁶¹ Vast areas of some Tropical Asia nations are prone to flooding including 3.1 million hectares of Bangladesh and 40 million hectares of India.⁶² There are also reports of an increase in thunderstorms over the land regions of North Tropical Asia.⁶³ Yet in any given year, parts of Bangladesh and extensive areas of India are also prone to drought.⁶⁴ Monsoon failure and drought events in Tropical Asia appear to be associated with variability in the El Niño-Southern Oscillation, with drought more common in El Niño years.⁶⁵ Historical tide gauge data from small island states also reveal significant tidal variations associated with El Niño years.³⁷

2.3 Regional Climate Vulnerability

What do the current socioeconomic statuses and climatological features found within the Asia/Pacific region suggest regarding vulnerability to climate change? The 2005 Australian Greenhouse Office report, *Climate Change Risk and Vulnerability*, outlined a conceptual model that defined vulnerability as a process integrating *exposure*, *sensitivity*, *potential impact*, and *adaptive capacity*.⁶⁶ This model implies that building a comprehensive understanding of climate change vulnerability requires considering the climatic drivers to which human and natural systems are exposed, the responsiveness of those systems to those drivers (i.e., the extent to which systems change with the climate), and the capacity of the system to adapt to climate change to reduce the likelihood of adverse consequences



Figure 2.4. Components of climate change vulnerability⁶⁶

If one considers the Asia/Pacific region in this context, it is possible to identify some of the key aspects of the region's exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity that contribute to its net vulnerability to climate change:

1) **Exposure** – The Asia/Pacific region is exposed to a range of climate conditions and extreme events. In particular, some of the dominate features of the region's climate are

the influences of monsoons, the El Niño-Southern Oscillation, and cyclones on rainfall. Much of the region is adapted to, and thus dependent upon, the annual monsoon occurrence,⁴² which leaves it vulnerable when the monsoon fails and rainfall is significantly curtailed. Meanwhile, variability associated with the El Niño-Southern Oscillation, and particularly El Niño events, contributes to periodic drought and extreme sea levels in the southwest Pacific. Finally, much of coastal Asia/Pacific is affected by tropical cyclones and their associated high winds, storm surge, and extreme rainfall. These climate challenges are permanent features of the Asia/Pacific region, but ones that may be significantly altered by anthropogenic climate change in the decades ahead.

2) Sensitivity – In addition to being exposed to various climate hazards, the vulnerability of the Asia/Pacific region is also affected by the sensitivity of different nations and sectors to these hazards when they occur. For example, with much of their subsistence and economic power dependent upon agriculture, the potential for widespread adverse impacts is enhanced in developing nations. Similarly, the development of existing water resources in many developing nations is limited as is, subsequently, access to safe drinking water and sanitation. In the event of drought or flood, the ability to safely and efficiently manage water storage, diversion, and delivery may be easily compromised. Settlements and infrastructure in developing Asia/Pacific tend to be more susceptible to the effects of climate extremes and more likely to be damaged. Low-lying coastal areas, including small island states, tend to be more sensitive to the effects of sea-level rise and storm surge and thus have potentially more to lose from climate change than land-locked nations. Statistics indicate that extreme events in the region are associated with significant financial losses as well as the loss of lives (Table 2.3), and disasters in the region have increased in recent decades.⁶¹

2001)				
Event	Number	Fatalities	Population Affected	Losses (millions 2004 US\$)
Windstorms	157	1,380	2,496,808	5,903.90
Droughts	10	0	629,580	137.00
Floods	8	40	246,644	94.80
Earthquakes	17	53	22,254	330.60
Others	15	274	21,520+	60.00

 Table 2.3. Reported Natural Disasters in the Pacific Islands (1950-2004)⁶¹

3) Adaptive Capacity – The Asia/Pacific region's exposure and sensitivity to climate variability and climate change creates a large potential for adverse climate impacts, a fact that is readily evident from the toll that climate events take on the region at present. But in understanding the current and future vulnerability of the region to climate change, one must also give consideration to the capacity of its nations to adapt to climate change (see also Section 5). The aforementioned discussion of the socioeconomic state of affairs in the region provides room for both optimism and pessimism regarding adaptive capacity. On one hand, rapid structural change and growth in some national economies, such as China and India, suggests reduced future sensitivity to climate change, and the ability to leverage resources to reduce risk. On the other hand, some economies are currently stagnating and some nations, such as small island states, have limited options available to adapt in situ. Furthermore, continued rapid exploitation and degradation of natural resources and capital due to rapid urbanisation and economic development in a number of nations further reduces the resilience of some nations to climate variability and change. Rather than mustering the resources to successfully address climate change impacts, some nations may find the changing climate to actually be a barrier to achieving a more prosperous future.

The net result is a region that is currently, on average, quite vulnerable to the effects of climate change, although vulnerabilities may vary significantly from one nation, or even one community, to another. Thus, the decisions made by nations in the region in the decades ahead, and their ability to access resources to plan for a changing climate, are likely to be critical issues affecting their response to climate change over the next century.

3. Climate Projections for the Asia/Pacific Region

3.1 Global Climate Model Selection

A new set of climate projections was developed for the Asia/Pacific region to provide up-to-date information regarding the spatial distribution and extent of future changes in regional temperature and rainfall. Climate models are the best available tools to simulate climate processes and their related spatial and temporal variations of temperature and rainfall. However, climate models divide the world into individual grid cells, which may be rather lage (e.g., about 200 400 km across). Therefore, small-scale meteorological phenomena, such as individual clouds or thunderstorms, are not adequately simulated. In addition, it should be noted that different climate model patterns produce different projections of both global and regional climate change, and thus multiple models must be utilised to assess the uncertainty associated with projections of future climate.

Table 3.1. Models Used for Generating Asia/Pacific Climate Scenarios						
Climate Modelling Group and Nation	Model Symbols	Horizontal resolution (km)				
Bjerknes Centre for Climate Research, Norway	BCCR	~200				
Canadian Climate Centre, Canada	CCMA T47	~300				
Canadian Climate Centre, Canada	CCMA T63	~200				
Meteo-France, France	CNRM	~200				
CSIRO, Australia	CSIRO-MARK3	~200				
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Lab, USA	GFDL 2.0	~300				
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Lab, USA	GFDL 2.1	~300				
NASA/Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA	GISS-AOM	~300				
LASG/Institute of Atmospheric Physics. China	IAP	~300				
Institute of Numerical Mathematics, Russia	INMCM	~400				
Centre for Climate Research, Japan	MIROC-M	~300				
Meteorological Research Institute, Japan	MRI	~300				
Max Planck Institute for meteorology DKRZ, Germany	MPI-ECHAM5	~200				
Meteorological Institute of the University of Bonn, Meteorological Research Institute of KMA, Germany/Korea	MIUB	~400				
National Center for Atmospheric Research, USA	NCAR-CCSM	~150				
Hadley Centre, UK	HADGEM1	~125				

Simulations with 23 different climate models have been undertaken for the *Fourth Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. These model simulations were acquired from the Program for Climate Model Diagnosis and Intercomparison and used to generate climate change projections for the Asia/Pacific region.⁶⁷ A prerequisite for the inclusion of a model in climate projections is that it adequately simulates present-day climate

conditions. Therefore, statistical methods were used to test the fidelity with which individual models simulate observed climate conditions over the Asia/Pacific region. Results from these validation tests are discussed in Section 10. Based upon these tests, a set of 16 climate models were selected for use in generating climate projections for the Asia/Pacific region (Table 3.1).

3.2 Generation of Climate Change Projections

Climate change projections are often based on time-slices within a given climate simulation, such as a thirty year period centered on 2020, or 2050 or 2080. A disadvantage with this approach is that large portions of the simulation are not used and the chosen intervals are strongly affected by decadal variability, particularly for rainfall. An alternative that avoids this disadvantage is to calculate the rate at which local (i.e., individual grid cell) average seasonal temperature or rainfall changes with increases in average global temperature over multiple decades. The grid cell values can then be mapped to obtain a spatial pattern of model response per degree of global warming. These patterns can then be multiplied by estimates of global warming for any desired year. This 'pattern scaling' method has been used by CSIRO since 2001 and is considered robust.^{68,69}

Pattern scaling techniques were therefore used to develop annual and seasonal 'patterns of change' per degree of global warming for each of the 16 climate models listed in Table 3.1 at a common resolution of 4 decimal degrees (approximately 400 km) per grid cell. Estimates of global warming in 2030 or 2070 were then applied to these patterns to obtain projections of temperature or rainfall change. Estimates of global warming were based upon climate modelling from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's *Third Assessment Report.*² For both 2030 and 2070, low, central, and high estimates of global warming were applied to climate model patterns.⁷⁰ These global temperature changes were 0.54, 0.85, and 1.24°C in 2030 and 1.17, 2.28, and 3.77°C in 2070.⁷¹ It should be noted that additional global warming is projected beyond 2070.

Combining the various estimates for global mean temperature change with the different per degree climate model patterns resulted in a series of regional maps depicting the spatial patterns of projected changes in temperature and rainfall over the Asia/Pacific region in 2030 and 2070 that reflect different assumptions about future greenhouse gas emissions, climate sensitivity, and regional climate responses. These maps formed the basis of the climate projections provided below. In addition, projections were averaged over the four subregions discussed in Section 0 to generate summary tables highlighting some of the geographic differences in projected climate changes for the Asia/Pacific region.

Table 3.2. Projected temperature changes for Asia/Pacific subregions ^c							
			2030 (°C)				
Subregion	Annual	DJF	МАМ	JJA	SON		
Arid and Semi- Arid Asia	1.2 (0.6–2.3)	1.3 (0.6–2.7)	1.2 (0.5–2.4)	1.2 (0.5–2.3)	1.2 (0.6–2.2)		
Temperate Asia	0.9 (0.4–1.9)	1.0 (0.4–2.5)	0.8 (0.3–1.3)	0.8 (0.4–1.7)	0.9 (0.4–1.8)		
North Tropical Asia	0.8 (0.4–1.3)	0.8 (0.4–1.4)	0.8 (0.4–1.4)	0.8 (0.4–1.4)	0.8 (0.4–1.3)		
South Tropical Asia	0.8 (0.4–1.3)	0.8 (0.4–1.3)	0.8 (0.4–1.4)	0.8 (0.4–1.3)	0.8 (0.4–1.3)		
	2070 (℃)						
Arid and Semi- Arid Asia	3.2 (1.3–7.1)	3.4 (1.3–8.3)	3.2 (1.0–7.3)	3.1(1.1–7.1)	3.1 (1.2–6.8)		
Temperate Asia	2.4 (0.9–5.7)	2.8 (0.9–7.7)	2.3 (0.8–5.5)	2.2(0.8–5.3)	2.4 (0.9–5.6)		
North Tropical Asia	2.1 (0.9–4.0)	2.1(0.8–4.1)	2.1 (0.9–4.2)	2.0(0.8-4.1)	2.0 (0.8–4.0)		
South Tropical Asia	2.1 (0.9–4.0)	2.0 (0.9–4.1)	2.1(0.9–4.2)	2.1(0.8–4.1)	2.1(0.8–4.1)		

3.3 Projected Asia/Pacific Temperature Changes

Based upon the analysis of results from different climate models, temperatures throughout the Asia/Pacific region are projected to increase over the 21^{st} century (Figure 3.1; Table 3.2). Generally, climate models indicate higher rates of warming for central Asia, particularly the Arid and Semi-Arid areas of western China, with a central estimate of annual temperature change by 2030 and 2070 of 1.2 and 3.2°C, respectively. However, there is considerable uncertainty in these changes, with low and high warming scenarios for 2030 and 2070 ranging from 0.6–2.3°C and 1.3–7.1°C, respectively. More moderate warming is projected for the other three subregions, with central estimates of warming of just under 1°C by 2030 and just over 2.0°C by 2070. Meanwhile, low and high scenarios of warming for the other subregions range from approximately 0.5°C to 2.0°C by 2030 and 1.0 to 6.0°C by 2070.

Projected warming in individual seasons is generally consistent with annual averages (Figure 3.1; Table 3.2). However, in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia as well as Temperate Asia, higher rates of warming are projected in the northern hemisphere winter (DJF) than the other seasons. In contrast, the tropical subregions, which lie closer to the equator, are projected to have fairly uniform warming throughout the year.

^c Annual refers to average annual temperatures. DJF refers to average temperatures over December, January, and February; while MAM refers to temperatures from March to May; JJA from June to August, and SON from September to November.



Figure 3.1. Projections of annual and seasonal temperature increases in the Asia/Pacific region in 2030 and 2070 relative to 1990. A) Minimum temperature changes from the 16 climate models given a low global warming scenario; B) Central temperature changes given a central global warming scenario; and C) Maximum temperature changes given a high global warming scenario.^d

3.4 Projected Asia/Pacific Rainfall Changes

Climate change is also projected to cause significant changes in rainfall throughout the Asia/Pacific region over the next century (Figure 3.2b; Table 3.2). However, as a general rule, there is more uncertainty regarding the direction and magnitude of future rainfall changes as different climate models yield different results. A central estimate of rainfall changes in 2030 and 2070 from the different climate models suggests annual increases in rainfall of less than

^d Annual refers to average annual temperatures. DJF refers to average temperatures over December, January, and February; while MAM refers to temperatures from March to May; JJA from June to August, and SON from September to November.

10% throughout much of the Asia/Pacific region. This is generally consistent with the expectation of a more vigorous hydrologic cycle as a result of atmospheric warming.² However, reductions in rainfall of less than 10% are projected over Pakistan and parts of Indonesia over the next 30 years.

The projected changes in rainfall vary significantly from one region to another. A central estimate indicates reductions in winter (DJF) rainfall of less than 10% by 2030 for southern Asia, extending from Pakistan across India, Southeast Asia, and southeast China. These reductions in rainfall increase to approximately 20-30% in southern India and Southeast Asia by 2070, and generally suggest increased winter aridity associated with the northeast winter (DJF) monsoon (Box 3.1). This pattern of rainfall reductions persists through spring (MAM). In contrast, patterns of rainfall change in summer (JJA) and fall (SON) resemble the annual pattern, with increasing rainfall throughout much of the region, consistent with increased rainfall from the summer monsoon (Box 3.1). The exceptions to this pattern include west Arid and Semi-Arid Asia, east Temperate Asia, and Indonesia.

Table 3.3. Projected Rainfall Changes for Asia/Pacific Subregions							
		2030 (%)					
Subregion	Annual	DJF	MAM	JJA	SON		
Arid and Semi-Arid Asia	+2	+5	+2	0	+4		
Temperate Asia	+1	+2	+1	+2	+1		
North Tropical Asia	+2	-1	0	+3	+2		
South Tropical Asia	+1	+2	+2	+1	0		
	2070 (%)						
Temperate Asia	+7	+13	+5	+1	+10		
North Tropical Asia	+4	+6	+4	+6	+2		
South Tropical Asia	+4	-3	-1	+7	+6		
Arid and Semi-Arid Asia	+4	+4	+5	+2	0		

These central estimates of future rainfall changes do not necessarily reflect the uncertainty associated with different climate models or assumptions about greenhouse gases. Future global warming may be higher or lower than central estimates (see Section 3.2), and even for a given estimate of global warming, projected rainfall patterns among different climate models vary significantly. As a result, two tests were conducted on projected rainfall in an attempt to identify where different climate models agree about the direction of rainfall change (i.e., positive or negative) in different areas of the Asia/Pacific region as well as the likelihood of 'large' changes, such as an increase or decrease greater than 10%.

First, model agreement in the direction of rainfall changes across the Asia/Pacific region was assessed by calculating the percentage of model simulations that yield increases in rainfall in response to low, central, or high estimates of global warming. Values of 0% indicate *none* of the simulations project increasing rainfall for a given area (or alternatively, all of the models project decreases in rainfall); while values of 100% mean *all* of the simulations project increases in rainfall (or alternatively, none of the models project decreases). Values between 40 and 60% suggest there is little agreement among models regarding the direction of change for a given area. The results from this analysis indicate that different climate models agree regarding increasing rainfall throughout North and South Tropical Asia (Figure 3.2b). There is also high

^e Annual refers to average annual temperatures. DJF refers to average temperatures over December, January, and February; while MAM refers to temperatures from March to May; JJA from June to August, and SON from September to November.

model agreement regarding reductions in rainfall throughout the year in the west South Tropical Asia. Similarly, models agree regarding reductions in rainfall in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia and South and Southeast Asia from December through May; and high model agreement regarding reductions in rainfall over parts of Indonesia from June through November.



Figure 3.2. Projections of annual and seasonal rainfall changes in the Asia/Pacific region in 2030 and 2070. In all figures, brown colours indicate decreasing rainfall while blue colours indicate increasing rainfall. A) central rainfall changes (as a percentage change from 1990 rainfall) from the 16 climate models given a central global warming scenario; B) Percentage of the 16 climate models projecting increases in rainfall in 2030 and 2070 in response to low, medium, and high global warming scenarios. Values greater than 60% indicate the majority of models project increases in rainfall while values less than 40% indicate the majority of models project than $\pm 10\%$ in response to low, central, and high global warming scenarios. Blue colours indicate the proportion of models that agree regarding rainfall increases greater than 10%. Unshaded areas are those where less than 50% of model simulations indicate rainfall changes greater than $\pm 10\%$.

^f Annual refers to average annual temperatures. DJF refers to average temperatures over December, January, and February; while MAM refers to temperatures from March to May; JJA from June to August, and SON from September to November.

The aforementioned analysis provides information regarding where models agree about the *direction* of rainfall change, but not necessarily the *magnitude*. Therefore a second test was conducted by calculating the percentage of model simulations that yield increases or decreases in rainfall greater than 10% in response to low, central, or high estimates of global warming in 2030 and 2070. Values of 50, 70, or 90% indicate an increasingly higher proportion, respectively, of model simulations agree regarding rainfall changes greater than $\pm 10\%$ in a given area.

This analysis indicates that there are few areas within the Asia/Pacific region where large changes (i.e., changes of \pm 10%) in rainfall can be projected with confidence (i.e., greater than 50/50 chance), particularly by 2030 (Figure 3.2c). On an annual basis, the only areas where rainfall increases greater than 10% are projected by 2030 and 2070 are the Pacific Islands east of Papua New Guinea (e.g., Solomon Islands, Kiribati, and Tuvalu) and, by 2070, a small area in central China. However, for individual seasons, there are strong signals of large changes in rainfall, particularly in winter (DJF). By 2070, most of the models agree regarding winter (DJF) rainfall decreases greater than 10% in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia, South Asia, and Southeast Asia. In spring (MAM), models agree regarding large rainfall increases in northern and central China and the Pacific Islands, and large rainfall decreases in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia (e.g., Pakistan). In summer (JJA), models agree regarding large increases in rainfall in the Pacific Islands and large declines in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia. In fall (SON), models agree regarding large increases in rainfall in central China, northwest India, and the Arabian Sea.

Box 3.1. Climate Change and the Asian Monsoons

The climate, and subsequently agricultural productivity and water resources, of South and Southeast Asia are strongly influenced by summer and winter monsoons, which are responsible for bringing significant rainfall to India, Southeast Asia, and east China during the wet seasons from approximately May through September and December to February. Crop plantings and yields are closely related to the onset of the summer monsoon and the magnitude of monsoon rains. Monsoon failures have been associated with drought and food shortages, although improvements in drought management and technology have been increasingly effective in preventing widespread famine.⁷² Runoff from monsoon rains also increases stream and river flows affecting water availability for environmental and human uses. Yet, during times of extreme monsoon years, excessive rainfall contributes to flooding and crop damage. Thus, much of the Asia/Pacific's food and water security in a changing climate is likely to be influenced by the effects of global climate change on the monsoon.

The climate scenarios generated for this report generally indicate increasing rainfall during the summer monsoon. This is consistent with a number of other recent studies where global climate models have been used to investigate the relationship between climate change and the Asian monsoons.^{73,74,75} Nevertheless, other research has shown that the effects of climate change on the monsoon are not uniformly distributed. For example, Bhaskaran and Mitchell (1998) found that while monsoon rains increased throughout much of South and East Asia, northwest India experienced declines in rainfall, which is consistent with the projections generated for this report.⁷⁶

In general, an increase in regional water availability would be beneficial for crop production and water availability in a region where scarcity is a common problem. However, two issues prevent one from having confidence in such an optimistic outlook. Although future summer monsoons

may bring more rainfall to Asia on average in the future, there is also evidence that climate change will increase the variability of monsoon rains from one year to another.⁷⁷ This would increase the likelihood of receiving suboptimal or excessive rainfall in any given year, which could reduce the benefits associated with an average increase. Monsoon variability is also tied to the El Niño Southern Oscillation,⁷⁸ with drought risk increasing during El Niño events,⁷⁹ yet there is little agreement among climate models with respect to how future climate change may alter the frequency or intensity of El Niño events.⁸⁰

In addition, recent work examining the effects of aerosol particles (e.g., black carbon and organic carbon from incomplete combustion as well as dust) on South Asia climate indicates such aerosols may significantly reduce regional rainfall.^{81,82} Declines in monsoon rains in India in recent decades, for example, may be related to the presence of such aerosols. To date, these aerosols have generally not been included in global climate model projections of future climate change. When they are, the models indicate weakening of the monsoon, and hence, reduced rainfall. Clearly further research is required to understand the implications of such aerosols on regional climate, as well as future emissions of these aerosols. Given significant efforts to control pollution and improve regional air quality in the decades ahead, it may be possible to significantly reduce aerosol loads over Asia. However, some researchers caution that because black carbon aerosols also have a cooling effect on the regional climate, efforts to reduce aerosol air pollution without simultaneous efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions could result in more rapid warming.⁸¹

3.5 Sea-level Rise and Variability

Global climate change is anticipated to increase global sea-levels over the 21st century and beyond, as a consequence of thermal expansion of the oceans from rising global temperatures and increased melting of glaciers and ice caps over land. Estimates of global sea-level changes from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fourth Assessment Report model simulations were not available at the time this report was published. As such, estimates of sealevel rise were derived from model simulations associated with the Third Assessment Report, and, specifically, the MAGICC simple climate model (v. 4.2).² MAGICC was used to simulate sea-level rise from seven global climate models, spanning a range of climate sensitivities (1.7-4.2°C) and seven emissions scenarios (the six illustrative scenarios from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Special Report on Emissions Scenarios.⁸³ Simulations were conducted assuming low, medium, and high rates of ice melt in response to global warming. There is significant overlap in projected sea-level rise among climate models, emissions scenarios, and ice melt parameterisations. The results from these simulations are presented in Figure 3.3. Simulations suggest increases in global sea level of 3–16 (central estimate of 7) cm by 2030 and 7–50 (central estimate of 37) cm by 2070. However, it should be noted that these estimates are likely to be updated by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fourth Assessment Report (to be released in 2007). In addition, these estimates do not account for potential contributions from the ice sheets of West Antarctica or Greenland (see Section 3.6), which, if they were to melt, would contribute to sea-level rise of approximately 5 and 7 metres, respectively, over the coming centuries. A recent study suggests that the rate of melting of the Greenland ice sheet has doubled within the past decade.⁸⁴



Figure 3.3. Sea-level rise projections as simulated by the MAGICC simple climate model. Each point represents one model simulation based upon a range of assumptions about climate sensitivity, the rate of global ice melt, and greenhouse gas emissions scenarios (see legend).

Table3.4.RecentTrendsNations85	in Sea-Level	Rise in Pacific Island			
Nation	Year of Gauge Installation	Trend (mm/year)			
Cook Islands	1993	+2.5			
Fiji	1992	+2.5			
Federated States of Micronesia	2001	+21.4			
Kiribati	1992	+5.7			
Marshall Islands	1993	+5.2			
Nauru	1993	+7.1			
Papua New Guinea	1994	+8.1			
Samoa	1993	+6.9			
Solomon Islands	1994	+6.8			
Tonga	1993	+8.0			
Tuvalu	1993	+6.4			
Vanuatu	1993	+3.1			

Climate change-induced sea-level rise will exacerbate natural variability in sea level and local tides to affect coastal communities and ecosystems in the Asia/Pacific region. Sea level at any given point is a function of local pressure, temperature, and salinity conditions, as well as local land subsidence and regimes. For example, a coordinated sea level monitoring effort has been under way in the Pacific Islands since the early 1990s (Table 3.4). Data through June 2006 reflect highly variable trends in sea levels throughout the Pacific Islands, with rates as low as 2.5 mm/year around the Cook Islands or as high as 21.4 mm/year in the Federated States of Micronesia. Short-term variability in lunar tides, storm activity, as well as the effects of the El Niño Southern Oscillation (e.g., El Niño and La Niña events) may contribute to anomalously high or low tides in various regions. For example, during February of 2005, King Tides were

responsible for damage to Pacific Islands such as Kiribati. Meanwhile the strong 1997/98 El Niño event contributed to anomalously low sea levels throughout the Pacific Islands.⁸⁵ Furthermore, storm surges associated with storm events and tropical cyclones clearly contribute to short-term extreme sea levels that routinely cause significant damage and loss of life in the Asia/Pacific region.

3.6 Climate Extremes and Surprises

The aforementioned climate scenarios do not account for changes in climate variability or extremes. Yet the potential effects of climate change on the frequency and intensity of extreme events is a key cross-cutting issue that will affect the frequency and severity of a wide variety of climate impacts. Extreme events tend to inflict large environmental and economic costs, which is exacerbated by the fact that they can be difficult to adequately manage through adaptive processes. Globally, the World Meteorological Organisation has reported that extreme events are on the rise as a result of anthropogenic perturbation of the climate system,⁸⁶ and climate models indicate the potential for increases in extremes of temperature, precipitation, droughts, storms, and floods.³⁷ For example, modelling for Pohnpei, the Federated States of Micronesia and Rarotonga, Cook Islands suggests a shortening of return periods for extreme winds and rainfall as the world warms.⁸⁷ Furthermore, modelling studies consistently find that tropical cyclone intensities increase in response to higher sea surface temperatures, meaning the potential for long-term increases in average cyclone intensities in the Asia/pacific region in the decades ahead.⁸⁸ Nevertheless, specific knowledge regarding the magnitude or frequency of climate extremes remains limited.

In addition to the consequences of climate variability, so called 'large-scale singularities' – major and potentially abrupt changes in the climate system – could cause a broad range of direct and indirect consequences to many regions of the world, including the Asia/Pacific. Although the likelihoods of such event are uncertain, the consequences would be large and global. As such, much of the interest in defining 'dangerous' climate change has emphasised the importance of mitigating greenhouse gas emissions to ensure such events are avoided. The climate thresholds for some of these events may be quite low.

For example, historical and paleological data provide ample evidence that singularities and abrupt changes in the climate system have occurred repeatedly in the past. Perhaps the event of most immediate relevance to the Asia/Pacific region is the collapse of the ice sheets of Greenland and/or West Antarctica. For a number of years, scientists have expressed concern about the potential for climate change to destabilise these ice sheets.⁸⁹ Hansen (2005) recently suggested that the threshold for an irreversible loss of the Greenland ice sheet may be as low as 1°C.⁹⁰ Vast quantities of water are locked away in the ice sheets of West Antarctica and Greenland, collectively equivalent to approximately 12 metres of sea-level rise. Destabilisation or collapse of these ice sheets would lead to centuries of irreversible sea-level rise and coastal inundation around the world. Global warming as well as the melting of glaciers and ice sheets (which increases the delivery of freshwater to the oceans), could destabilise the global ocean thermohaline circulation. Climate models indicate circulation begins to show signs of moderate weakening for warming of just 1–2°C, and beyond 4°C, some studies suggest the potential for ocean circulation to be pushed to the point of collapse.¹⁰ Such destabilisation could cause regional climate shifts with significant environmental and economic consequences.^{91,92}

Melting of the world's great ice sheets as well as the retreat of Arctic sea ice also acts as a positive feedback on global warming – as ice retreats, less solar energy is reflected causing the Earth to absorb more solar energy.⁹³ Other such feedbacks are also believed to have the potential to enhance climate change. For example, carbon cycle modelling has suggested that forest dieback in tropical regions could ultimately transform the terrestrial biosphere from a sink for carbon to a source – increasing the net concentration of CO₂ in the atmosphere.⁹⁴ Recent work in the United Kingdom indicates that climate change is causing carbon to be released from soils at a rate equivalent to almost 10% of the United Kingdom's annual industrial CO₂ emissions – potentially offsetting reductions in human emissions.⁹⁵ Paleological data indicate that abrupt climate shifts have occurred in the past as a result of the catastrophic release of greenhouse gases, primarily methane, from methane hydrates in the ocean's sediments. There has been some investigation of the causes of this release,⁹⁶ and speculation regarding the potential for anthropogenic climate change to once again destabilise this reservoir.

4. Climate change Impacts in the Asia/Pacific Region

Over the next century and beyond, climate change will result in a broad range of consequences for most regions of the world including the Asia/Pacific.³ Although climate change impact assessment has been an active area of research for over two decades, this research has

intensified in recent years as a result of growing evidence of a human influence on the climate system, direct observations of climate impacts, and increasing concern about the nature of future impacts. Some of these impacts will be large, others small, and some surprises will likely occur.

As is clear from the climate scenarios presented in Section 3, there are significant uncertainties associated with projecting future changes in the climate system and, subsequently, environmental responses to that change. Often one cannot offer specific predictions regarding impacts, their rate of occurrence, magnitude, and likelihood. Instead, impacts are estimated based upon different "if. . . then" scenarios of future changes in temperature and precipitation and how systems may subsequently respond.



Figure 4.1. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's "reasons for concern," reflecting the differential vulnerability among systems to climate change and the tendency for impacts to increase with temperature.

Regardless of a system's vulnerability, impacts will increase with increases in the magnitude or rate of climate change.³⁷ As suggested by Figure 4.1, the vulnerability of systems to climate change has largely been expressed relative to average global temperature. Yet, other climate changes, and particularly the variability in future climate conditions, are often more important. Impacts to water resources, for example, clearly depend upon changes in precipitation and evaporation. Similarly, in the coastal zone, sea-level rise and storm surge may be more critical drivers than temperature alone. In some situations, climate variables may be highly interactive,

meaning the magnitude of change in one variable affects the response of the system to the other. For example, the impacts associated with a large temperature increase may be quite high if precipitation declines, but more modest if precipitation keeps pace with temperature. In communicating the risks of climate change, it is important to acknowledge these complex interactions.

This section summarises a range of climate change impacts, divided into five core sectors: Coastal communities; ecosystems and biodiversity; infectious disease and heat-related mortality; water resources; agriculture and commercial forestry; and regional economies. The general factors that affect the vulnerability of these sectors are discussed, and understanding of the relative vulnerability of individual sectors is informed by reviewing a number of sectoral impact estimates which appear in the scientific literature. A total of 186 estimates were considered (81 at regional scales and 105 at national scales). Individual impact estimates appear in Section 11 as a series of tables indicating impacts across a gradient of temperature increases of $<2^{\circ}$ C, 2–4°C, and >4°C. Each impact estimate was scored based upon whether it suggests losses or damages to a particular sector, benefits, or spans a range from losses to benefits. A 'weight-of-evidence' approach was then used to assess vulnerability by examining what the balance of impact estimates suggest about future impacts, and these analyses are presented for each sector in the following subsections. In addition, the implications of these impacts for regional human and national security are also discussed.

It should be noted that different impact assessment studies employ different methodological approaches and climate scenarios, and may address impacts at various scales, from regional aggregations to subnational areas. As a consequence, estimates of climate change consequences may vary significantly from one study to another. The results from any one study should not be interpreted as specific predictions of future impacts; rather they represent different estimates of the sensitivity of a particular sector or system to a set of assumptions about a changing climate. Furthermore, because of such variability in potential responses to climate change, no likelihoods are attached to any of the individual impacts estimates that are discussed. Nevertheless, to the extent that multiple estimates consistently indicate adverse consequences for a particular region or sector, this can be taken as robust evidence of significant climate vulnerability.

4.1 Coastal Communities

The coastlines of Asia/Pacific nations are generally highly vulnerable to the effects of climate change, particularly sea-level rise caused by rising global temperatures (see Section 3.5). This vulnerability stems from a number of factors including the geology and geography of some of the region's coastal areas, the growing density of population and infrastructure in the coastal zone, and of course the limited adaptive capacity of much of the region's population. Vast areas of the Asia/Pacific are low-lying (Figure 4.2),⁹⁷ particularly the small-island states as well as the large river deltas found in India and Bangladesh, Southeast Asia, and China.⁹⁸ Furthermore, large tidal variations, tropical cyclones, and extreme rainfall events are common throughout the region, resulting in frequent coastal and inland flooding. The expectation of stronger tropical cyclones in coming decades, combined with the potential for significant increases in regional rainfall, suggest the potential for increased coastal hazard.

Much of the research conducted on the impacts of climate change on coastal communities is based upon modelling of shoreline inundation or retreat in response to varying magnitudes of sea-level rise and the subsequent implications for exposed populations and economies. Scenarios for sea-level rise are often based upon arbitrary estimates such as an increase in sealevel of 50 or 100 cm. As such, there is a paucity of information available regarding impacts for lower magnitudes of sea-level rise, despite the fact that the effects of sea-level rise are often magnified 100-fold due to coastal erosion.⁹⁹ For this report, a number of such studies were reviewed and grouped under three different ranges of sea-level rise: <30 cm, 30-50 cm, and >50 cm. These ranges generally correspond with estimated sea-level rise by 2100 from global warming of less than 2°C, 2–4°C, and greater than 4°C, and are thus consistent with the impacts reported to other sectors in this report.



Figure 4.2. Vulnerability of the Asia/Pacific region to sea-level rise. Land areas in red are below 20 metres in elevation, highlighting the most low-lying areas.⁹⁷

Table 4.1. Summary of Impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific Coastal Communities ^g								
		Regio	nal			Nation	al	
	<30cm	30-50cm	>50cm	Sum	<30cm	30-50cm	>50cm	Sum
 Loss 	0	5	7	12	4	7	15	26
 Loss/Gain 	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
●Gain	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total				12				26

The estimates of Asia/Pacific impacts from sea-level rise are unambiguous in indicating adverse consequences for the regions (Table 4.1). For less than 30 cm of sea-level rise, the island states of Fiji and Kiribati already experience significant losses of land area and subsequent economic consequences (Table 11.1). Similarly, a large area of coastal land is affected in the deltas of Pakistan. However, the modelling conducted for this study indicates that sea-level rise of more than 30cm is not likely to occur until the latter half of the 21st century (e.g., ~2070). With 30-50 cm of sea-level rise, the economic costs in the Asia/Pacific region rise to the hundreds of

^g Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each sea-level rise category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change. See Section 11 for a list of individual studies and impacts

millions to billions of dollars per year, and over 100,000 km of coastline experiences the effects. Tens of thousands of square kilometres of land in Bangladesh is lost, displacing tens of millions of individuals. Additional land area is lost in Fiji, Kiribati, and Indonesia, and China faces billions of dollars in costs associated with flooding in the Pearl Delta region. As sea-level rise exceeds half a metre, the area affected in the Asia/Pacific region rises to over half a million square kilometres, affecting hundreds of millions of people. The total costs for protecting Southeast Asia alone are on the order of \$300 billion. Large areas of Bangladesh, India, and Vietnam are inundated, and Kiribati, Fiji, and the Maldives are reduced to just a small fraction of their current land area. Modelling suggests these magnitudes of global sea-level rise are not likely to be realised until the end of the 21st century (e.g., 2070-2100).

Box 4.1. Vulnerability of Bangladesh to Sea-Level Rise

Bangladesh is one of the most commonly-cited examples of a nation with a high degree of vulnerability to sea-level rise. Although the northern regions of the nation are associated with steep elevation gradients secure from sea-level rise, extensive areas of the nation along the Bay of Bengal are comprised of low-lying lands at or below 1 metre above mean sea-level. As a consequence, much of this land is thought to be susceptible to inundation as a result of future climate change and the associated sea-level rise. Estimates of the effects of a 1 metre rise in sea-level on Bangladesh indicate the loss of approximately 30,000 km² of land area to permanent inundation.¹⁰⁰ Meanwhile, severe tropical cyclones have the potential to cause a storm surge of 3-6 metres.¹⁰¹ Subsequent erosion of the remaining coastline from sea-level rise and extreme events would contribute to further land loss. The resulting consequences would include:

- Displacement of people
- Loss of high-value agricultural land
- Intrusion of saline waters into surface and groundwater
- Increased risk of backwater effects that exacerbate flood risk
- Loss of coastal vegetation and forests

This vulnerability is exacerbated by the fact that Bangladesh is one of the world's most densely populated nations, with much of that population residing in the vulnerable delta regions. Furthermore, the flood-prone deltas also represent core areas of agricultural production. Sixty-five percent of Bangladesh's land is dedicated to agriculture, which also comprises approximately 23% of the nation's annual GDP (Table 2.1). This large allocation of both land and economic activity to climate-sensitive agricultural enterprises highlights the nation's vulnerability to climate change. Nevertheless, Bangladesh is still not self-sufficient in food resources and has high rates of population growth and low-per capita income, suggesting even more individuals will be vulnerable to climate change in the future. The nation is experiencing relatively rapid economic growth which may enhance the capacity of Bangladesh to cope and adapt to climatic variability and change, including sea-level rise, in the decades ahead.¹⁷³ The critical question is whether such resources can be acquired and leveraged on time-scales relevant to offset the rate at which climate change encroaches on the nation's coast.
4.2 Ecosystems and Biodiversity

The ecosystems within the Asia/Pacific region, as well as the rich plant and animal diversity of which they are comprised, represent an invaluable asset at local, regional, and global scales. They contribute directly to regional economies by providing food and water that sustain human life as well as natural resources such as timber and fisheries that support commercial enterprises. The natural amenities provided by Asia/Pacific ecosystems are also increasingly drawing tourism to the region, creating economic opportunity as well as environmental pressures. However, ecosystems also provide a range of indirect services that are often not fully appreciated or valued. Vegetation cover helps purify water as it runs off the land into streams and rivers. Coral reefs and coastal wetlands provide flood defence and buffers to coastal communities as well as nursery area for marine species. Many communities within the Asia/Pacific region are dependent upon such ecosystems goods and services, particularly in the region's least developed countries. Furthermore, the region's environment may have strong cultural significance to its people. Therefore, degradation and loss of species and ecosystems poses a threat to not only the economic, but also the social and cultural stability of the region.

The natural ecosystems and biodiversity of the Asia/Pacific region are considered highly vulnerable to the effects of climate change due to a number of factors. First, various locations within the region, including high altitude ecosystems of the Himalayas and the landscapes of small islands contain a disproportionately high percentage of endemic species that are dependent upon these core habitats. In addition, climate change is likely to affect Asia/Pacific ecosystems as one of a number of important drivers that will have cumulative effects in the decades ahead. Despite rapid growth in conservation and protected areas within the region over the last few decades,¹⁰² land-use change and degradation, overexploitation of water resources and biodiversity, and contamination of inland and coastal waters already threatens many species. For example, in Indonesia, hundreds of mammal and bird species have been declared threatened.¹⁰³ In India, up to 1,256 plant species are threatened.¹⁰⁴ The Pacific Islands within Oceania contain the largest number of documented extinctions and are home to more threatened species than any other region in the world.¹⁰⁵

Projected changes in climate will have diverse ecological implications.¹⁰⁶ Species within ecosystems have an inherent capacity (behavioral, physiological, and genetic) to cope with some degree of climate variability and change, provided it is maintained within a certain range. Yet this coping range can be relatively narrow for many species and may be exceeded by short-term changes in climate extremes or long-term changes in average climate conditions. Habitat for some species will expand, contract, and/or shift with the changing climate, resulting in habitat losses or gains, which could prove challenging, particularly for species that are already threatened or endangered. Research indicates that species exchange among islands is quite high, and climate change may accelerate this process, but the consequences are largely unknown.¹⁰⁷ Changes in habitat (e.g., fragmentation) and the distribution of species also creates opportunities for invasive nuisance species that may be able to capitalise on climate change, disrupting local ecosystems.^{108,109}

Recent studies indicate that globally, natural ecosystems are already responding to climate change.¹¹⁰ For some species, these responses appear to part of coping strategies, for others adverse effects including localised population extinctions have been observed.¹¹¹ Observations also indicate that the productivity of the Asia/Pacific landscape has increased over the past 20 years, ¹¹²except in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia and Southeast Asia, where significant declines in productivity have been observed. Increases in productivity must also be considered in the context of trends toward increasing wildfires around the globe.¹¹³ For example, wildfires associated with 1997/98 El Niño event released approximately 2.1 billion tons of carbon to the atmosphere, with 60% coming from Southeast Asia.¹¹⁴

Despite the well-known biodiversity of the Asia/Pacific region as well as the chronic challenges associated with environmental management, there is a paucity of specific information regarding the implications of climate change. There is much awareness of the mechanisms by which climate change may affect natural ecosystems and resources in the Asia/Pacific region,¹¹⁵ but there are limited quantitative estimates of potential impacts under specific climate change scenarios. This stems from a number of factors, including limited assessment capacity within Asia/Pacific nations to conduct such work as well as a disproportionate, but not necessarily misplaced, emphasis in regional impact assessments on natural disasters and issues related to human security (e.g., impacts to food, water, and coastlines) and infrastructure.

In the context of climate change, impact assessment studies have focused on four key ecological aspects of the Asia/Pacific region: coral reef communities, mangrove wetlands, tropical and temperate forests, and high altitude montane species. Each of these is discussed further below, but one should note that ecological impacts from climate change will by no means be limited to these few examples. Furthermore, the studies that exist, though perhaps limited, are generally consistent in finding that climate change will pose adverse consequences to Asia/Pacific ecosystems (Table 4.2; Table 11.2).

Table 4.2. Summary of Impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific Ecosystems and Biodiversity ^h									
		Reg	ional			National			
	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	
 Loss 	3	3	3	9	1	2	0	3	
 Loss/Gain 	0	1	0	1	0	2	0	2	
●Gain	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	
Total				11				5	

The Pacific Islands of the Asia/Pacific region contain the largest collection of coral communities in the world, which are relied upon for local populations for beach defence, fisheries, and as an attraction for tourism. The sensitivity of the world's coral reefs to temperature is well-documented. Estimates of the coping capacity of corals suggests that prolonged temperature increases of just $1-2^{\circ}$ C above average are sufficient to induce bleaching (Table 11.2).¹¹⁶ The 1997/98 El Niño event caused widespread bleaching of coral reefs in the Asia/Pacific region including India, the Maldives, Indonesia, Thailand, Cambodia, Malaysia, and India. Modelling studies from the Great Barrier Reef suggest temperature increases may become sufficiently frequent within just a few decades to overwhelm corals recovery mechanisms.¹¹⁷ A study from Fiji suggests that coral reef impacts from warming of less than 2°C would also cause economic losses to fisheries. Temperature projections indicate warming in the Asia/Pacific region of $1-2^{\circ}$ C is possible as early as 2030 and virtually certain by 2070 (Figure 3.1). In addition, ocean acidification from higher atmospheric CO₂ concentrations has been shown to reduce the ability for corals and other organisms to build their calcium carbonate skeletons,¹¹⁸ although it remains unclear how this effect may interact with temperature changes.¹¹⁹

^h Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.



Figure 4.3. Projected changes in mangrove area in various Pacific Island nations by 2100. Horizontal green bars represent minimum impacts based upon extrapolation of historical sea-level rise. Red horizontal bars represents upper limit of mangrove loss based upon Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's upper range of 21st century sea-level rise.

The Pacific Islands also contain just under 1% of the world's mangrove ecosystems.¹²⁰ A recent report by the United Nation's Environment Programme concluded that sea-level rise is likely to adversely affect mangroves throughout the region.¹²¹ Across the Pacific Islands, total impacts range from a loss of 1% of mangrove area, given conservative estimates of future sea-level rise, to a 13% loss (Table 11.2), assuming the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's (2001) upper range for 21st century sea-level rise.² However, the impacts to specific locations may be much more significant, with losses of up to 50% or more projected for some island nations Mangrove communities are found throughout the coastal margins of the (Figure 4.3). Asia/Pacific region, and thus such impacts from sea-level rise are likely to be felt quite broadly. The distribution of mangroves in coastal margins can also be affected by rainfall patterns and runoff that alters the flow of freshwater to the coastal zone, and, subsequently, the distribution of appropriate saline habitat for mangroves. Like coral reefs, mangroves provide critical habitat for the Asia/Pacific's coastal biodiversity, shoreline protection, and are valuable resources for human populations. Furthermore, the loss of mangroves to sea-level rise is just one symptom of a larger pattern of regional coastal wetland loss due to climate change, which could reach into the tens of thousands of square kilometres given high magnitudes of global warming.

High-altitude and mountain ecosystems represent another key ecosystem of concern within the Asia/Pacific region. Like small islands, the ecosystems of mountains possess a high proportion of endemic species, which tend to be isolated due to steep gradients in temperature and vegetation along mountain slopes. Snowpack and glaciers are often core characteristics of high-altitude environments, and rising temperatures will alter the timing of snowfall as well as runoff from melting snow and glaciers. A general estimate is that the snowline of mountains will rise 150 m for every 1°C increase in temperature. Warming of 1°C is likely by 2030, and warming in the Himalayas of up to 6–8°C by 2070 suggests substantial changes in mountain ecosystems over the 21^{st} century. Observations from Irian Jaya, West Papua as well as the Himalayas suggest rising temperatures have already affected glaciers in the Asia/Pacific region.² Declining

snowpacks will have downstream consequences for water resources. It is also assumed that as temperatures increase, cool habitat for plant and animal species will contract upward, potentially resulting in the loss of the coolest habitat. Species will have to migrate to higher altitudes to accommodate the shift in thermal habitat, but the extent to which montane species are capable of such migrations is largely untested. Modelling of biome changes on the arid, high-altitude Tibetan Plateau indicates steppe and desert biomes (temperate and alpine) as well as ice desert biomes will contract as temperatures on the plateau increase (Table 11.2).

Climate change studies suggest that some Asia/Pacific forests and vegetation have the potential to experience some beneficial effects from climate change and enhanced atmospheric CO_2 concentrations (Table 11.2). For example, the decline of steppe and desert biomes on the Tibetan Plateau may be accompanied by an expansion of conifer, broad-leaved, and evergreen forests and shrubland. In addition, studies suggest significant shifts in tree species in China in response to warming of 2-4°C, including the migration of forest communities into non-forest areas of east China. Similarly, vegetation growth is projected to increase throughout most of central China and the Pacific Islands. However, not all studies reflect optimism. It's been estimated, for example, that climate change will reduce the extent of China's boreal forests by 70%, and grassland productivity in Arid and Semi-Arid Asia is projected to decline by 40-90%. Vegetation modelling also indicates significant dieback of tropical forests in parts of Southeast Asia. Meanwhile, global studies suggest the potential for significant extinction of plant and animal species in temperate and tropical forests such as those found in the Asia/Pacific region. In addition, climate change is likely to alter disturbance regimes within forest communities, affecting the frequency and intensity of pest outbreaks and wildfire. For example, fire risk is project to increase throughout much of central Asia.

4.3 Infectious Disease and Heat-Related Mortality

Improving the standard of public health in the Asia/Pacific region is a fundamental development goal, and one which necessitates consideration of a range of issues from food security and nutrition, to water resources, to extreme weather events.¹²² Climate change is likely to pose a number of challenges for the region's public health, in both direct and indirect ways. In fact, work by the World Health Organisation suggests that climate change has already taken a human toll in the region, largely due to the effects of climate change on infectious disease.¹²³

The direct effects of climate change on human health in the Asia/Pacific tend to be obvious, as they are often associated with extreme weather events and natural disasters. As temperatures increase, for example, the frequency, severity, and duration of extreme heat events is likely to increase. Such events can have significant health consequences, and even in developed countries, represent some of the most lethal forms of extreme weather. In May 2002, temperatures in the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh reached 49°C, resulting in over 1,000 deaths.¹²⁴ Tropical cyclones are also a routine danger in the Asia/Pacific region. In 1991, a cyclone struck Bangladesh, killing approximately 139,000 people. While the extent to which climate change is currently affecting cyclone intensities remain unclear, modelling studies consistently project increases in cyclone intensity in a warmer world.^{2,125}

Over the long-term, the indirect effects of climate change on human health, though perhaps less dramatic, may prove just as important and costly. In addition to fundamental health considerations such as food and water security, changing climate patterns are projected to alter the distribution of infectious diseases such as malaria, dengue, and schistosomiasis; increase the risk of water-borne disease; and exacerbate air quality. With the exception of east central China

and the highlands of west China, much of the Asia/Pacific region is exposed to (or has the potential to be exposed to) malaria and dengue. Modelling studies suggest the region will continue to be a hotspot for both of these diseases in the decades ahead, with some isolated regions becoming more prone to epidemics and others less (Figure 4.4).^{126,127} Meanwhile, changing patterns of rainfall, particularly increases in intense rain events, may increase the risk of surface and drinking water contamination and water-borne illness.¹²⁸ Work from the United States suggests increases in temperature will exacerbate air quality problems in urban areas, increasing mortality.¹²⁹ Such studies are quite relevant to some of the Asia/Pacific's megacities where air quality currently poses a significant health challenge.¹³⁰



Figure 4.4. Effects of climate change on malaria (left) and dengue (right) risk in the Asia/Pacific region.^{126,127} For malaria, areas in red represent locations where climate change is projected to reduce malaria risk, while areas in green represent locations where risk will increase. For dengue, red areas are those projected to be at high risk, followed by moderate risk (orange to yellow), and low risk (green to blue).

<i>Table</i> 4.3. 30	Table 4.5. Summary of impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific infectious								
Disease and Heat-Related Mortality ⁱ									
		Reg	ional			National			
	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	\$um	
•Loss	5	2	1	8	4	6	0	10	
 Loss/Gain 	1	2	0	3	0	0	0	0	
●Gain	2	2	0	4	0	0	0	0	
Total				15				10	

Climate projections indicate the Asia/Pacific region as a whole is likely to become warmer and wetter in the decades ahead, creating conditions more conducive to heat-related illness and death as well as disease vectors such as mosquitoes. Looking across estimates of the effects of climate change on health in the Asia/Pacific, various studies indicate that adverse health effects are likely at relatively low to modest warming of less than 2°C (Table 4.3; Table 11.3). Impacts for this magnitude of warming include additional deaths from malaria and dengue and more intense tropical cyclones, which will increase the risk of injury and death. However, mortality from

¹ Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.

schistosomiasis is projected to decline. For warming of 2–4°C, the impacts are similar, but more severe, with larger numbers of individuals exposed to or affected by infectious disease as well as rising costs associated with their treatment. While tropical cyclone intensities increase, some high-resolution modelling suggests that the frequency of cyclones will decline. There are few available studies that test the regional or national health response of the Asia/Pacific region to warming greater than 4°C, but at least one reflects a continued upward mortality toll from higher levels of regional warming, with deaths in the hundreds of thousands.

It is important to note that many of the potential health impacts of climate change are closely tied to socioeconomic conditions. Malaria, for example, were once widely distributed throughout North America, Europe, northern Asia, and northern Australia but was largely eradicated through prevention efforts and other socioeconomic changes that reduced human exposure.¹³¹ Therefore, while climatic conditions may dictate the potential range of disease vectors, socioeconomic conditions often dictate the actual prevalence and incidence of disease within human populations. Similarly, water-borne illnesses are another symptom of economic development associated with lack of access to secure drinking water and sanitation while injury and death during extreme events is a function of emergency management and the uptake and use of risk management strategies such as building codes, zoning, or air conditioning. This means that interpreting the future implications of climate change for the health impacts of disease or extreme events must be conducted within the context of current and future social and economic change in the Asia/Pacific region that may enhance or reduce vulnerability.

4.4 Water Resources

Water resources are increasingly a core issue for both the developed and, particularly, the developing world due to limited resources and a growing global population. Water resources supply a broad range of goods and services, including drinking water, waste management, hydroelectric generation, irrigation, recreation and tourism opportunities, and habitat for wildlife. As such, maintaining the security of water resources is a priority for any population, and climate change impacts to water resources may have a broad array of subsequent adverse consequences. Both past and present challenges to water management have demonstrated the powerful influence of climate variability and change. A particular challenge for water resources management are extreme events, such as prolonged droughts which undermine food security, or extreme rainfall events, which increase the risk of flooding.

Water resources management is already a pressing issue for a number of areas in the Asia/Pacific region. Northern China, for example, has been in a water crisis for a number or years, as a result of population growth and water use as well as climate change. The main course of the lower Yellow River often runs dry during summer months,¹³² and reduced reliability of other water resources due to land degradation and use is problematic as well. Glacier retreat in the Himalayas as raised concerns about long-term impacts to catchments dependent upon glacier run-off as well as short-term consequences from glacier flood outburst events, which can cause downstream flooding, injury, and death.¹³³ Meanwhile, water security is also problematic in small-island states, which are often dependent upon limited groundwater, rainfall collection, and to some extent, desalination (e.g. Nauru).³⁷ Such limited resources and infrastructure must meet all demands – domestic, industrial, and agricultural – making water management and sanitation during periods of water deficit or surplus particularly challenging. For example, El Niño events tend to bring warm and dry conditions to South and Southeast Asia

and much of the Pacific Islands, with the exception of Kiribati, Tuvalu, Christmas Island, and the northern Cook Islands, where rainfall increases.¹³⁴ Challenges to water resources management may be exacerbated by sea-level rise which contributes to salt-water intrusion into available freshwater resources.

Table 4.4. Summary of Impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific Water Resources ⁱ									
		Reg	ional			National			
	<2°C	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	\$um	
•Loss	1	6	2	9	1	3	0	4	
Loss/Gain	0	0	0	0	1	3	0	4	
●Gain	0	1	0	1	1	4	0	5	
Total				10				13	

Impacts assessments examining water resources suggest changing patterns of runoff and river flows in the Asia/Pacific region in the decades ahead, along with increases in water management costs and increases in the number of people experiencing water stress. Temperature projections indicate warming of $\sim 1-2^{\circ}$ C across the Asia/Pacific region by 2030 and $1-7^{\circ}$ C by 2070. In response to such changes, the regional-scale studies are, on balance, pessimistic, with the majority indicating adverse consequences to water resources (Table 4.4; Table 11.4). Studies looking at temperature increases of less than 2°C, for example, suggest economic losses in South and Southeast Asia. For 2–4°C of warming, millions more individuals are exposed to water stress throughout the Asia/Pacific region. Meanwhile, the costs of water resources management may be positive or negative in Asia, but Oceania experiences economic losses. The two regional studies that explore temperature scenarios beyond 4°C both suggest economic damages in Asia and Oceania. Rainfall projections suggest increasing rainfall throughout much of the Asia/Pacific region, which may ameliorate some of these projected impacts. However, rising temperatures may offset increases in rainfall through evaporative processes, and thus greater rainfall is not necessarily an indicator of greater water security, particularly in the context of growing populations and demands on water resources.

Studies from select nations suggest the potential for both gains and losses (Table 4.4; Table 11.4), largely due to projections of increased runoff in some river basins in response to increasing rainfall. For warming of less than 2° C, melting and runoff from Himalayan glaciers increase while costs for water resources management on the small island state of Kiribati rise to address salt-water intrusion and desalination (Table 11.4). China experiences increases or decreases in runoff among different river systems. For warming of $2-4^{\circ}$ C, runoff from Himalayan glaciers, such increases in availability are likely not sustainable over the long-term and declines are inevitable. Runoff also increases in Bangladesh but so does the risk of flooding. China experiences increases or decreases or decreases in runoff among different river systems, although the nation's interior generally experiences reductions. Water stress in the Mekong Delta rises, and water storages in the Philippines may rise or fall.

¹ Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.

4.5 Agriculture and Commercial Forestry

Global agricultural production has been growing at a rate of 2–3% per year for the past four decades, fuelled in particular by growth in developing nations.¹³⁵ Nevertheless, there are a number of countries that continue to have high rates of under-nourishment. For example, Bangladesh has low levels of food consumption and has made little progress in reversing this situation over the past several decades.¹³⁵ Pakistan and India, though slightly better off, have also experienced sluggish growth in per capita consumption. The Food and Agricultural Organisation projects that growth in global production will slow to just 1% per year over the next several decades, although above-average growth is projected to continue in developing nations.

Despite slowing growth, the net increase in production that is projected is quite substantial. For example, by 2050 global cereal production is projected to increase by 50% relative to 2005.¹³⁵ If realised, such growth would significantly reduce the prevalence of under-nourishment in developing nations. For example, the percentages of the population experiencing under-nourishment in East Asia and South Asia are projected to decline from 12 and 22%, respectively, at present to just 3% and 4% by 2050. The composition of food consumption is likely to change as well, particularly as developing nations acquire wealth and access to greater food diversity.¹³⁵ Meanwhile, as discussed in Section 4.2, climate change is likely to have important implications for forest ecosystems, and therefore, commercial forestry. Studies indicate that globally, climate change will contribute to increased global timber production, despite (and in many instances because of) shifts in species distributions and forest dieback.

These projections of future global food and timber production and availability remain uncertain and are dependent upon assumptions about socioeconomic trends such as economic and population growth, particularly in developing nations. To what extent might this relatively optimistic outlook be altered by climate change, particularly given current constraints on global water resources and quality crop land? The productivity of crop agriculture, livestock, and commercial forestry is directly influenced by climatic conditions, particularly seasonal patterns of temperature, rainfall, and evaporation.. These variables affect the length of the growing season, the availability of soil moisture for vegetation growth, and under extreme conditions, contribute to heat waves, droughts, and floods that damage crops and livestock and reduce productivity.

In addition, extensive research has identified a CO_2 -fertilisation effect, which improves water use efficiency in vegetation, enhancing productivity.¹³⁶ The magnitude of this effect varies considerably among plant species, and it remains uncertain to what extent experimental results from one region of the world hold up in other regions. Furthermore, recent research suggests the effects of CO_2 -fertilisation may not be as beneficial as originally thought, as other factors such as nutrients and soil quality may also limit growth.¹³⁷ Yet consideration of this effect in assessing the potential consequences of climate change to agriculture is essential. Where climate change is likely to benefit crop production, this benefit may be enhanced by CO_2 fertilisation. Meanwhile, where climate change alone is harmful to production, in some instances the effects of CO_2 -fertilisation may be sufficient to offset adverse impacts.

It is also important to note that climate change may affect the agricultural sector in a number of ways (Table 4.5). For example, irrigation systems will be affected by changes in rainfall and runoff, and subsequently, water quality and supply. Yet water resources in many nations of the Asia/Pacific region are already stretched thin or challenged in a number of ways, and future

climatic change effects on regional rainfall will therefore have both direct and indirect effects on agriculture. In addition, the most productive agricultural areas for a number of Asia/Pacific nations, particularly Bangladesh, Vietnam, and small island states, lie in low-lying coastal margins and river deltas that are prone to flooding. Sea-level rise and storm activity will inundate prime agricultural land and potentially increase periodic crop damage.

Although highly exposed to the weather and climate, agriculture and forestry are managed enterprises, and operations can be potentially upgraded and optimised to reduce vulnerability to climate change. The greater the investments made in agricultural production, however, the greater the consequence of crop failures during extreme years. Nevertheless, agricultural practices throughout the Asia/Pacific region have emerged through generations of experience with climate variability, and coping capacities and resilience of these systems has expanded as technology and knowledge have been built-up and traded with other nations. In addition, agricultural practices such as irrigation and pest control further expand the resilience of these sectors to climate conditions. The extent to which such management tools can be deployed to reduce future vulnerability, however, is arguable and will be closely tied to regional economic development.

Climate Change ¹³⁸			
Regions	Food and Fibre	Water Resources	Coastal Ecosystems
Arid and semi-arid Asia			
Central Asia	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable	Moderately vulnerable
Tibetan Plateau	Slightly or not vulnerable	Moderately vulnerable	Not applicable
Temperate Asia	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable
Tropical Asia and Small	Island States		
South Asia	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable
Southeast Asia	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable	Highly vulnerable

Table 4.5. Vulnera	oility of Asian Sect	ors Related to Agriculture	e to
Climate Change ¹³			

Climate change will likely pose a broad and complex array of consequences for agriculture and commercial forestry in the Asia/Pacific region, with regional winners and losers (even within individual nations), and differential responses among different types of crops (Table 4.7; Table 11.5). Agriculture in China is perhaps a useful demonstration of this complexity and diversity of responses, as climate change will interact with existing land degradation and water scarcity to adversely affect agriculture in some areas, but perhaps enhance agriculture in others (Box 4.2). Both regional and national-scale studies suggest a wide range of potential outcomes to Asia/Pacific agriculture, including both declines in yields as well as increases. Such apparent ambiguity is largely a function of different assumptions within agricultural studies regarding future changes in temperature and, in particular, rainfall, but also the benefits of CO₂fertilisation and trends in land degradation.

Box 4.2. Climate Change and Agriculture in China

China represents one of the most-well studied nations in the Asia/Pacific region with respect to the impacts of climate change on agriculture. This stems from the size of the country (both in area and population) and its rapidly changing economy and environment. As with other studies of Asia/Pacific agriculture, uncertainty in future climate change makes identifying clear responses difficult (Table 4.6; Table 11.6). Up to approximately 2°C, studies suggest benefits for rice, maize, and wheat, although one study finds modest reductions in agricultural revenue. For 2-4°C of warming, some studies suggest rice, maize, and wheat yields will increase, although the gains tend to be larger for dryland cropping due to a greater benefit from the CO2fertilisation effect relative to irrigated crops. Yet, results for maize and rice are not consistent across studies, as the majority of studies suggest sizeable reductions in yields are possible. Similarly, some studies also suggest reductions in net agricultural production and the potential for declines in agricultural revenue. Beyond 4°C, studies are generally negative, indicating declining rice yields and revenue, and the sustainability of certain crops under more extreme scenarios of climate change is questionable. This is particularly problematic for China, which is projected to experience some of the most significant warming in the Asia/Pacific region, with central estimates of 2-3°C by 2070 in central and northeast China, and the potential for approximately twice this magnitude under a worst-case warming scenario (Figure 3.1).

Table 4.6. Summary of Impact Estimates to Agriculture in China ^k							
	<2°C	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum			
•Loss	1	1	1	3			
Loss/Gain	0	10	1	11			
●Gain	3	2	0	5			
Total				19			

Crop modelling studies also indicate a high degree of spatial variability with respect to climate change impacts in China. Crop yields in northeast China appear to be more vulnerable, with studies suggesting declines in yield in response to climate change, while the southeast appears to be a region of relatively lower vulnerability and the potential to realise some benefits.^{218,139,140} Two of the critical factors affecting agriculture in China are the fate of the nation's water resources in response to climate change, which is dependent upon seasonal rainfall patterns, and CO_2 -fertilisation. Northeast China is currently in the midst of a water crisis, and planning is underway for large-scale diversion projects to bring water from more southern areas to the troubled northeast.¹⁴¹ Modelling of China's water cycle in response to climate change has suggested increased rainfall and soil water in southeast China, but decreases in the northeast, consistent with modelling of agricultural yields.¹³⁹ However, the projections generated for this report, which draw upon a wider range of models, reflect a different picture - one of increasing rainfall in northeast China throughout much of the year, but declining winter rainfall in southeast China (Figure 3.2). Therefore, water stress in northern China may be alleviated by climate change, though human water demands will continue to drain resources. Meanwhile, studies also suggest that the fate of China's agriculture is highly dependent upon the strength of the CO_2 -fertilisation effect. When excluded, impacts are negative across all major crops, while

^k Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.

inclusion of the effect offsets losses and generally yields benefits.²¹⁸ It is clear that much of the estimates of China's agriculture under a changing climate hinge heavily upon assumed CO_2 -fertilisation effects, and uncertainty persists as the extent of the benefits that can be realised. Therefore, should current estimates of the benefits of CO_2 -fertilisation prove overly optimistic, the effects of climate change on China's agriculture may shift more decisively toward more pessimistic outcomes.

Studies which take a regional view generally lean toward damages to agricultural production for warming of less than 2°C, although one study suggests that rice yields across Asia will increase. For warming of 2–4°C, the majority of studies suggest the potential for both gains and losses, depending on the region under consideration and assumptions about climate change. Yet studies of cereal and rice production in South Asia indicate declining yields while crop quantities increase in Southeast Asia and East Asia. Asia/Pacific commercial forestry is also projected to benefit. Above 4°C, the majority of studies again indicate the potential for both gains and losses. Those studies that are less ambiguous project benefits in Southeast Asia and East Asia, but a number of studies project net economic damages to the agriculture and forestry sectors in Asia as whole, and Southeast Asia and Oceania, specifically.

Table 4.7. Summary of Impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific Agriculture and Commercial Forestry ^I									
		Reg	jional			Na	tional		
	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	\$um	
 Loss 	1	2	3	7	3	5	5	13	
Loss/Gain	2	6	2	9	0	21	2	23	
●Gain	1	5	2	8	3	4	2	9	
Total				23				45	

At the national level, studies suggest that some nations will gain from climate change while others will lose. For less than 2° C, for example, rice yields in one state of India increase, but agricultural losses are experienced in the Philippines and Fiji. The outlook for $2-4^{\circ}$ C of warming is mixed – rice and wheat yields in Bangladesh tend to decline, and some studies suggest declining yields in cultivable land as well as net economic losses in India. Meanwhile, rice yields in Indonesia and Malaysia are projected to increase. The majority of studies, however, indicate that the fate of agriculture in a number of nations is tied to assumptions about climate change. For warming greater than 4° C, national studies suggest declining rice yields in Bangladesh, India, the Philippines and Thailand, but increases in Indonesia and Malaysia.

Looking across the various regional and national studies, it remains difficult to develop a robust picture of the effects of climate change on regional agriculture and forestry. There do appear to be some clear regional losers, such as Bangladesh and small island states within Oceania. These represent nations within highly vulnerable agricultural systems that are exposed not only to the effects of temperature and rainfall changes, but also sea-level rise. The reliance of these nations upon subsistence agriculture suggests the potential for significant adverse consequences from climate change-induced reductions in crop yields. Multiple studies indicate that climate change

¹ Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.

has the potential to inflict similar damages throughout the rest of the region, depending upon how regional climate changes manifest.

The climate projections generated for this report generally indicate increasing rainfall throughout much of the region, including during the critical summer monsoon season, which may bode well for agricultural production. Nevertheless, changing monsoon variability and the dynamics of extremes may offset the benefits. Rainfall is projected to decline in Arid Asia, India, and Southeast Asia during the winter monsoon. The implications of this for regional agriculture merit closer examination. Any benefits of climate change to regional agriculture may prove transient and be reversed as the magnitude of climate change grows. For example, recent work by Mendelsohn (2005) indicates agriculture benefits throughout Southeast Asia nations given moderate magnitudes of warming and increasing rainfall, but significant adverse impacts from larger magnitudes of warming and/or significant reductions in rainfall.²⁰⁵ Even with rainfall increases, rising temperatures may pose a challenge to agriculture, stressing crops and reducing yields. Central estimates of climate change suggest relatively large increases in temperatures of 2–3°C by 2070, with the potential for warming in excess of 5°C for continental Asia.

Unfortunately, specific studies of climate effects on agriculture in a number of nations, particularly small island states, in the Asia/Pacific region are lacking. Those that do exist often generate highly uncertain results that are not always consistent, in part due to dissimilar assumptions about future climate changes (e.g., changes in rainfall). It is also important to note that the fate of food security in the Asia/Pacific region will likely be driven largely by socioeconomic trends that affect production, supply, and demand. To the extent that nations are able to develop high-yield, sustainable agriculture and mature their economies, their ability to cope with climate change is likely to grow as well. Where persistent or emergent problems lie with food security, economic growth, and governance, however, is where climate change impacts may be more critical.

4.6 Regional Economic Impacts

Several attempts have been made at estimating the net economic costs that climate change might inflict upon the world or specific regions. Such analyses are potentially quite relevant, given the close connection between the status of Asia/Pacific economies and their vulnerability and capacity to cope with the effects of climate change. However, a number of limitations of such studies leave them vulnerable to underestimating the net economic impacts as well as the human and ecological toll of climate change. Studies tend to focus on direct market costs of a few sectors (e.g., agriculture, tourism, water, forestry, fisheries, and energy), but overlook non-market costs that are difficult to quantify in economic terms such as health and ecosystem goods and services.

Furthermore, economic assessments often aggregate economic impacts across broad geographic areas. This invariably masks significant consequences to local economies. An assessment of economic impacts on the entire economy of the Asia/Pacific region would, for example, aggregate the large economies of China and India with the much smaller economies of some of the Pacific Islands, precluding the examination of the geographic diversity in economic consequences. An example from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's *Third Assessment Report* demonstrates some of the potential pitfalls in such quantifications. Assuming climate change causes environmental and economic damage in Bangladesh equivalent to 80% of its GDP, this loss would amount to only 0.1% of global GDP and would slow the rate of global economic growth by less than three weeks.⁴² Thus catastrophes at the

local scale may be relatively innocuous at the global scale when viewed through a strict economic lens, thereby neglecting the real human and environmental toll. Therefore, the results from economic studies should be cautiously interpreted. Nevertheless, the fate of Asia/Pacific economies in response to climate change is likely to be of interest to regional decision-makers.

The few estimates of impacts to Asia/Pacific economies from climate change that are available generally indicate climate change will pose net economic damages to the region (Table 4.8; Table 11.7). The majority of regional scale studies indicate economic losses to South and Southeast Asia as well as Oceania, although one study indicates the potential for net economic gains for Asia as a whole. Similarly, the majority of national scale studies also indicate economic damages are likely. For example, one study indicates the potential for annual GDP impacts of 2.4% on Sri Lanka for less than 2°C of warming. In comparison, the Indian Ocean Tsunami in 2004 caused direct damages equivalent to 4.5% of Sri Lanka's GDP, with an additional 7.5% of GDP required in financing relief and reconstruction efforts.¹⁴² For 2–4°C of warming, studies indicate economic losses in India, Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Thailand, while one study suggests the potential for modest economic benefits in China. Given central estimates of temperature increases in the Asia/Pacific region by 2070 are on the order of 2–3°C, these economic impacts are, unfortunately, well within reach. It should be noted that the distribution of economic damages and benefits may be highly variable, even within individual nations. For example, rural areas dependent upon subsistence agriculture are likely more vulnerable to potential climate consequences than urbanised areas with more diverse economies including manufacturing and service sectors.

Table 4.8. Summary of Impact Estimates to Asia/Pacific Economies ^m									
		Reg	ional			National			
	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	<2℃	2-4℃	>4℃	Sum	
 Loss 	1	3	2	6	1	4	0	5	
Loss/Gain	1	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	
●Gain	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	
Total				9				6	

Although these studies indicate that climate change will have real consequences for the economies of the Asia/Pacific region, the impacts must be viewed in the context of continued regional economic growth. On one hand, in the face of continued economic development, the annual damages from climate change may represent a declining fraction of the economy. As such, the average long-term economic impacts in any given year may have little influence on national to regional prosperity. On the other hand, an analysis by the reinsurance company Munich Re highlights the fact that economic damages from natural disasters have grown over time in conjunction with economic growth.¹⁴³ Therefore, the relevant economic implications of climate change may be the potential for increased climate variability and extreme events (e.g., cyclones, droughts, and floods) that cause significant loss of life and economic damage, often shattering local economies and requiring significant foreign assistance to aid in relief and reconstruction efforts.

^m Values in table refer to the number of impact estimates for each temperature category that indicate sectoral losses; losses to gains; or gains in response to climate change.See Appendix IV for a list of individual studies and impacts.

4.7 Cross-Sectoral Synthesis

The review of climate change impact assessment studies from the Asia/Pacific region enables one to draw some general conclusions regarding its vulnerability. Of the 186 impact estimates reviewed for this report, the majority provided a clear indication of adverse impacts. Sixty-two percent of regional and 58% of national estimates indicated adverse impacts, while only 19% and 14%, respectively, indicated benefits Figure 4.5). However, 20–28% of estimates suggested the potential for either adverse or beneficial consequences from climate change, depending on assumptions.



Figure 4.5. Indicators of the vulnerability of several Asia/Pacific sectors to climate change. Individual estimates (n=186) of climate change impacts are presented as a percentage of sectoral estimates that reflect losses from climate change, gains from climate change, or the potential for both gains and losses, depending upon study assumptions.

The vulnerability of different sectors varied significantly. One hundred percent of the regional and national estimates of the impacts to coastal communities indicate adverse physical and economic consequences in the region, which grow progressively worse with higher magnitudes of sea-level rise. Results for the regions' ecosystems and water resources are similarly pessimistic, although national-scale ecosystem impacts may prove beneficial for some species and biomes while negative for others. Despite some potential for reductions in schistosomiasis and localised reductions in malaria risk in the Asia/Pacific region, the majority of studies also indicate the implications of climate change will be largely adverse for infectious disease and other health threats. At the regional scale, impacts to water resources are decisively negative, although at smaller geographic scales, individual nations or subregions may experience increased water availability due to higher rainfall amounts and subsequent runoff. Uncertainty in future regional rainfall regimes means that crop agriculture and commercial forestry at both regional and national scales could experience benefits or losses, although some nations appear to be clear losers, such as Bangladesh and the Pacific Islands. Finally, the majority of studies indicate climate change will damage Asia/Pacific economies, although the potential for economic benefits in some subregions does appear in the literature.

It is important to note, however, that the impacts of climate change will not be isolated within individual sectors. In reality, the individual sectors identified above function as inter-connected units. Agriculture, water resources, and economic growth cannot truly be separated from the health of human populations and communities, and rising sea-levels and coastal erosion degrade coastal wetland ecosystems and habitat as readily as they undermine human settlements and enterprises. While is it possible to identify glimmers of hope for individual sectors in individual regions, when viewed collectively, the body of impact estimates reviewed for this report indicate a high degree of vulnerability and potential for significant adverse consequences. While communities may have the capacity to cope with individual sources of stress, managing multiple risks is a substantially more challenging undertaking. Yet it is quite likely that some nations and communities will indeed face climate challenges from multiple directions, and it is such cumulative effects that may prove most threatening to regional prosperity and sustainability.

One must also be mindful of the fact that such environmental challenges will manifest within the context of Asia/Pacific's ongoing social, economic, and environmental changes. Many areas within the region are already marginal for water availability and agricultural productivity. The water crisis and growing desertification in China is a case in point. Ecosystem degradation through resource exploitation and land-use change is a pervasive problem. Malaria and dengue are endemic in some areas. Variable economic performance suggests the potential for growing opportunity and capacity to manage future climate risk in some nations while others continue to struggle to simply cope with current climate variability. As a consequence, seemingly small changes in climate and marginally more challenging environmental conditions may be sufficient to exceed the coping ability of some communities or ecosystems. Alternatively, rapidly changing economies and dynamics of global trade may significantly reduce the sensitivity of human populations to climate change. For example, the tourism trade is currently transforming the economies of some small island nations, such as Vanuatu and Fiji. If pursued in a sustainable and equitable manner, such developments may help insulate some areas and populations from the adverse effects of climate change. Such competing assumptions about future socioeconomic change and adaptive capacity are often excluded from impact assessments, but will certainly have important implications for the fate of the Asia/Pacific region in a changing climate.

4.8 Climate Impacts and Human and Regional Security

The potential implications of climate change are increasingly being viewed within the larger context of human security. A recent report on the status and trends of conflict around the world "red-flagged" six nations in the Asia/Pacific region and "yellow-flagged" twelve due to security concerns stemming from a range of issues including armed conflict, human security, effectiveness of governments, and social capacity.¹⁴⁴ Generally, the Asia/Pacific region experiences a relatively high number of ethnopolitical and armed conflicts compared to other regions of the world.¹⁴⁵ How might future climate change interact with these existing regional security challenges?

Failures in food and water security, natural disasters, and progressive degradation of ecosystem goods and services are all factors that can act to undermine human security and threaten the health and sustainability of communities and entire nations. As a consequence, the aforementioned impacts of climate change on the Asia/Pacific region pose a challenge to human security across a range of geopolitical scales. According to Dupont and Pearman (2006),

"The reality is that climate change on the order of time frames predicted by climate scientists poses fundamental questions of human security, survival and the stability of nation states which necessitates judgments about political and strategic risk as well as economic cost."¹⁴⁶

Dupont and Pearman (2006), go on to identify a range of potential mechanisms by which climate change may jeopardise human security:

- Adverse effects on food, water and energy
- Unregulated migrations within the Asia/Pacific region
- Natural disasters
- Enduring health issues associated with poverty, food and water-borne illness and infectious disease
- Reductions in local and national carrying capacities, undermining legitimacy and confidence in government
- Climate surprises such as collapse of the global oceanic thermohaline circulation system or a collapse of ice sheets of Greenland and/or West Antarctica

The greater the extent to which societies are dependent on climate-sensitive enterprises, the greater the risk of threats to human security. Yet, climate change will not threaten human security in isolation. Undoubtedly, current socioeconomic conditions, environmental status, and geopolitical relationships within the region are critical factors affecting human vulnerability. Although climate change is quite likely to interact with such factors, the implications remain speculative and are likely to vary considerably from one location to another. Nevertheless, uncertainty regarding the rate and magnitude of future climate change as well as the potential for large-scale consequences suggests the need for a precautionary approach to the issue and careful

consideration of how interactions among climate change and human and national security may play out in the future.¹⁴⁶

One of the central issues with respect to climate change and security is that of human displacement and migration. Archaeological evidence indicates that human populations have been migrating within Pakistan and India for the past 10,000 years in response to changing dynamics of the summer monsoon.¹⁴⁷ Some may view such migrations as voluntary, adaptive processes. Yet, it has been hypothesised that unregulated migration in response to climate change-induced displacement may contribute to security issues as migrants move to new regions without social support mechanisms or sufficient resources to assimilate or establish stable communities. This may be particularly problematic if migration causes conflicts between migrant and native groups as a result of ethnic, cultural, or economic grievances.

Environmental displacements of human populations may result from three basic causes a) shortterm events such as natural disasters; b) long-term environmental change that induces individuals to move away from degraded environments that can no longer sustain the population; and c) development of new infrastructure for environmental management (e.g. dams). Nicholls (1995) estimated approximately 150 million individuals would be affected in various countries in the Asia/Pacific region by 1 metre of sea-level rise, ¹⁴⁸ and Myers (1993) estimated 75 million individuals would be displaced by climate change in Bangladesh, China, and India by 2050.¹⁴⁹ More recently, Tol (2002) estimated approximately 2.3 million migrants from South and Southeast Asia as a result of 1 metre of sea-level rise.¹⁵⁰ Meanwhile, damming of waterways in India and China has historically forced the displacement of millions of individuals – a consequence of environmental management efforts to provide drinking water, irrigation, and flood control. It is estimated that the recently completed Three Gorges Dam in China, for example, will ultimately displace 1.2 million people.¹⁵¹ Attempts to engineer the environment to compensate for future climate impacts could also drive future displacement of communities.

Although it is likely that climate change will ultimately force the displacement of some populations within the Asia/Pacific region, considerable uncertainty persists regarding the number of individuals that will be displaced, whether those displacements will drive internal or external migration, the extent to which human adaptation can reduce displacement, and the extent to which migration will jeopardise human security. Furthermore, very little is known regarding how climate change will interact with existing migration pressures and incentives emerging from economic globalisation and other forms of environmental degradation. Experience with prior natural disasters in different regions of the world demonstrates that various factors including access to information, assistance, and transport as well as social and cultural ties to land affect mobility and the capacity to migrate. Compare and contrast the natural disasters of hurricane Katrina which made landfall in New Orleans, USA in August, 2005 with the Indian Ocean Tsunami which devastated Indonesia, Thailand, and Sri Lanka in December of 2004. Whereas the survivors in Aceh, Indonesia remained in place, rebuilding and recovering with foreign assistance to the best of their ability, tens of thousands of displaced residents of New Orleans have relocated to other cities within the United States.

One likely outcome over the next few decades will be a growing build-up in the number of individuals within the Asia/Pacific region seeking regulated migration opportunities. For example, citizens of Samoa, Fiji, Tonga, Kiribati and Tuvalu are eligible to apply for New Zealand residence under the Samoa Quota and Pacific Access Category immigration policies.

During 2005 and 2006, approximately 17,000 applications were filed for residency under these programs, compared with just 4,000 in 2003.¹⁵² Although such interest in migration stems from a range of issues, not the least of which is economic opportunity, it is rather easy to see how climate change could contribute to similar interest and demand for migration options within nations where climate change exacerbates other issues to limit economic development and human security.

Growth in demand for migration, however, does not necessarily mean that opportunities for migration will be available or expand accordingly. This raises a number of challenging questions, particularly for small-island states where the long-term sustainability of some islands and communities is in doubt. At present, there is no legal or logistical framework within the region for addressing migration under these circumstances. Furthermore, given one-way flow of migrants out of trouble areas, it is difficult to foresee how conditions and opportunities for those that remain behind may be affected, particularly given that migration opportunities will likely fall preferentially to those with economic resources, education, and skills. Hence, increasing globalisation, mobility, and pressures including climate change within the Asia/Pacific region will likely require careful management to ensure equitable development continues despite shifting preferences and opportunities among the region's residents.

It has also been postulated that climate change impacts on human security could potentially become sufficiently severe as to induce, or at least contribute to, violence that threatens to elevate human security concerns to national and regional security issues.¹⁵³ Some of the commonly cited causes of violence and armed conflict include chronic poverty, sudden contraction of livelihoods, failed states, and involuntary relocation. Nevertheless, states with high rates of poverty and underperforming governments do not necessarily deteriorate into violence. Recent indicators suggest a general decline in armed conflict around the world over the past two decades, including developing nations affected by chronic poverty.¹⁴⁴ Barnett and Adger (2005) emphasise the importance of human agency in the development of violence, or, put simply, people choose to engage in violent behaviour.¹⁵⁴ Put in this light, the question becomes one of how might climate change increase the propensity for individuals to engage in violence. Unfortunately, there is currently little analysis that can aid in answering this question. Studies of violent conflict, however, suggest that violence emerges as a means of obtaining resources that are perceived to be otherwise unobtainable.¹⁵⁴ This economic rationality argument agrees well with the correlation between poverty and violent conflict in developing nations, although it does overlook other important considerations such as leadership, grievances, and group identities.

Barnett and Adger (2005) also emphasise the roll of the state in security, noting that the existence of a strong, effective liberal-democratic state reduces the risk of violent conflict.¹⁵⁴ Weak or failed states that are poor performers at providing security, equity, and opportunity for their citizenry are more likely to be rejected and challenged by the populace, contributing to an erosion of authority. Therefore,

*"understanding the way climate change may increase the risk of violent conflict therefore also requires understanding the way it may weaken (or strengthen) the capacity of States to provide or deny opportunities for people, and manage globalisation."*¹⁵⁴

Many of the impacts of climate change affect systems and sectors that are traditionally public goods or state sponsored (or at least state regulated) enterprises: ecosystem goods and services,

water resources, public health, infrastructure and land-use planning, and emergency management. As such, adverse climate impacts may be perceived by the public as failures in governance, lowering confidence in state institutions, particularly if climate change impacts occur in a larger context of weak statehood where there are existing grievances among the public. Although much of current thinking about climate change and security remains speculative, this points to a general path forward for the management of climate change – namely, continued economic development in conjunction with the maturation of strong, democratic governments that have the capacity to provide for basic human security and equality while managing the risks of climate change.

5. Regional Adaptation and Capacity-Building

5.1 Climate Adaptation: Terms and Definitions

Adaptation is a risk-reduction strategy for ameliorating the adverse effects of climate change on human and ecological communities and for capitalising upon potential opportunities. Specifically, adaptation refers to actions, policies, and measures that increase the coping capacity and resilience of systems to climate variability and climate change (see Box 5.1).¹⁵⁵ Whereas greenhouse gas mitigation ameliorates risk by reducing the magnitude and rate of climate change (see Section 1.2), adaptation reduces the residual risk between what is achieved via mitigation and that degree of climate change to which the Earth is already committed.

Box 5.1. Coping Capacity, Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Change

To better understand the benefits of adaptation for reducing adverse consequences of climate change, it is useful to consider the concepts of **coping range** and **resilience range**. Coping ranges represent the magnitude or rate of disturbance communities, enterprises, or ecosystems can tolerate without significant adverse impacts or the crossing of critical thresholds.¹⁵⁶ For example, flood defences are designed to cope with water levels up to a certain magnitude, often those estimated to be of an infrequent return period (e.g., 1 in 50 or 1 in 100 year flood levels). When water levels exceed this coping range, the network of flood protections fail as a viable means of defence and damages occur.

The **resilience range** is the magnitude of damage a system can tolerate and still autonomously return to its original state.¹⁵⁷ Qualities that convey resilience include the ability to mobilise equipment, personnel, and financial resources; the availability and effectiveness of emergency management efforts; and the ability to rebuild, recover, and restore affected systems to their original level of production or service delivery. Returning to the example of flood, once the coping capacity is exceeded, societal and environmental damage will occur, and the resilience range represents the magnitude of the flood from which systems can recover. To the extent that flood damages are minor and/or covered by insurance, individual property owners may be able to recover relatively quickly and resume prior activities. Once that resilience range is exceeded, however, a community may not be able to recover independently, and external intervention is required.

The goal of adaptation is to expand both the coping and resilience ranges of systems that are vulnerable to climate change. Expansion of the coping capacity increases the ability of systems to tolerate variability in the climate system without adverse effects, while expanding the resilience range enhances the capacity of systems to recover in the event that coping ranges

are exceeded and damages occur. Bolstering coping and resilience ranges is particularly important for developing nations such as those common within the Asia/Pacific region. Climate events of relatively moderate magnitude or frequency are sufficient to exceed coping ranges and cause damage, and when damages occur, the ability of nations to recover is also limited, slowing the rate of return and increasing the chance of persistent social, environmental, and economic harm. Recent experiences with natural disasters in the Asia/Pacific region including the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami and the 2005 Kashmir earthquake in Pakistan, though not related to climate change, demonstrate that developing nations have limited capacities to independently marshal aid to recover from disaster and significant external assistance was required to augment national resilience to put affected nations on the, sometimes lengthy, path to recovery.



Adaptation is implemented along two fundamental pathways.¹⁵⁸ Autonomous adaptation represents those actions that are taken as individual institutions, enterprises, and communities independently adjust to their perceptions about climate risk. Such autonomous actions may be short-term adjustments achieved via internal decision-making and are often considered to be reactive processes that occur from the bottom-up. In contrast, *anticipatory* adaptation represents more proactive decision-making, where expectations of long-term changes in the climate system are incorporated into present decision-making to prepare systems to cope with climate change well in advance of the those changes. Such anticipatory adaptation would likely progress form the top-down, through regulations, standards, and investment schemes. Such anticipatory thinking is particularly critical for decisions that have long-term implications, such as the design and citing of long-lived infrastructure.

The extent to which adaptation actions can be implemented to increase coping capacity and resilience is referred to as *adaptive capacity*. One of the central issues at play in adaptation is the fact that adaptive capacity varies considerably from one nation, or even one community, to another. Such variability in adaptive capacity is a function of differential capabilities within nations and communities with respect to financial resources, technology, expertise, and

economic diversification that are often called upon to implement adaptation actions. For example, low literacy rates, corruption, and stagnate economic growth are all recognised as indicators of low adaptive capacity that limit the ability of nations to recognise and prioritise climate change impacts, as well as plan, design and implement adaptation actions. As such, the issue of adaptive capacity is perhaps one of the most important considerations in preparing the Asia/Pacific region for climate change (see Section 5.3).

5.2 Summary of Adaptation Strategies

There are a wide-variety of specific adaptation strategies that may be effective in increasing the coping capacity and resilience of communities, nations, and ecosystems of the Asia/Pacific region (Table 5.1). The appropriateness of a particular strategy is likely to be highly place and time-dependent, as climate vulnerability varies considerably from one location to another, and climate risk may change over time. In addition, different communities and cultures may place greater or lesser value on different consequences and thus may have strong preferences for different types of adaptation measures.

The costs and benefits of a particular strategy may vary considerably and be difficult to quantify. Large-scale infrastructure such as new dams or coastal defences can be quite costly and require significant lead-up times for design and construction. In contrast, educating the public about climate change or the establishment of early warning systems may be relatively low-cost options that can be implemented rapidly. Examples of potential adaptation costs from Samoa sum to approximately 1.4 million US\$ per year, not including fixed investments in infrastructure updates.¹⁸⁸ While costing individual projects may be a rather straightforward process, estimating project benefits is a more difficult challenge. Over the near-term, distinguishing climate variability from anthropogenic climate change will continue to be quite difficult, and thus determining the return on an adaptation investment is likely to be somewhat speculative. Nevertheless, assessments of the economics of 'climate proofing' communities in the Cook Islands and the Federated States of Micronesia indicate that the benefits of investments in adaptation outweigh the costs, as they reduce damages from both current climate variability and extremes as well as future climate change.⁸⁷

Box 5.2. Six Reasons to Adapt Now¹⁵⁹

- 1) Climate change cannot be totally avoided.
- 2) Anticipatory and precautionary adaptation is more effective and less costly than forced, last-minute, emergency adaptation or retrofitting.
- 3) Climate change may be more rapid and more pronounced than current estimates suggest. Unexpected events are possible.
- 4) Immediate benefits can be gained from better adaptation to climate variability and extreme atmospheric events.
- 5) Immediate benefits also can be gained by removing maladaptive policies and practices.
- 6) Climate change brings opportunities as well as threats. Future benefits can result from climate change.

In light of such uncertainties, one potential path forward for adaptation is to identify 'no regrets' actions that reduce vulnerability to climate change but are low-risk in themselves in that they are not sensitive to future assumptions about the rate and magnitude of future climate change. Two types of approaches to 'no regrets' adaptation include:

Actions that reduce existing vulnerability – The most straightforward example of a 'no-regrets' adaptation strategy is one that reduces an existing climate vulnerability and therefore is likely to yield benefits regardless of future climate change. For example, early warning systems for heat waves will reduce current heat-related illness and death and continue to pay dividends as temperatures rise in the future. Such activities have a high probability of generating a positive return on the investment.

Mainstreaming climate change into existing activities – Many decisions that will affect future vulnerability to climate change are currently being made without necessarily explicit consideration of climate change. This is perhaps particularly true for some of the more rapidly growing economies in the Asia/Pacific region where major infrastructure and land-use decisions are being made at an ever-faster pace, and where international assistance routinely supports development projects. In many instances, it may be possible to reduce the vulnerability of a planning decision or project to climate change through small adjustments that are low-cost relative to the overall project, particularly if climate change may increase the risk of failure or premature renovation and/or retirement of assets.

The ability of adaptation to offset adverse impacts of climate change will depend upon the efficiency of implementation, the region and sector under consideration, and the rate and magnitude of future climate change. For example, agricultural and plantation forestry systems can be directly manipulated through management practices (nutrients, irrigation, planting times and distributions) that can increase their capacity to cope with climate change. However, natural ecosystems often lack such management levers to increase coping capacity, and thus human attempts to adapt such systems must rely largely upon increasing resilience of ecosystems so that they can recover from climate-related stress and disturbance.

Coasta	I Communities
•	Identify vulnerable areas, communities, and infrastructure
•	Channel future development around "high" "moderate" and "low growth" areas
•	Develop coastal zone management plans
•	Construct new, or modify existing, coastal defences
•	Design infrastructure to accommodate sea-level rise
•	Manage progressive retreat from the coastline
Public	Health
•	Develop early warning systems for extreme weather events (e.g., flood, cyclones, heat waves)
•	Establishment or bolstering of public health institutions
•	Research and development regarding disease transmission and prevention
•	Improving access of individuals and communities to medical and public health agencies
•	Education in disease prevention
Ecosys	tems and Biodiversity
•	Establish conservation areas and networks
•	Invest in natural resource management plans
•	Manage land-use to reduce environmental harm
•	Identify at-risk ecosystems and species
•	Development of aquaculture and plantation forestry over exploitation of native resources

Table 5.1. Adaptation Strategies for Climate Change

Water	Resources
•	Develop new water resources and storages (where possible)
•	Invest in climate and catchment monitoring and research
•	Rehabilitate existing water supply and transport systems
•	Implement demand management measures
•	Increase recycling and reuse of waste water
•	Invest in water saving technologies/methods
Agricu	Iture
•	Change farming practices
•	Change timing of farm operations
•	Use different crop varieties
•	Review governmental and institutional policies and programs
•	Research new practices and technologies (e.g., land-use planning, biotechnology)
•	Development drought management and relief protocols
Disast	ers and Emergency Management
•	Diversify economic activity to reduce reliance upon climate sensitive sectors
•	Develop emergency management plans for climate hazards
•	Develop early warning systems for extreme weather events (e.g., flood, cyclones, heat waves)
•	Expand availability and use of risk-spreading institutions (e.g., insurance, government assistance)
•	Identify critical activities and infrastructure for protection (e.g., health services, energy, transport, communication)
Public	Awareness and Education
•	Facilitate public awareness about climate change and its potential impacts
•	Communicate with public and stakeholders regarding risk management decisions and programs
•	Identify pathways for individuals to be active participants in the sustainable management of the environment and its natural resources

The faster the rate at which the climate changes or the greater the change in climate extremes, the more difficult and costly it will be for both human and natural systems to adapt. Invariably there are limits to the ability of some systems to adapt. For example, major species extinction events are anticipated as climate-induced changes in species habitat occur more quickly than species can adapt.¹⁶⁰ Similarly, natural disasters are by definition events that overwhelm the coping capacity of communities and nations, and it is difficult to imagine adaptation actions expanding the capacity of communities to simply cope with a major cyclone or flood event. Hence, adaptation actions which also expand resilience are an important second line-of-defence necessary for preparing communities and nations of the Asia/Pacific for the coming era of enhanced variability and extremes associated with climate change.

5.3 Adaptation in the Context of Sustainable Development

Perhaps the most significant challenge for implementing adaptation strategies in developing nations such as those of the Asia/Pacific region is not so much identifying vulnerable systems or potential adaptation actions and measures. Rather, the limiting step is establishing and growing the capacity for nations to undertake adaptation, or, in other words, focusing attention on the adaptive capacity component of vulnerability (see Section 5.1). As stated by Ribot et al. (1996),

"It is not that the risk is unknown, not that the methods for coping do not exist...rather inability to cope is due to lack of—or systematic alienation from—resources needed to guard against these events."¹⁶¹

When presented in such a manner, the issue of adaptation becomes closely aligned with that of sustainable development. In fact, in the absence of significant gains in sustainable economic development it is difficult to envision many of the developing nations within the region successfully managing the risks future climate change will bring. Quite clearly, many nations require assistance and resources simply to cope with, and bolster resilience to, existing climate challenges. Without significant boosts in their capacity, these nations will be struggling to manage greater threats with potentially diminished resources.

What determines a nation's capacity to adapt? There is in fact no fixed set of characteristics that dictate adaptive capacity. A number of broad indicators have been developed that suggest a greater or lesser capacity to adapt, although a variety of more proximal measures may be used in the actual quantification of adaptive capacity (Table 5.2).¹⁶² Clearly, improving adaptive capacity involves much more than simply executing a particular adaptation project, such as flood defences, designed to reduce climate risk. Instead, it is fundamentally a process of building working institutions that have knowledge and ability to manage the process of climate adaptation as well as generating the resources (human, technical, and financial) to implement adaptation actions. Hence improving the adaptive capacity of Asia/Pacific nations requires continued economic development that leads to the establishment of robust institutions, infrastructure, and the growth of human and financial capital. Rather than adaptation to climate change being a separate venture pursued in isolation, ideally it should one that is 'mainstreamed' into existing development activities and decision-making.

_	
Ultimate Indicator	Proximal Indicator
A stable and prosperous economy	 National and per capita GDP
	 GDP growth rates
	 Degree of economic diversification
Access to technology	 Internet access and usage
	 Level of technology education among the
	public
	 Investments in technology research and development
	 Efficiency of deployed technologies
Clearly define institutional	 Institutional authorities on climate change
responsibilities with respect to	 Extent of political corruption
adaptation decision-making and	 Checks and balances on political
Implementation	decision-making
Access to information on climate	 Investments in impacts and adaptation
change impacts and mechanisms for	research
adaptation	Number of scientific institutions
Equitable distribution of resources	Number of publications
Equitable distribution of resources	Democratic institutions
and decision-making powers	 Gender equity in economic and political affairs
Maintenance of existing adaptive	 Robustness of emergency management
capacity within systems	protocols
	 Presence of disaster relief and risk- spreading mechanisms
	 Robustness of public health services
	 Experience managing climate variability

 Table 5.2. Indicators of Adaptive Capacity¹⁶²

In fact, because failure to consider climate risk in other decision-making activities, such as the design of infrastructure, can increase vulnerability to climate change, climate change adaptation is increasingly recognised as a fundamental issue at play in the pursuit of sustainable development. The World Bank, for example, recently produced a report regarding pathways for enhancing climate risk management in its economic development investments.¹⁶³ However, as

with any other decision-making event, care must be taken to ensure successful outcomes – poor implementation of adaptation projects at best leads to limited reduction in climate risk and at worst may waste considerable resources and time. Furthermore, some adaptation actions may actually be maladaptive in that they reduce vulnerability over the short-term but increase vulnerability over the long-term, or, alternatively, reduce vulnerability in one area or sector only to increase the vulnerability of others. For example, large-scale structural engineering to climate change that alters the natural landscape may reduce the resilience of natural ecosystems to climate change or threaten the livelihoods of those who live on the land.

5.4 Balancing Mitigation and Adaptation

Multiple studies of future greenhouse gas emissions and the resulting climate change indicate that global emissions reductions on the order of 30–55% below 1990 levels are needed over the next century to avoid 'dangerous' climate change.^{10,17} Yet another set of literature emphasises the importance of adaptation in the assessment of climate impacts and its role in reducing vulnerability and future climate risk. Where do linkages between adaptation and mitigation lie?

While originally presented as 'either-or' options for addressing climate change (with advocates aligning on either side), recent years have seen much greater acknowledgement of the need for both mitigation and adaptation in the portfolio of policy responses. The existing commitment to climate change, and the adverse impacts that will result, necessitates adaptation actions to reduce vulnerability and risk. Nevertheless, greenhouse gas mitigation is necessary if the rate and magnitude of climate change is to be reduced, and for systems, such as coral reefs, with critical climate thresholds than cannot be readily expanded via adaptation, mitigation may be the only option for preventing system collapse.

Table 5.3. Historical Responsibility for Global CO ₂ Emissions (1850- 2000) ¹⁶⁴								
Тор	-10	Bottom-10						
Nation	Responsibility (%)	Nation	Responsibility (%)					
United States	29.64	Seychelles	<0.01					
European Union ⁿ	27.06	Bhutan	<0.01					
Russian Federation	8.23	Solomon Islands	<0.01					
China	7.24	Maldives	<0.01					
Canada	2.14	Nauru	<0.01					
India	2.07	Samoa	<0.01					
Australia	1.05	Vanuatu	<0.01					
Indonesia	0.48	Tonga	<0.01					
Thailand	0.24	Kiribati	<0.01					
Pakistan	0.18	Cook Islands	<0.01					

Recent work indicates that there are trade-offs between adaptation and mitigation. Some adaptation actions, such as desalination to augment water supplies or increased air conditioning to reduce heat-related risks, are energy-intensive and thus may be at odds with mitigation efforts. On the other hand, afforestation, reforestation and forest conservation initiatives may help mitigate emissions while improving the resilience of ecological systems to climate change. There is growing interest within the international community in the facilitation of adaptation in the developing world. This creates the potential for competition between investments in mitigation (e.g., through the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's Clean Development Mechanism) and adaptation in the form of development assistance.¹⁶⁵ Whereas both strategies are designed to fundamentally reduce the risks associated with climate change, mitigation and adaptation have different costs and benefits in different regions of the world. For

ⁿ Individual nations within the European Union also carry a relatively high responsibility for historical emissions, but are represented here as a collective unit.

example, assuming a finite supply of financial resources for international efforts to address climate change, Tol (2006) has recently suggested that the balance of costs and benefits to the world's least developed nations may favour international investments in adaptation via development assistance. This assumes that the costs incurred by the developed world for achieving emissions reductions will reduce public and private investment in the least developed nations, constricting economic growth. These impacts, at least in economic terms, may be greater than those realised from the impacts of climate change. Of course, the legitimacy of this argument is dependent upon assumptions regarding the costs of mitigation as well as the market consequences of climate impacts in different global regions. It also overlooks the potential for local critical thresholds that, if exceeded, could devastate local economies independent of external market drivers. Nevertheless, it identifies the need for clear articulation of goals and careful planning in the pursuit of mitigation and adaptation.

The picture becomes somewhat clearer when one considers investments by individual nations. At present, most of the nations within the Asia/Pacific region, with the exception of China and India, are relatively minor contributors to global greenhouse gas emissions due to low per capita emissions (Section 8), and historically, all of the Asia/Pacific nations bear a relatively minor responsibility for climate change (Table 5.3). While the United States, the European Union, and the Russian Federation collectively account for approximately 65% of historical CO_2 emissions; India and China account for just over 9%; Australia for 1%; and the remaining nations in the Asia/Pacific region for much less than 1% each. As such, particularly for small greenhouse gas emitters, investing in mitigation yields little in the way of direct benefits, as the effect on global emissions and climate change will be small to negligible. Meanwhile, investments in economic development and adaptation which target capacity building and expansion of coping capacity and resilience are more likely to generate direct and immediate returns.

The above generalisations do not necessarily hold for the Asia/Pacific's largest economies, China and India. Despite modest historical responsibility, these nations are currently among the world's largest greenhouse gas emitters (accounting for approximately 20% of 2002 emissions) and are projected to exceed the United States in the near future.^{164,166} The relatively large contribution of such nations to global emissions suggests that the benefits (both local and global) of national investments in mitigation are relatively larger for these compared to other Asia/Pacific nations. Nevertheless, despite large economies and associated emissions, the vulnerability of these nations remains high, as reflected in their low per capita GDPs, and thus there are still significant benefits to be realised from adaptation and capacity building in these nations.

Rather than such analyses forcing a decision between adaptation and mitigation, they highlight the importance of having either a) clearly delineated and separate responsibilities for greenhouse gas mitigation and adaptation among financing institutions; or b) strategic coordination between mitigation and adaptation efforts to maximise benefits. In addition, efforts should be taken to ensure that actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in either developed or developing nations are not paid for by reducing development assistance. The latest report on the United Nation's Millennium Development Goals indicates significant progress must still be realised within the Asia/Pacific region in areas of reducing poverty and hunger, infant mortality, combating disease, and environmental sustainability.²⁶ In some instances, progress has stagnated or is even deteriorating. Development assistance that builds adaptive capacity will therefore continue to be an important tool for reducing climate risk in the region.

6. Knowledge Gaps

This review of potential climate change and environmental impacts in the Asia/Pacific region highlights a number of knowledge gaps that should be targeted by future research and assessment work.

- 1) Climate Change, Monsoons, and ENSO While existing climate models enable one to predict with confidence that average temperatures in the Asia/Pacific region will increase over the 21st century, the implications of climate change for rainfall are less certain. Some consistent patterns of potential rainfall change emerged from the current study, particularly reductions in winter rainfall in South and Southeast Asia, with general increases in rainfall in other areas and seasons. These rainfall patterns are consistent with changes in the dynamics of the Asia/Pacific monsoons. However, basic research and applied climate modelling of the effects of climate change on monsoons and the potential effects of regional atmospheric aerosols continues to develop. Furthermore, climate model simulations do not agree regarding important modes of climate variability, such as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) and the frequency and/or intensity of El Niño events, which will influence the occurrence of extreme heat, droughts, rainfall, and sea-levels in the Asia/Pacific region.
- 2) Risk of Ice Sheet Loss Sea-level rise emerges from the current study as a key concern throughout much of the Asia/Pacific region. While sea-level rise estimates span a wide range, like temperature, climate models indicate that increases in global sea level are certain. Yet to date, most projections of sea-level rise (including those included in this study) do not account for the potential irreversible loss of the large ice sheets of Greenland or West Antarctica. Recent evidence from Greenland suggests an acceleration of the melt rate, which, if sustained, would have implications for Asia/Pacific nations and coastlines, raising expectations of 21st century sea level rise. In addition, such concerns highlight the fact that climate change impacts in other parts of the world may nevertheless have significant consequences for the Asia/Pacific region.
- 3) Impact Assessment Knowledge of climate change impacts throughout the Asia/Pacific region is not evenly distributed. Limited information is available for a number of nations, assessments are not routinely updated, and estimates of impacts may be available for a relatively small number of sectors or ecosystems. Such gaps in information regarding regional impacts of climate change are a symptom of the limited capacity that exists with the region for simply understanding climate risk, much less coping with climate variability and climate change or implementing strategies to effectively reduce risk. Greater investment in impact assessment, and particularly, risk analysis that can elucidate the likelihoods of different regional climate impacts would be of great benefit.
- 4) Socioeconomic Change The Asia/Pacific region is currently experiencing significant change in a range of areas: social, cultural, economic, and political. Some of these changes have been beneficial, increasing economic opportunity, education, and standards of living for many individuals. Others have been more problematic, degrading environmental assets and natural resources, stifling economic growth, and undermining human security. The effects of climate and environmental change, both now and in the future, are inextricably linked to these processes of economic and social change. There is much uncertainty regarding how current trends will progress in the decades ahead. Yet, success or failure in the development of prosperous, democratic, sustainable communities and nations within the region may be one of the most critical determinants of future vulnerability to climate change.

7. Conclusions

Undoubtedly, there are many considerations in the regional implications of climate change that merit more detailed analysis. Nevertheless, a number of key conclusions can be drawn from the preceding discussion. These conclusions are discussed further below and are organised around five central themes:

- 1) The Asia/Pacific region has a high degree of vulnerability to climate change, resulting from pre-existing socioeconomic conditions, exposure to a range of climate hazards, and potentially significant changes in future climate conditions over the next century. Climate modelling indicates temperature increases in the Asia/Pacific region on the order of 0.5-2°C by 2030 and 1-7°C by 2070. In addition, models generally indicate increasing rainfall throughout much of the region in the decades ahead, including greater rainfall during the important summer monsoon season. However, winter rainfall is projected to decline in South and Southeast Asia, suggesting increased aridity associated with the winter monsoon. The region will be affected by a rise in global sea level of approximately 3-16 cm by 2030 and 7-50 cm by 2070 in conjunction with regional sea level variability. Other modelling studies have also indicated the potential for more intense tropical cyclones and changes in important modes of climate variability such as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation.
- 2) A review of studies estimating how various environmental and economic sectors of the Asia/Pacific region respond to climate change indicates that adverse impacts will dominate. Perhaps the region's greatest vulnerability is to sea-level rise, which all studies indicate will erode and inundate coastlines and wetlands and displace communities. The natural ecosystems of the Asia/Pacific region will face increasing pressure from human activities and land use change, reducing the resilience of mangroves, coral reefs, tropical forests, and montane communities to rising temperatures and sea levels and changes in rainfall. Shifts in the vectors for dengue and malaria may expose millions of additional individuals to disease, while increased climate variability and intensification of tropical cyclones may increase the risk of injury and death. Changes in the availability of water resources are anticipated, driven by regional population growth and winter reductions in runoff in South and Southeast Asia and increases in runoff in other seasons and areas, particularly the Pacific Islands. Impacts on agricultural yields will be highly variable from one location to another, but reductions are likely in Bangladesh and the Pacific Islands. The net effect of climate change on regional and national economies is projected to be largely negative as agricultural revenue declines and other funds are channelled to address water resource and coastal management issues.
- 3) Existing challenges to human security in the Asia/Pacific region may be significantly exacerbated by the broad range of impacts that climate change may bring. Chronic food and water insecurity and epidemic disease may impede economic development in some nations, while degraded landscapes and inundation of populated areas by rising seas may ultimately displace communities and millions of individuals forcing intra and inter-state migration. The implications of such challenges to human security are difficult to anticipate, but there is currently little

awareness of the implications and regional management frameworks for addressing climate change-induced security and migration issues are lacking.

- 4) Climate risk in the Asia/Pacific region may be ameliorated through two complementary strategies: greenhouse gas mitigation and adaptation. Mitigation will reduce the magnitude of climate change to which the region is exposed over the long-term, but will do little to address climate risk over the near-term, particularly in the least developed nations where climate vulnerability is substantial yet historical responsibility for global greenhouse gas emissions is quite small. Therefore, while global mitigation efforts progress, investments must be made in increasing the capacity of Asia/Pacific nations to adapt to climate variability and climate change. This may be most effectively achieved by mainstreaming climate change adaptation into development assistance that addresses developing world needs with respect to governance, education, health, technology, security, and disaster management.
- 5) Effective implementation of adaptation and capacity building projects is key to reducing future vulnerability of Asia/Pacific nations to climate change. This necessitates the development and maintenance of institutions and human capital that are knowledgeable regarding climate change and capable of effective decision-making, resource allocation, and risk management. At present, there are numerous examples of decision-making that will increase, rather than decrease, the future vulnerability of Asia/Pacific ecosystems and communities to climate change. Reigning in such behaviours and devising sustainable environmental management practices that harmonise economic development and wealth generation with natural resource management and vulnerability reduction are core regional challenges.

8. Appendix I. Vital Statistics for Asia/Pacific Nations

Table 8.1. Vital Statistics for Nations in the Asia/Pacific Region ¹⁶⁷									
Nation	Population in thousands (% Growth Rate)	% Urban Population	GDP in millions US\$ (% Growth Rate)	GDP Per Capita in US\$ (% Growth Rate)	Agriculture as a % of GDP	% Access to Safe Water	% Adult Literacy	% Land Area as Crops	P/Capita Emissions CO ₂ (tons)
Australia	20,155 (1.1)	92.7	443,397 (3.9)	23,249 (2.7%)	3.5	100	-	6.6	17.3
Bangladesh	141,822(1.9)	25	51,380 (5.1)	399 (3.1%)	22.7	75	40.6%	65.2	0.2
Bhutan	2,163(2.2)	9.1	511 (6.4)	264 (4.2%)	33.9	62	-	3.5	0.6
Brunei Darussalam	374 (2.3)	77.6	4,453 (2.6)	13,352 (0.2%)	-	-	91.6%	1.3	-
Cambodia	14,071 (2.0)	19.7	3,024 (5.0)	237 (2.7%)	35.6	34	68.7%	21.6	0.0
China	1,315,844 (0.6)	40.5	1,308,310 (7.9)	799 (7.0%)	15.4	77	82.8%	16.6	2.7
Fiji	848 (0.9)	53.2	1,717(2.3)	2,118 (1.2%)	16.2	-	93.2%	15.6	1.5
French Polynesia	257 (1.7)	51.9	3,932 (1.5)	16,653 (- 0.3%)	-	-	-	6.3	-
India	1,103,371 (1.6)	28.7	554,475 (5.7)	543 (3.9%)	22.7	86	58.0%	57.1	1.0
Indonesia	222,781 (1.3)	47.9	172,180 (0.6)	823 (- 0.7%)	17.5	78	87.3%	18.5	1.4

Nation	Population in thousands (% Growth Rate)	% Urban Population	GDP in millions US\$ (% Growth Rate)	GDP Per Capita in US\$ (% Growth Rate)	Agriculture as a % of GDP	% Access to Safe Water	% Adult Literacy	% Land Area as Crops	P/Capita Emissions CO ₂ (tons)
Laos	5,924 (2.3)	21.6	1,594 (6.0)	302 (3.6%)	52.8	43	65.6	4.2	0.2
Malaysia	25,347 (1.9)	65.1	84,944 (4.0)	3,694 (1.6)	9.0	95	87.9	23.1	5.2
Maldives	329 (2.5)	29.7	394 (5.4)	1,359 (2.5)	-	84	97.0	30.2	1.8
Mauritius	1,245 (1.0)	43.8	4,307 (5.4)	3,633 (4.4)	7.0	100	84.8	52.2	2.4
Micronesia	110 (0.6)	30.0	175 (-1.0)	1,633 (-0.9)	-	94	-	-	-
Myanmar	50,519 (1.1)	30.6	23,947 (5.5)	690 (4.1)	57.2	80	85.0	16.2	0.2
New	237 (1.9)	61.6	2,941(0.5)	13,661 (-	3.5	-	-	0.7	-
Papua New Guinea	5,887 (2.1)	13.2	5,145 (0.4)	971 (-2.1)	26.9	39	64.6	1.9	0.5
Philippines	83,054 (1.8)	62.6	58,735 (3.4)	775 (1.4)	14.7	85	95.1	35.7	1.0
Samoa	185 (0.8)	22.5	245 (3.9)	1,382 (2.8)	-	88	98.7	45.6	0.8
Singapore	4,326 (1.5)	100.0	75,154 (5.6)	18,707 (2.7)	0.1	100	92.5	1.6	13.1
Solomon Islands	478 (2.6)	17.1	271 (-1.9)	648 (-4.7%)	-	70	-	2.6	0.4
Sri Lanka	20,743 (0.9)	21.0	13,018 (4.5)	656 (3.5)	20.1	78	91.9	29.6	0.5
Thailand	64,233 (0.9)	32.5	130,715 (0.4)	2,128 (-0.6)	9.4	85	95.7	35.8	2.9
Vanuatu	211 (2.0)	23.7	220 (1.0)	1,151 (-1.1)	15.1	60	-	9.8	0.4
Vietnam	84,238 (1.4)	26.7	13,452 (6.7)	171 (5.3)	23.0	73	92.7	25.9	0.7

9. APPENDIX II. 2004/2005 AUSTRALIAN DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE TO ASIA/PACIFIC NATIONS

Table 9.1. Development Assistance Provided by Australia to Asia/Pacific Nations (2004/2005) ²⁷							
Nation	Assistance (millions AUS\$)	Nation	Assistance (millions AUS\$)	Nation	Assistance (millions AUS\$)		
Bangladesh	32.9	Mongolia	3.0	Thailand	13.4		
Burma	11.3	Nauru	18.2	Tonga	12.8		
Cambodia	38.2	Nepal	4.8	Tuvalu	4.5		
China	49.8	Other Pacific Islands ^a	4.0	Vanuatu	28.7		
East Timor	64.2	Pakistan	5.2	Vietnam	74.4		
Fiji	28.0	Papua New Guinea	366.6				
India	17.2	Philippines	62.5				
Indonesia	270.3	Samoa	18.6				
Kiribati	10.9	Solomon Islands	171.5				
Laos	19.4	Sri Lanka	39.8				
^a Includes Federated States of Micronesia, Marshall Islands, Palau, Niue, Tokelau and the Cook Islands.							

10. APPENDIX III. MODEL SELECTION CRITERIA

Twenty-three different climate model simulations were undertaken for the *Fourth Assessment Report* of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. These model simulations were acquired from the Program for Climate Model Diagnosis and Intercomparison and used to generate climate change projections for the Asia/Pacific region.⁶⁷ These model simulations were individually evaluated with respect to their abilities to faithfully reproduce observed seasonal patterns of mean sea-level pressure, temperature, and rainfall over the Asia/Pacific (60–180°E, 55°N–25°S) region for a 30-year period (1961-1990).

Table 10.1.Twenty-Three Climate Models Available for Generating ClimateChange Projections for the Asia/Pacific Region. The Sixteen ModelsSelected After Applying Reliability Criteria are Shown in Bold.

Climate Modelling Group & Country	Model	Horizontal
	Symbols	resolution
		(km)
Beijing Climate Center, China	BCC	~200-
Bjerknes Centre for Climate Research, Norway	BCCR	~200
Canadian Climate Centre, Canada	CCMA T47	~300
Canadian Climate Centre, Canada	CCMA T63	~200
Meteo-France, France	CNRM	~200
CSIRO, Australia	CSIRO-MARK3	~200
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Lab, USA	GFDL 2.0	~300
Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Lab, USA	GFDL 2.1	~300
NASA/Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA	GISS-AOM	~300
NASA/Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA	GISS-E-H	~400
NASA/Goddard Institute for Space Studies, USA	GISS-E-R	~400
LASG/Institute of Atmospheric Physics. China	IAP	~300
Institute of Numerical Mathematics, Russia	INMCM	~400
Institut Pierre Simon Laplace, France	IPSL	~300
Centre for Climate Research, Japan	MIROC-H	~125
Centre for Climate Research, Japan	MIROC-M	~300
Meteorological Research Institute, Japan	MRI	~300
Max Planck Institute for meteorology DKRZ,	MPI-ECHAM5	~200
Germany		
Meteorological Institute of the University of Bonn,	MIUB	~400
Meteorological Research Institute of KMA,		
Germany/Korea		
National Center for Atmospheric Research, USA	NCAR-CCSM	~150
National Center for Atmospheric Research, USA	NCAR-PCM	~300
Hadley Centre, UK	HADCM3	~300
Hadley Centre, UK	HADGEM1	~125

Two statistical metrics, pattern correlation and root mean square error, were used to measure model performance. A pattern correlation coefficient of 1.0 indicates a perfect match between the observed and simulated spatial pattern, and a root mean square error of 0.0 indicates a perfect match between the observed and simulated magnitudes. Since the selected area is large with strong spatial variations, root mean square errors for temperature and rainfall among the different models were relatively large. Similarly, for rainfall, pattern correlations for most of the climate models were less than 0.8. Therefore, only the pattern correlations were used to select a set of models. Models corresponding with pattern correlations greater than 0.8 for mean sea level pressure and temperature, and greater than 0.6 for rainfall were selected, resulting in a set

of 16 models (Table 10.1). Simulations of these models were used to construct temperature and rainfall projections for the Asia/Pacific region using pattern scaling techniques (Section 3). Additional information regarding model performance with respect to each of these criteria is provided below.



Figure 10.1. Pattern correlation and root mean square errors for observed versus model seasonal mean sea level pressure, temperature, and rainfall for the Asia/Pacific region. Details of models are given in Table 1. In these diagrams, values in the top-left indicate better performance, while values in the bottom-right indicate poorer performance.

Realistic simulations of mean sea level pressure patterns are important as they are implicitly linked to atmospheric circulation (i.e. wind, moisture, etc) patterns. Figure 10.1 shows pattern correlations and root mean square errors for the Asia/Pacific region for December to February

(DJF), March to May (MAM), June to August (JJA) and September to November (SON). The closer a model result lies to the top left corner, the better its performance, with strong pattern correlations and small root mean square errors, while models in the bottom right corner are poorer performers. Strong correlations, greater than 0.8, between observed and simulated patterns suggest that most of the models capture large-scale circulation features of this region. However, models such as BCC, GISS E-R and IPSL show poor performance in most cases.

Pattern correlations and root mean square errors for seasonal temperature are shown in Figure 10.1. This figure shows that most of the models capture the observed spatial pattern of temperature over the Asia Pacific region very well, yielding a pattern correlation of at least 0.9 for all seasons. However, the root mean square error exceeds 3°C for some models in DJF. In JJA, there is a considerable spread in the pattern correlation among different models that could be related to the influence of the summer monsoon and the topography of this region. Other seasons show small variations.

Rainfall simulations are more complex than the simulations of mean sea level pressure and temperature as rainfall is strongly influenced by dynamical and topographical characteristics of the region. Temporal and spatial patterns of rainfall during JJA are influenced by the summer monsoon, and rainfall patterns during DJF are influenced by the winter monsoon. Rainfall associated with convective systems dominate MAM, and in SON, rainfall is received from thunderstorms and tropical cyclones. Figure 10.1 depicts the pattern correlations and root mean square errors for observed and simulated rainfall. Pattern correlations are relatively high in all seasons, greater than 0.6 for most of the models.

11. APPENDIX IV. SECTORAL IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE

The following tables present individual estimates of climate change impacts to a range of sectors in the Asia/Pacific region. A separate table is presented for each sector, and each table is organised around three categories of increasing temperature or sea-level rise, with subdivisions indicating whether an estimate applies to an individual nation or a regional aggregation of nations. Each estimate is also accompanied by a colour-coded circle which represents the following:

• - Climate change impact is adverse, causing damages or losses to the indicated sector.

• – Climate change impact may be beneficial or adverse, depending upon assumptions about climatic change and system responses.

• – Climate change impact is beneficial, causing gains or opportunities to the indicated sector.

11.1 Coastal Communities

US\$/year¹⁸⁸

Table 11.1. Estimated Impacts of Sea-Level Rise on Asia/Pacific Coastal **Communities** <30 cm 370 ha of land inundated in Viti Levu, Fiji worth 0.3 million US\$/year¹⁸⁸ National Studies • 18% of land area affected on Buariki, Kiribati and 0% of land affected on Bikenibeu¹⁸⁸ 1,700 km² of land area in **Pakistan** affected³⁷ • 69 – 91% of land area in Mekong Delta, Vietnam affected by sealevel rise during flood season¹⁶⁸ 30-50 cm 0.2 – 4.0 billion US\$/year in economic losses in Asia^{206,217} 27,768 km of shoreline affected in East Asia with direct costs of 781 **Regional Studies** million US\$/year¹⁶⁹ 29,808 km of shoreline affected in Southeast Asia with direct costs of 226 million US\$/year¹⁶⁹ • 77,018 km of shoreline affected in **Oceania** with direct costs of 1,419 million US\$/year¹⁶⁹ Less than 1 billion US\$/year in economic losses in Oceania^{206,217} 15,568 km² of land area lost in **Bangladesh** affecting 12.1 million National Studies people¹⁷⁰ 13.6 – 19.0 billion US\$ in total costs from sea-level rise in Pearl Delta region, China¹⁷¹ 3,530 ha of land area inundated in Viti Levu, Fiji worth 0.5 million
		34,000 km ² of land area lost in Indonesia affecting 3.1 million people ¹⁷⁰
		30% of land area affected on Buariki, Kiribati and 3% of land area affected on Bikenibeu ¹⁸⁸
		 6.6 – 12.4 million US\$/year in losses in Tarawa, Kiribati (158 – 374.6 million US\$ during 1:14 year storm)¹⁸⁸
		86 – 100% of land area in Mekong Delta, Vietnam affected by sea- level rise during flood season ¹⁶⁸
>50 cm		618,000 – 858,000 km ² of land area inundated in the Asia/Pacific region affecting 200 – 450 million people ¹⁷²
	S	150 million people displaced from various nations across the Asia/Pacific region ¹⁴⁸
	tudie	2.4 million emigrants from Central Asia ¹⁵⁰
	nal S	1.8 billion US\$/year in costs to Central Asia from sea-level rise ¹⁵⁰
	Regio	305 billion US\$ in total sea-level rise protection costs in South and Southeast Asia
		2.3 million emigrants from South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰
		3.3 billion US\$/year in costs to South and Southeast Asia from sea- level rise ¹⁵⁰
		10% of dry land lost in Bangladesh and 5% of GDP ¹⁷³
		29,846 km ² of land area lost in Bangladesh affecting 32.8 million people ¹⁷⁰
		38.9 – 67.1 billion US\$ in total costs from sea-level rise in Pearl Delta region, China ¹⁷¹
		5,763 km ² of land area lost in India affecting 12.7 million people ¹⁷⁰
	tudies	80 – 85% of land area affected on Buariki, Kiribati and 54 – 80% of land affected on Bikenibeu ¹⁸⁸
	tional S	69.7 million US\$/year in losses in Tarawa, Kiribati (497.3 during 1:14 year storm) ¹⁸⁸
	Na	18% of dry land lost in Macau and 10% of GDP ¹⁷³
		7,000 km ² of land area lost in Malaysia affecting ~500,000 people ³⁷
		77% of dry land lost in the Maldives and 122% of GDP ¹⁷³
		•65 ha of land area inundated in Majuro Atoll, Marshall Islands ¹⁷⁴
		9 – 96 metres of shoreline retreat in Yap Island, Micronesia ¹⁷⁵
		21% of dry land lost in Micronesia and 12% of GDP ¹⁷³

• 10.3 – 37.3 km ² of land area inundated in Tongatapu island, Tonga ¹⁷⁶
40,000 km ² of land area lost in Vietnam affecting 26.9 million people ¹⁷⁰
15% of dry land lost in Vietnam and 8% of GDP ¹⁷³

11.2 Ecosystems and Biodiversity

Table 11.2. Impacts to Asia/Pacific Ecosystems and Biodiversity				
+<2℃	Regional Studies	Threshold for large-scale damages to coral reef ecosystems in the Asia/Pacific region exceeded ¹¹⁶		
		 Risk of local extinction of coral reefs between 10°–15°S in the Indian Ocean¹⁷⁷ 		
		Mangrove area in Pacific Island nations declines by 1% ¹²¹		
	National Studies	15 – 40% of forest and wetland area lost to sea-level rise in Sundarbans, Bangladesh ¹⁷⁷		
+2-4℃	S	 Grassland productivity declines by 40 – 90% in Arid and Semi- Arid Asia¹⁷⁸ 		
	udie	High probability of increase in wildfire risk in Central Asia ¹⁷⁹		
	yional St	 Vegetation biomass in Central Asia and the Pacific Islands increases, but decreases in northeast India and southern Southeast Asia¹⁸⁰ 		
	Reç	• 4 – 8% of species extinct in tropical woodlands and forests (global estimate): $19 - 24\%$ of species extinct in temperate forests ¹⁸¹		
		• 40% increase in net coral calcification rate (global estimate) ¹⁸²		
		75 – 100% of forest and wetland area lost to sea-level rise in Sundarbans, Bangladesh ¹⁷⁷		
	dies	Broad-leaved forests in East China may shift northward by approximately 3° of latitude (~300+ km) ¹⁸³		
	onal Stu	 Significant expansion of forest and shrubland biomes and contraction of temperate and alpine steppe and desert biomes in the Tibetan Plateau¹⁸⁴ 		
	Natio	0.6 – 1.0 million US\$/year in damages to subsistence and commercial fisheries in Viti Levu, Fiji ¹⁸⁸		
+>4℃	ial SS	15,600 km ² of wetland area lost in Central Asia ¹⁵⁰		
	gior tudie	Mangrove area in Pacific Island nations declines by 13% ¹²¹		
	Re	• 54,900 km ² of wetland area lost in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰		

11.3 Infectious Disease and Heat-Related Mortality

Table 11.3	B. Impac	cts to Asia/Pacific Health
+<2℃		8,218 additional deaths from malaria in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁸⁵
		116 fewer deaths due to schistosomiasis in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁸⁵
	S	6,745 additional deaths from Dengue fever in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁸⁵
	Studie	0 – 219,000 additional net deaths from all climate-change related causes in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰
	gional	Eastern India, parts of northeastern and central China become unsuitable for malaria transmission ¹²⁶
	Re	Coastal southeastern Asia becomes suitable for malaria transmission ¹²⁶
		Epidemic potential for malaria, schistosomiasis, and dengue in Southeast Asia changes by $+7 - +45\%$, -1011% , and $+24 - +47\%$, respectively. ¹⁸⁶
		• Tropical cyclone intensities in the NW Pacific increase by $12 - 15\%$ and average rainfall increases by $12 - 28\%^{187}$
	S	Risk of dengue epidemic in Kiribati increases by 11 – 33% ¹⁸⁸
	Studie	Incidence of Ciguatera poisoning in Kiribati increases from 35 – 70 per 1000 individuals to 160 – 430 per 1000 ¹⁸⁸
	ntional	• Number of annual cases of dengue in Viti Levu, Fiji increases by $10 - 30\%^{188}$
	Ná	Economic impacts to the public health sector of Viti Levu, Fiji of 0.5 – 6.1 million US\$/year ¹⁸⁸
+2-4℃		219,000 – 438,000 additional net deaths from all climate-change related causes in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰
	Sč	Population at risk for malaria in Southeast Asia declines by 1 million ¹⁸⁹
	I Studi	Population at risk for malaria in South Asia changes by -104 – +102 million ¹⁸⁹
	Regional	Population at risk for malaria in East Asia increases by 7 – 143 million ¹⁸⁹
		Tropical cyclone intensities increase by 8 – 17% in the south Indian Ocean, but decline in other basins ⁸⁸
		Tropical cyclone frequencies in the Asia/Pacific region decline by approximately 30% ⁸⁸

	S	\$64.5 billion US\$ in cumulative health costs associated with treatment of infectious disease in Indonesia ¹⁹⁰
		Increased risk of malaria in southwest and northeast India ¹⁹¹
	tudie	Risk of dengue epidemic in Kiribati increases by 37 – 100% ¹⁸⁸
	National Si	Incidence of ciguatera poisoning in Kiribati increases from 35 – 70 per 1000 individuals to 245 – 1,010 per 1000 ¹⁸⁸
		• Number of annual cases of dengue in Viti Levu, Fiji increases by $40 - 100\%^{188}$
		Economic impacts to the public health sector of Viti Levu, Fiji of 1.3 – 18.1 million US\$/year ¹⁸⁸
+>4°C	Regional Studies	>438,000 additional net deaths from all climate-change related causes in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰

11.4 Water Resources

Table 11.4. Impacts to Water Resources in the Asia/Pacific Region		
+<2℃	Regional Studies	Loss of 1.7 billion US\$ in total costs in the water resources sector of South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰
	lies	-12 – +10 % change in runoff for China ¹⁹²
National Stud	ial Stuo	 14 – 18% increase in runoff from Bhagirathi River basin, Himalayas¹⁹³
	Natio	0.7 – 2.7 million US\$/year in additional costs in Tarawa, Kiribati due to salt-water intrusion and desalination ¹⁸⁸
+2-4℃		 7.9 – 15.9 billion US\$/year in damages to water resources in Asia²¹⁷
		18 billion US\$ in benefits to water resources in Asia ²⁰⁶
	gional Studies	 Number of people experiencing increase in water stress in Central Asia increases by 0 – 137 million¹⁹⁴
		 0.3 – 0.5 billion US\$ in damages to water resources in Oceania²¹⁷
	Re	1 billion US\$ in damages to water resources in Oceania ²⁰⁶
		 Number of people experiencing increase in water stress in South Asia increases by 7 – 924 million¹⁹⁴
		Number of people experiencing increase in water stress in

		Southeast Asia increases by 0 – 10 million ¹⁹⁴
		 2 – 42% increase in discharge of the Ganges River, Bangladesh¹⁹⁵
		Rapid shift in the extent and depth of flooding in Bangladesh ¹⁹⁶
	National Studies	 0 – 13% increase in discharge of the Brahamaputra River, Bangladesh¹⁹⁵
		Runoff changes of -16 – +17 across seven river basins in China ¹⁹⁷
		Reductions in runoff likely for the interior of China ¹⁷⁹
		Number of people experiencing increase in water stress in Greater Mekong increases by 0 – 105 million ¹⁹⁴
		 Increase in snowmelt runoff and stream flow in the Spiti River, Himalayas of 4 – 18% and 6 – 12%, respectively¹⁹⁸
		 25 – 46% increase in runoff from Bhagirathi River basin, Himalayas¹⁹³
		 Change in runoff of -12 – +7 in Lake Lanao Reservoir and -12 – +32 in Angat Reservoir, Philippines¹⁹⁹
		Little change in annual river flows in Mekong Delta, Vietnam ²⁰⁰
+>4℃	Regional Studies	 11.0 – 21.9 billion US\$/year in damages to water resources in Asia²¹⁷
		 0.4 – 0.8 billion US\$/year in damages to water resources in Oceania²¹⁷

11.5 Agriculture



¹⁵ See Box 4.2 for China-specific impacts

	ional Results	Agricultural damages to Viti Levu, Fiji of approximately 14 million US\$/year (70 million US\$ during an extreme event) ¹⁸⁸
		• Average rice yields in Kerala State, India increase by 12% ²⁰²
	Nat	Reduction in rice yields of 20 – 40% in the Philippines ²⁰³
+2-4℃		Change in rice yields in Asia of -31 – +7% ²⁰¹
		3 – 4 billion US\$/year increase in economic benefits from commercial forestry in Asia ²⁰⁶
		Present value of climate benefits to commercial forestry in developing nations of Asia/Pacific of 15.1 – 18.7 billion US\$ ²⁰⁴
		Rice yields in South Asia decline by 0.75 tons/ha ¹⁹⁶
		Wheat yields in South Asia change by -34 – +5% ¹⁹⁶
	lts	Economic impacts to agriculture sector in Southeast Asia of -61.6 – +35.8 billion US\$/year ²⁰⁵
	al Resu	Increase in agricultural welfare of 37 – 80 billion US\$/year in Asia/Mid East ²⁰⁶
	n/ Region	Change in production of cereals in Central Asia of $-0.8 - +4.3\%$ (all crops $-5.8 - +5.7$) ²⁰⁷
		Limited impacts to commercial forestry in Oceania ²¹⁷
		Change in production of cereals in South Asia of -13.5 – -7.4% (all crops -10.7 – +0.2%) ²⁰⁷
		Crop quantities in Southeast Asia increase by 0 – 1.1% (prices increase by 0.6 – 2.0%) ²⁰⁸
		Crop quantities in East Asia increase by 1.9 – 2.3% (prices decline by 2.1 – 2.7%) ²⁰⁸
		Change in agricultural welfare of -8 – +4 billion US\$/year in Oceania ²⁰⁶
		10 – 17% reduction in rice yields in Bangladesh ²⁰⁹
	lation: Result:	20 – 61% reduction in wheat yields in Bangladesh ²⁰⁹
	Z K	Changes in rice yields in Bangladesh of -10.2 – +14.2 ²¹⁰





Table 11. Temperat	6. Impacts to Agriculture in China for Different Magnitudes of Fure Change
+<2℃	Changes in rice yields (Irrigated -0.4 – +3.8%; Dryland +0.2 – +2.1%) ^{218}
	Changes in maize yields (Irrigated -0.6 – -0.1%; Dryland +1.1 – +9.8%) ²¹⁸
	Changes in wheat yields (Irrigated +11 – +13.3%; Dryland +4.5 – +15.4%) ²¹⁸
	Agricultural revenue declines by 11.95% ²¹⁹
+2-4℃	Changes in rice yields (Irrigated -4.9 – +7.8%; Dryland -2.5 – +4.3) ²¹⁸
	Changes in maize yields (Irrigated -2.8 – +1.3%; Dryland +18.5 – +20.3) ²¹⁸
	Changes in wheat yields (Irrigated+14.2 – +40.3%; Dryland +6.6 – +23.6) ²¹⁸
	Agricultural revenue changes by -68.09 – +28.31% ²¹⁹
	Changes in rice yields of -21 – +7% ¹⁹⁷
	Changes in rice yields of -20 – +20% ¹⁹⁶
	Changes in maize yields of -9 – +5% ¹⁹⁷
	Changes in maize yields of -19 – +5% ²²⁰
	Changes in wheat yields of -6 – +42% ¹⁹⁷
	Increase in cotton yields of 21 – 53% ¹⁹⁷
	Agriculture production declines by 3 – 6% ²²⁰

	Most cultivated land experiences increased cereal productivity ²⁰⁷		
	Changes in rice yields of -30.7 – +9.7% ²²¹		
+>4℃	Agricultural revenue declines by 69% ²¹⁹		
	Changes in rice yields among different sites of -27.6 – +3.1% ²¹⁰		

11.6 Regional Economies

Table 11.7. Impacts to the Asia/Pacific Economy		
+<2℃	Regional Studies	Limited economic impacts in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁸⁵
		Loss of \$14 billion annually in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁵⁰
	National Studies	Economic damages equivalent to 2.4% of GDP in Sri Lanka ¹⁹⁰
+2-4℃		Economic impacts of -12 – +4 billion US\$/year in Oceania ²⁰⁶
	ies	Economic benefits of 20 – 90 billion US\$/year in Asia ²⁰⁶
	Regional Studi	Economic losses equivalent to 0.5% of GDP in South and Southeast Asia ¹⁸⁵
		Economic losses equivalent to 8.6% of regional GDP in South and Southeast Asia ²²²
		 Total climate change losses equivalent to 70 billion US\$ in Asia²²³
	al Studies	0.2 – 0.4% increase in China's GDP ²²⁴
		• 0.9 – 5.5% decline in India's GDP ²²⁴
		Economic losses equivalent to a 5% reduction in GDP in Bangladesh ¹⁹⁰
	Nation	Total climate change losses equivalent to 766 billion US\$ in Indonesia ¹⁹⁰
		1.1 – 3.5% decline in Thailand's GDP ²²⁴
+>4℃	al s	Economic losses of 0.53 – 0.6 billion US\$/year in Asia ²¹⁷
	Region Studie	Economic impacts of -0.89 – +0.09 billion US\$/year in Oceania ²¹⁷

NOTES

¹ Steffen, W., Sanderson, A., Tyson, P., Jäger, J., Matson, P., Moore, B., III, Oldfield, F., Richardson, K., Schellnhuber, H-J., Turner, BL., II, and Wasson, R. (2004). *Global Change and the Earth System: A Planet Under Pressure*. IGBP Global Change Series. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelburg, New York.

² IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2001). *Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, J.T. Houghton et al. (eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 881 pp.

³ Figure obtained from: State of Victoria (2004). *Adapting to Climate Change: Enhancing Victoria's Capacity*. Victoria Department of Sustainability and Environment, East Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. Available at:

http://www.greenhouse.vic.gov.au/impacts/Consultation_Paper_14_07.pdf

⁴ For monthly updates of atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations, visit the website of the U.S. National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration's *Global Monitoring Division*, at http://www.cmdl.noaa.gov/ccgg/trends/index.php#global

⁵ Siegenthaler, U., Stocker, T.F., Monnin, E., Luthi, D., Schwander, J., Stauffer, B., Raynaud, D., Barnola, J.-M., Fisher, H., Masson-Delmotte, V., and Jouzel, J. (2005). Stable carbon cycleclimate relationship during the late Pleistocene. *Science* 310, 1313-1317.

⁶ Spahni, R., Chappellaz, J., Stocker, T.F., Loulergue, L., Hausammann, G., Kawamura, K., Fluckiger, J., Schwander, J., Raynaud, D., Masson-Delmotte, V., and Jouzel, J. (2005).

Atmospheric methane and nitrous oxide of the late Pleistocene from Antarctic ice cores. *Science* 310, 1317-1321.

⁷ Goddard Institute for Space Studies. *Global Temperature Trends: 2005 Summation* Available at: <u>http://data.giss.nasa.gov/gistemp/2005/</u>

⁸ Church, J.A., and White, N.J. (2006). A 20th century acceleration in global sea-level rise. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33: L01602.

⁹ UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) (1992). *United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change*, United Nations, New York, NY, 33 pp.

¹⁰ Preston, B.L., and Jones, R.N. (2006) *Climate Change Impacts on Australia and the Benefits of Early Action to Reduce Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions*. Technical report prepared for the *Australian Climate Change Business Roundtable*. Available at:

http://www.businessroundtable.com.au/pdf/BRT-on-CC_Climate_Impacts-

CSIRO.pdf#search=%22CSIRO%20%2Bclimate%20%2Bchange%20%2Bbenefit%20%2Bstabili zation%22

¹¹ O'Neill, B., and Oppenheimer, M. (2002). Dangerous climate impacts and the Kyoto Protocol. *Science* 296, 1971-1972.

¹² Wigley, T.M.L. and Raper, S.C.B. (2001). Interpretations of high projections for global-mean warming. *Science* 293, 451-454.

¹³ Reilly, J., Stone, P.H., Forest, C.E., Webster, M.D., Jacoby, H.D. and Prinn, R.G. (2001). Uncertainty and climate change assessment. *Science* 293, 430–433.

¹⁴ Webster, M., Forest, C., Reilly, J., Babiker, M., Kicklighter, D., Mayer, M., Prinn, R., Sarofim, M., Sokolov, A., Stone, P., and Wang, C. (2003) Uncertainty analysis of climate change and policy response. *Climatic Change* 61, 295-320.

¹⁵Mastrandrea, M.D. and Schneider, S.H. (2004) Probabilistic integrated assessment of "dangerous" climate change. *Science* 304, 571-575.

¹⁶ These emissions reductions assume a long-term CO_2 -equivalent stabilisation target of ~450 ppm. For a more extensive discussion, see notes #10 and #17.

¹⁷ den Elzen, M.G.J and Meinshausen, M. (2006). Multi-gas emission pathways for meeting the EU 2°C climate target. In: *Avoiding Dangerous Climate Change*, [H.J. Schellnhuber, W. Cramer, N. Nakicenovic, T. Wigley and G. Yohe (Eds.)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

¹⁸ Government of South Australia. (2006). Tackling Climate Change: Reducing, Adapting, Innovating. South Australia's Draft Greenhouse Strategy. Government of South Australia, Adelaide, Australia. Available at: http://www.climatechange.sa.gov.au/PDFs/draft_strategy.pdf.

¹⁹ Government of New South Wales (2005) *NSW Greenhouse Plan. Government of New South Wales, NSW Greenhouse Office,* New South Wales, Sydney Australia. Available at:

http://www.greenhouseinfo.nsw.gov.au/ data/page/927/28-

11_FINAL_NSW_GH_Plan_web.pdf#search=%22%2BNSW%20%2BGreenhouse%20Plan%22 ²⁰ Australian Business Roundtable on Climate Change (2006). The Business Case for Early

Action. Overview report available at:

http://www.acfonline.org.au/uploads/res_BLRT_BusinessCase.pdf²¹ Hare, B., and Meinshausen, M. (2004). *How Much Warming Are We Committed To And How* Much Can Be Avoided? PIK Report, No. 93, Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, Potsdam, Germany, 45 pp. Available at: http://www.pik-

potsdam.de/pik_web/publications/pik_reports/reports/pr.93/pr93.pdf

For the purpose of this report, the Asia/Pacific region is bounded by the following longitudinal and latitudinal boundaries: 60E to 180E and 55N to 25S.

²³ Bagla, P. (2006). Isolate or engage? Indigenous islanders pose challenge for India. Science 313, 34.

²⁴ See Conservation International's *Biodiversity Hotspot* website at http://www.biodiversityhotspots.org/xp/Hotspots

²⁵ Pacific Islands include Federated States of Micronesia, Marshall Islands, Palau, Niue, Tokelau Tuvalu, Vanuatu, Nauru, and the Cook Islands

²⁶ United Nations (2005). The Millennium Development Goals Report. United Nations, New York, NY, USA, 43 pp. Available at: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/mi/pdf/MDG%20Book.pdf

AUSAid (2005). Annual Report 2005-2005. Volume 2. Australian Agency for International Development, Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at:

http://www.ausaid.gov.au/anrep05/pdf/anrep04_05.pdf . Figure available at: http://www.ausaid.gov.au/makediff/map/index.cfm

²⁸ AusAid (2006). Statistical Summary 2003-2004. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at: http://www.ausaid.gov.au/publications/green-book/green_book_0304.pdf

²⁹ APEC (2005). 2005 APEC Economic Outlook. Asia/Pacific Economic Cooperation, Singapore. Available at:

http://www.apecsec.org.sg/apec/member_economies/economy_reports.MedialibDownload.v1.ht ml?url=/etc/medialib/apec_media_library/downloads/committees/ec/pubs/2005.Par.0005.File.v1.

³⁰ AusAid (2006). Pacific 2020: Challenges and Opportunities for Growth. Australian Agency for International Development. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at http://www.ausaid.gov.au/publications/pdf/pacific2020.pdf

APEC (2005). 2005 APEC Economic Outlook. Asia/Pacific Economic Cooperation, Singapore. Available at:

http://www.apecsec.org.sg/apec/member economies/economy reports.MedialibDownload.v1.ht ml?url=/etc/medialib/apec media library/downloads/committees/ec/pubs/2005.Par.0005.File.v1.

³² AusAid (2006). Pacific 2020: Challenges and Opportunities for Growth. Australian Agency for International Development. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at http://www.ausaid.gov.au/publications/pdf/pacific2020.pdf

Figures were obtained from the IRI/LDEO Climate Data Library and are based upon monthly surface air temperature climatology (deg. C) for 1961-1990 on a 0.5 x 0.5 deg. lat/lon grid. Climatology data were derived from the Climate Research Unit of the University of East Anglia. See http://iridl.ldeo.columbia.edu/maproom/Global/.Climatologies/.Temp Loop.html

³⁴ Kawamura, R., Suppiah, R., Collier, M.A., and Gordon, H.B. (2004). Lagged relationships between ENSO and the Asian Summer Monsoon in the CSIRO coupled model. Geophysical Research Letters 31, doi:10.1029/2004GL021411.

³⁵ Figures were obtained from the IRI/LDEO *Climate Data Library* and are based upon monthly monthly precipitation climatology (mm/month) for 1979-1995 on a 2.5 x 2.5 deg. lat/lon grid. Climatology data were derived from the NCEP, Climate Prediction Center USA. See http://iridl.ldeo.columbia.edu/maproom/Global/.Climatologies/.Precip_Loop.html

⁶ Note: These regions generally correspond with those used by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change for the Third Assessment Report. However, here, Tropical Asia has been subdivided into North and South. Also, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change recognised another region, Boreal Asia, which is comprised of northern Asia, and is beyond the scope of this report.

³⁷ IPCC (2001) *Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.* [McCarthy, J., Canziani, O., Leary, N., Dokken, D and White, K. (eds.)]. Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, World Meteorological Organisation and United Nations Environment Programme. Cambridge University Press, 1032 pp.

³⁸ Manton, M.J., Della-Marta, P.M., Haylock, M.R., Hennessy, K.J., Nicholls, N., Chambers, L.E., Collins, D.A., Daw, G., Finet, A., Gunawan, D., Inape, K., Isobe, H., Kestin, T.S., Lefale, P., Leyu, Ch.H., Lwin, T., Maitrepierre, L., Ouprasitwong, N., Page, C.M., Pahalad, J., Plummer, N., Salinger, M.J., Suppiah, R., Tran, V.L., Trewin, B., Tibig, I., and Yee, d. (2001). Trends in extreme daily rainfall and temperature in Southeast Asia and the South Pacific: 1916-1998. *International Journal of Climatology* 21, 269-284.

³⁹ Webster, P.J., Holland, G.J., Curry, J.A., Chang, H.-R. (2005). Changes in tropical cyclone number, duration, and intensity in a warming environment. *Science* 309, 1844-1846.

⁴⁰ Landsea, C.W., Harper, B.A., Hoarau, K.H., and Knuff, J.A. (2006). Can we detect trends in extreme tropical cyclones? *Science* 313, 452-454.

⁴¹ Santer, B.D., Wigley, T.M.L., Gleckler, P.J., Bonfils, C., Wehner, M.F., AchutaRao, K., Barnett, T.P., Boyle, J.S., Bruggemann, W., Fiorino, M., Gillett, N., Hansen, J.E., Jones, P.D., Klein, S.A., Meehl, G.A., Raper, S.C.B., Reynolds, R.W., Taylor, K.E., and Washington, W.M. (2006). Forced and unforced temperature changes in Atlantic and Pacific tropical cyclogenesis regions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 103, 13905-13910.

⁴² IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (1998). *The Regional Impacts of Climate Change: An Assessment of Vulnerability. Special Report of the IPCC Working Group II.* [R.T. Watson, M.C. Zinyowera, R.H. Moss and D.J. Dokken (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

⁴³ Shi, Y. F., Shen Y.P., and Hu R.J. (2002). Preliminary study on signal, impact and foreground of climatic shift from warm-dry to warm-humid in Northwest China, *Journal of Glaciology Geocryology* 24(3), 219-226.

⁴⁴ Chaudhari, Q.Z. (1994) Pakistan's summer monsoon rainfall associated with global and regional circulation features and its seasonal prediction. In: *Proceedings of the International Conference on Monsoon Variability and Prediction*, Trieste, Italy, May 9-13.

⁴⁵ Pilifosova, O., I. Eserkepova, and S. Mizina (1996). Vulnerability and adaptation assessment for Kazakhstan. In: *Vulnerability and Adaptation to Climate Change—Interim Results from a U. S. Country Study Program* [Smith, J.B., S. Huq, S. Lenhart, L.J. Mata, I. Nemesova, and S. Toure (eds.)]. J. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 161-181.

⁴⁶ Rai, S.C. (1999). Land use change and hydrology of a Himalayan watershed. In: *Abstract Book of the 1999 IGES Open Meeting of the Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change Research Community*, Shonan Village, Japan, 24-26 June, 200 pp.

⁴⁷ Ren, G., and Zhou, W. (1994). A preliminary study on temperature change since 1905 over Liaodong peninsula, Northeast China. *Acta Meteorologica Sinica*, 52(4), 493-498.

⁴⁸ Ren, G. (1998). Temperature changes of the 20th century over Horqin region, Northeast China. *Scientia Meteorologica Sinica*, 18(4), 373-380.

⁴⁹ Zhao, L., Ping, C.L., Yang, D., Cheng, G., Ding, Y., and Liu, S. (2004). Changes of climate and seasonally frozen ground over the past 30 years in Qinghai–Xizang (Tibetan) Plateau, China. *Global and Planetary Change* 43, 19-31.

⁵⁰ Ren, G., Wu, H., and Chen, Z. (2000). Spatial pattern of precipitation change trend of the last 46 years over China. *Journal of Applied Meteorology* 11(3), 322-330.

⁵¹ Chen, L., Dong, M., and Shao, Y. (1992). The characteristics of interannual variations on the East Asian monsoon. *Journal of the Meteorological Society of Japan* 70, 397–421.

⁵² Hu, Z.Z., Yang, S., and Wu, R. (2003). Long-term climate variations in China and global warming signals. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 108, doi:10.1029/2003JD003651

⁵³ Du, J., and Ma, Y.C. (2004). Climatic trend of rainfall over Tibetan Plateau from 1971 to 2000. *Acta Geographica Sinica* 59(3), 375-382.

⁵⁴ Jung, H.-S., Choi, Y., Oh, J.-H., and Lim, G.-H. (2002). Recent trends in temperature and precipitation over South Korea. *International Journal of Climatology* 22, 1327-1337.

⁵⁵ Ji, Z.X., Jiang, Z.X., and Zhu, J.W. (1993). Impacts of sea level rise on coastal erosion in the Changjiang Delta Northern Jiangsu coastal plain. *Acta Geographica Sinica* 48(6), 516-526.

⁵⁶ Rupakumar, K., K. Krishna Kumar and G.B. Pant (1994) Diurnal asymmetry of surface temperature trends over India. *Geophysical Research Letters* 21, 677-680.

⁵⁷ Rupakumar, K., and S.D. Patil (1996). Long-term variations of rainfall and surface air temperature over Sri Lanka. In *Climate Variability and Agriculture* [Abrol, Y.P., S. Gadgil, and G.B. Pant (eds.)]. Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, India, pp. 135-152.

⁵⁸ Singh, N., and Sontakke, N.A. (2002). On climatic fluctuations and environmental changes of the Indo-Gangetic plains, India. *Climatic Change* 52, 287-313.

⁵⁹ Kothyari, U.C., and Singh, V.P. (1996). Rainfall and temperature trends in India. *Hydrological Processes* 10, 357-372.

⁶⁰ OEPP (Office of Environmental Policy and Planning). (1996). *Report on Environmental Conditions of the Year 1994*. Office of Environmental Policy and Planning, Ministry of Science, Technology and Energy, Bangkok, Thailand, 307 pp.

⁶¹ World Bank (2006). *Not If But When. Adapting to Climate Hazards in the Pacific Islands Region.* East Asia and Pacific Region, The World Bank, Washington, DC, USA. Available at: <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPACIFICISLANDS/Resources/Natural-Hazards-report.pdf</u> Note: Despite increases in the number of disasters and affected persons, the number of fatalities has declined over time.

⁶² Mirza, M.Q., and Ericksen, N.J. (1996). Impact of water control projects on fisheries resources in Bangladesh. *Environmental Management* 20(4), 527-539.

⁶³ Karl, T.R., Knight, R.W., and Plummer, N. (1995). Trends in high frequency climate variability in the twentieth century. *Nature* 377, 217-220.

⁶⁴ Mirza, M.Q. (1998). Modeling the Effects of Climate Change on Flooding in Bangladesh.
 Dissertation, International Global Change Institute (IGCI), University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand, 279 pp.
 ⁶⁵ Webster, P.J., Magana, V.O., Palmer, T.N., Shukla, J., Tomas, R.A., Yanagi, M., and

⁵⁰ Webster, P.J., Magana, V.O., Palmer, T.N., Shukla, J., Tomas, R.A., Yanagi, M., and Yasunari, T. (1998) Monsoons: processes, predictability and the prospects for prediction. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 103(C7), 14451-14510.

⁶⁶ Allen Consulting (2005). *Climate Change Risk and Vulnerability: Promoting an Efficient Adaptation Response in Australia*. Report to the Australian Greenhouse Office, Department of Environment and Heritage, Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at:
 ⁶⁷ See <u>http://www-pcmdi.llnl.gov/ipcc/about_ipcc.php</u>
 ⁶⁸ Mitchell, T.D. (2003). Pattern scaling: An examination of the accuracy of the technique for

⁶⁸ Mitchell, T.D. (2003). Pattern scaling: An examination of the accuracy of the technique for describing future climates. *Climatic Change* 60, 217-242.

⁶⁹ Whetton P.H., McInnes, K.L., Jones, R.N., Hennessy, K.J., Suppiah, R., Page, C.M., Bathols, J., and Durack, P.J. (2005). *Australian Climate Change Projections for Impact Assessment and Policy Application: A Review. Climate Impact Group, CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research, Aspendale, VIC, Australia.*

⁷⁰ "Low" estimates refer to the minimum estimate of global warming, "central" to the median (i.e., 50^{th} percentile estimate), and "high" to the maximum estimate. ⁷¹ These temperature changes reflect a broad range of climate sensitivities (1.7–4.2°C) and

⁷¹ These temperature changes reflect a broad range of climate sensitivities (1.7–4.2°C) and emissions scenarios (e.g., IPCC's *Special Report on Emissions Scenarios*: B1, B2, A1B, A1T, A2, and A1Fi) and thus are generally representative of the accepted range of uncertainty in future global mean temperature change. However, climate sensitivities higher than 4.2°C have been reported in the literature.

⁷² Samra, J.S. (2004). *Review and Analysis of Drought Monitoring, Declaration and Management in India*. Working Paper 84. International Water Management Institute, Colombo, Sri Lanka. Available at:

http://www.iwmi.cgiar.org/pubs/working/WOR84.pdf#search=%22%2BIndia%20%2Bdrought%2 0%2Bmanagement%20%2BFamine%22

⁷³ Bueh, C., Cubasch, U., and Hagemann, S. (2003). Impacts of global warming on changes in the East Asian monsoon and the related river discharge in a global time-slice experiment. *Climate Research* 24, 47-57.
 ⁷⁴ Min, S.-K., Legutke, S., Hense, A., Cubash, U., Kwon, W.-T., Oh, J.-H., and Schlese, U.

¹⁴ Min, S.-K., Legutke, S., Hense, A., Cubash, U., Kwon, W.-T., Oh, J.-H., and Schlese, U. (2006). East Asian climate change in the 21st century as simulated by the coupled climate model ECHO-G under IPCC SRES scenarios. *Journal of the Meteorological Society of Japan* 84, 1-26.

⁷⁵ Ueda, H., Iwai, A., Kuwako, K., and Hori, M.E. (2006). Impact of anthropogenic forcing on the Asian summer monsoon as simulated by eight GCMs. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33, doi:10.1029/2005GL025336

⁷⁶ Bhaskaran, B., and Mitchell, J.F.B. (1998). Simulated changes in Southeast Asian monsoon precipitation resulting from anthropogenic emissions. *International Journal of Climatology* 18, 1455-1462.

⁷⁷ Wang, B., Wu, R., and Lau, K.-M. (2001). Interannual variability of the Asian summer monsoon: Contrasts between the Indian and the western North Pacific-East Asian Monsoon. *Journal of Climate* 14, 4073-4090.

⁷⁸ Annamalai, H., Hamilton, K., and Sperber, K.R. (2006). South Asian Monsoon, and its relationship with ENSO in the AR4 simulations. *Journal of Climate*, in press.

⁷⁹ Kumar, K.K., Rajagopalan, B., Hoerling, M., Bates, G., and Cane, M. (2006). Unraveling the mystern of Indian monsoon failure during El Niño. *Science*, in press.

⁸⁰ Cane, M.A. (2004) The evolution of El Niño, past and future. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 164, 1-10

⁸¹ Ramanathan, V., Chung, C., Kim, D., Betttge, T., Buja, L., Kiehl, J.T., Washington, W.M., Fu, Q., Sikka, D.R., and Wild, M. (2005). Atmospheric brown clouds: Impacts on South Asian climate and hydrological cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102, 5326-5333.

⁸² Chung, C.E., and Ramanathan, V. (2003). South Asian haze forcing: Remote impacts with implications to ENSO and AO. *Journal of Climate* 16, 1791-1806.

⁸³ In addition to the IPCC's six illustrative scenarios, a seventh scenario, SRES A1CME, was also used. This scenario yields the highest potential temperature change from the range of climate models and emissions scenarios used in the IPCC's *Third Assessment Report*.

⁸⁴ Rignot, E., and Kanagaratnam, P. (2006). Changes in the velocity structure of the Greenland ice sheet. *Science* 311, 986-990.

⁸⁵ Data obtained from BOM (Bureau of Meteorology) (2006). *The South Pacific Sea Level and Climate Monitoring Project*. Monthly Data Report, No. 132. Australian Bureau of Meteorology, June. Available at: <u>http://www.bom.gov.au/fwo/IDO60101/IDO60101.200606.pdf</u>

⁸⁶ World Meteorological Organisation (2003) Press release, Geneva, Switzerland, 2 July. ⁸⁷ ADB (Asia Development Bank) (2005). *Climate Proofing: A Risk-Based Approach to Adaptation*. Asian Development Bank, Manila, Philippines.

⁸⁸ Oouchi, K., Yoshimura, J., Yoshimura, H., Mizuta, R., Kusunoki, S., and Noda, A. (2006). Tropical cyclone climatology in a global-warming climate as simulated in a 20 km-mesh global atmospheric model: Frequency and wind intensity analyses. *Journal of the Meteorological Society of Japan* 84, 259-276.

⁸⁹ Oppenheimer, M. (1998). Global warming and the stability the West Antarctic Ice Sheet. *Nature* 393, 325-332.

⁹⁰ Hansen, J. (2005). A slippery slope: How much global warming constitutes "dangerous anthropogenic interference". *Climatic Change* 68, 269-279.

⁹¹ Schmittner, A. (2005). Decline of the marine ecosystem caused by a reduction in the Atlantic overturning circulation. *Nature* 434, 628-633.

⁹² Rahmstorf, S., and Zickfeld, K. (2005). Thermohaline circulation: A question of risk assessment. *Climatic Change* 68, 241–247.

⁹³ Hansen, J., and Nazarenko, L. (2004). Soot climate forcing via snow and ice albedos. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101, 423-428.

⁹⁴ Jones, C.D., Cox, P.M., Essery, R.L.H., Roberts, D.L., and Woodage, M.J. (2003). Strong carbon cycle feedbacks CO₂ and sulphate aerosols. *Geophysical Research Letters* 30, doi:10.1029/2003GL01686.

⁹⁵ Bellamy, P.H., Loveland, P.J., Bradley, R.I., Lark, R.M., and Kirk, G.J.D. (2005). Carbon losses from all soils across England and Wales 1978–2003. *Nature* 437, 245-248.

⁹⁶ Katz, M.E., Cramer, B.S., Mountain, G.S., Katz, S., and Miller, K.G. (2001) Uncorking the bottle: what triggered the Paleocene/Eocene methane release? *Paleoceanography* 16, 549–562.

⁹⁷ Brooks, N., Nicholls, R., and Hall, J. (2006). *Sea-Level Rise: Coastal Impacts and Responses*. Wissenschaftler Beirat der Bundesregierung, Berlin, Germany. Available at: <u>http://www.wbgu.de/wbgu_sn2006_ex03.pdf</u>.

⁹⁸ Woodroffe, C.D., Nicholls, R.J., Saito, Y., Chen, Z. and Goodbred, S.L. (2006). Landscape variability and the response of Asian megadeltas to environmental change, In *Global Change Implications for Coasts in the Asia-Pacific Region* [Harvey, N. (ed)], Springer, in press.

⁹⁹ Zhang, K., Douglas, B.C., and Leatherman, S.P. (2004). Global warming and coastal erosion. *Climatic Change* 64, 41-58.

¹⁰⁰ Nicholls, R.J., Mimura, N., and Topping, J.C. (1995). Climate change in south and south-east Asia: Some implications for coastal areas. *Journal of Global Environmental Engineering* 1, 137-154.

¹⁰¹ Estimated historical storm surges from tropical cyclones can be found at:

http://nirapad.org/care_nirapad/Home/Magazine/chronology/currentissue/html/news5.html ¹⁰² FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation). (1997). Status, Trends, and Future Scenarios for

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation). (1997). Status, Trends, and Future Scenarios for Forest Conservation Including Protected Areas in the Asia-Pacific Region. Food and Agriculture Organisation, Forest Policy Planning Division, Rome and Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific, Bangkok, Food and Agriculture Organisation. Available at: http://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/003/W5475E/W5475E00.pdf

¹⁰³ UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme) (1999). *Global Environment Outlook 2000*. Earthscan, London, United Kingdom, 398 pp.

¹⁰⁴ Sukumar, R., Suresh, H.S., and Ramesh, R. (1995). Climate change and its impact on tropical montane ecosystems in south India. *Journal of Biogeography* 22, 533-536.

¹⁰⁵UNESCAP (United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific) (2000). *Biodiversity Issues in the Pacific Islands*. Background Paper. Ministerial Conference on Environment and Development in Asia and the Pacific 2000, 31 August–5 September, Kitakyushu, Japan. Available at:

http://www.unescap.org/mced2000/pacific/background/biodiv.htm

¹⁰⁶ IPCC (2002) *Climate Change and Biodiversity*, [H. Gitay, Suárez, A., Watson, RT., and Dokken, D.J. (eds.)], Technical Paper V, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Switzerland, 86 pp.

¹⁰⁷ Sax, D.F., Gaines, S.D., and Brown, J.H. (2002). Species invasions exceed extinctions on islands worldwide: A comparative study of plants and birds. *The American Naturalist* 160, 766-783.

¹⁰⁸ Dukes, J.S., and Mooney, H.A. (1999). Does global change increase the success of biological invaders? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 14, 135-139.

¹⁰⁹ Weltzin, J.F., Belote, R.T., and Sanders, N.J. (2003). Biological invaders in a greenhouse world: Will elevated CO₂ fuel plant invasions? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 1, 146-153.

¹¹⁰ Parmesan, C., and Yohe, G. (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature* 421, 37-42.

¹¹¹ Parmesan, C., and Galbraith, H. (2004) *Observed Impacts of Global Climate Change in the United States.* Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Arlington, VA, USA, 56 pp.

¹¹² Nemani, R.R., Keeling, C.D., Hashimoto, H., Jolly, W.M., Piper, S.C., Tucker, C.J., Myneni, R.B., and Running, S.W. (2003). Climate-driven increases in net primary production 1982 to 1999. *Science* 300, 1560-1563.

¹¹³ Westerling, A.L., Hidalgo, H.G., Cayan, D.R., and Swetnam, T.W. (2006). Warming and earlier spring increase western U.S. forest wildfire activity. *Science* 313, 940-943.

¹¹⁴ Van der Werf, G.R., Randerson, J.T., Collatz, G.J., Giglio, L., Kasibhatla, P., Arellano, A., Olsen, S., and Kasischke, E.S. (2004). Continental-scale partitioning of fire emissions during the 1997 to 2001 El Niño/La Niña period. *Science* 303, 73-76.

¹¹⁵ For example, see notes #37 and #42

¹¹⁶ Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (1999). Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. *Marine and Freshwater Ecology* 50, 839-866.

¹¹⁷ Jones, R.N. (2004) Managing climate change risks. In *The Benefits of Climate Change Policies: Analytical and Framework Issues*, [Agrawala, S. and Corfee-Morlot, J. (eds.)], OECD, Paris, 249–298.

¹¹⁸ Kleypas, J.A, Buddemeier, R.W., Archer, D., Gattuso, J.-P., Langdon, C., Opdyke, B.N. (1999). Geochemical consequences of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on coral reefs. *Science* 284, 118-120.
 ¹¹⁹ McNeil, B.L. Matear, R. L. and Barnos, D. L. (2004). Construction in the second second

¹¹⁹ McNeil, B.I., Matear, R.J., and Barnes, D.J. (2004). Coral reef calcification and climate change: The effect of ocean warming. *Geophysical Research Letters* 31, L22309, doi:10.1029/2004GL021541.

 ¹²⁰ Ellison, J.C. (1995). Mangroves. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Marine and Coastal Biodiversity in the Tropical Island Pacific Region II: Population, Development and Conservation Priorities [Eldredge, L. et al (eds.)], 7-9 November, 1994, Honolulu. East-West Center, Honolulu.
 ¹²¹ UNEP (United Nations Envir)onment Programme). (2006). Pacific Island Mangroves in a

Changing Climate and Rising Sea. UNEP Regional Seas Reports and Studies No. 179., United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.

¹²² McMichael, A., Woodruff, R., Whetton, P., Hennessy, K., and Nicholls, N. (2002). *Human Health and Climate Change in Oceania: A Risk Assessment*. Department of Health and Aging, Canberra, ACT, Commonwealth of Australia. Available at:

http://health.gov.au/internet/wcms/publishing.nsf/Content/health-publicat-documentmetadata-env_climate.htm

¹²³ Patz, J.A., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Holloway, T., and Foley, J.A. (2005). Impact of regional climate change on human health. *Nature* 438, 310-317.

¹²⁴ For news stories related to this event, see:

http://www.heatisonline.org/contentserver/objecthandlers/index.cfm?id=3943&method=full.

¹²⁵ Henderson-Sellers, A., Zhang, H., Berz, G., Emanuel, K. Gray, W., Landsea, C., Holland, G., Lighthill, J., Shieh, S.-L., Webster, P., and McGuffie, K. (1998). Tropical cyclones and global climate change: A post-IPCC assessment. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 79, 19-38.

¹²⁶ Rogers, D.J., and Randolph, S.E. (2000). The global spread of malaria in a future warmer world. *Science* 289, 1763-1766.

¹²⁷ Hales, S., de Wet, N., Maindonald, M., and Woodward, A. (2002). Potential effects of population and climate changes on global distribution of dengue fever: An empirical model. *The Lancet* 360, 830-834.

¹²⁸ WHO (World Health Organisation). (1999). *El Niño and Health*. Doc.No. WHO/SDE/PHE/99.4. Geneva, Switzerland.

¹²⁹ Knowlton, K., Rosenthal, J.E., Hogrefe, C., Lynn, B., Gaffin, S., Goldberg, R., Rosenzweig, C., Civerolo, K., Ku, J.-Y., and Kinney, P.L. (2004). Assessing ozone-related health impacts under a changing climate. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 112, 1557-1563.
 ¹³⁰ UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme) and C⁴. (2002). *The Asian Brown Cloud:*

 ¹³⁰ UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme) and C⁴. (2002). *The Asian Brown Cloud: Climate and other Environmental Impacts*. United Nations Environment Program, Nairobi, Kenya. Available at: <u>http://www.rrcap.unep.org/abc/impactstudy/</u>
 ¹³¹ Simon L. Guerra, C.A. Totorn, A.L. Neor, A.M. Marci, C.M. Marci, C.M. Totorn, A.L. Neor, A.M. Marci, C.M. Marci

¹³¹ Simon, I., Guerra, C.A., Tatern, A.J., Noor, A.M., and Snow, R.W. (2004). The global distribution and population at risk of malaria: Past, present, and future. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 4, 327-336.

¹³² Liu, C., and Xia, J. (2004). Water problems and hydrological research in the Yellow River and the Huai and Hai River basins of China. *Hydrological Processes* 18, 2197-2210.
 ¹³³ WWF (World Wildlife Federation). (2005). *An Overview of Glaciers, Glacier Retreat, and*

¹³³ WWF (World Wildlife Federation). (2005). An Overview of Glaciers, Glacier Retreat, and Subsequent Impacts in Nepal, India and China. WWF Nepal Program, Nepal. Available at: <u>http://assets.panda.org/downloads/himalayaglaciersreport2005.pdf</u>

¹³⁴ See figure from the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration. Available at: <u>http://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/paleo/ctl/images/warm.gif</u>

¹³⁵ FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation). (2005). *World Agriculture: Towards 2030/2050.* Global Perspectives Study Unit, Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations, Rome, Italy. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/es/ESD/AT2050web.pdf</u>

¹³⁶ Steffen, W., and Canadell, P. (2005). *Carbon Dioxide Fertilisation and Climate Change Policy*. Report prepared for the Australian Greenhouse Office, Department of the Environment and Heritage, Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia, 33 pp.

¹³⁷ Reich, P.B., Hobbie, S.E., Lee, T., Ellsworth, D.S., West, J.B., Tilman, D., Knops, J.M.H., Naeem, S., and Trost, J. (2006). Nitrogen limitation constrains sustainability of ecosystem response to CO₂. *Nature* 440, 922-925.

¹³⁸ FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation) (2005). *Impacts of Climate Change on Agriculture in Asia and the Pacific.* Twenty-Seventh FAO Regional Conference for Asia and the Pacific. Beijing, China, 17-21 May. Available at

http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/MEETING/007/J1704E.HTM

¹³⁹ Tao, F., Yakozawa, M., Hayashi, Y., and Lin, E. (2003). Future climate change, the agricultural water cycle, and agricultural production in China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 95, 203-215.

¹⁴⁰ Lie, H., Li, X., Fisher, G., and Sun, L. (2004). Study on the impacts of climate change on China's agriculture. Climatic Change 65, 125-148.

Stone, R., and Jia, H. (2006). Going against the flow. Science 313, 1034-1037.

¹⁴² Jayasuriya, S., Steele, P., Weerakoon, D., Knight-John, M., and Arunatilake, N. (2006). Post-Tsunami Recovery: Issues and Challenges in Sri Lanka. Asian Development Bank Institute, Tokvo, Japan, Available at:

http://www.adbi.org/files/2006.06.rp71.tsunami.recovery.english.pdf

Munich Re (2005). Annual Review: Natural Catastrophes 2005. Munich Re Group, Munich, Germany. Available at: http://www.munichre.com/publications/302-04772 en.pdf?rdm=67979 .

¹⁴⁴ Marshall, M.G., Gurr, T.R., Asal, V., Harff, B., and Pate, A. (2005) A Global Survey of Armed Conflicts, Self-Determination Movements, and Democracy. Center for International Development and Conflict Management, University of Maryland, USA. Available at http://www.cidcm.umd.edu/inscr/PC05print.pdf

Reilly, B. (2002). Internal conflict and regional security in Asia and the Pacific. Pacifica Review 14(1), 8,

¹⁴⁶ DuPont, A., and Pearman, G. (2006). Heating Up the Planet: Climate Change and Security. Lowy Institute, Hong Kong, China. Available at: http://www.asiastudies.com/asia/Lowy/papers/LIP12 Dupont WEB.pdf

Gupta, A.K., Anderson, D.M., Pandey, D.N., and Singhvi, A.K. (2006). Adaptation and human migration, and evidence of agriculture coincident with changes in the Indian summer monsoon during the Holocene. Current Science 90, 1082-1090.

¹⁴⁸ Nicholls, R.J. (1995). Synthesis of vulnerability analysis studies. In *Preparing to Meet the* Coastal Challenges of the 21st Century, vol. 1. Proceedings of the World Coast Conference, Noordwijk, 1-5November, 1993, CSM-Centre Publication No. 4, Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Water management, The Hague, The Netherlands, pp. 181-216.

¹⁴⁹ Mvers, N. (1993). Environmental refugees in a globally warmed world. *BioScience* 43, 752-

761.¹⁵⁰ Tol, R.S.J. (2002). Estimates of the damage costs of climate change. Part I. Benchmark estimates. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 21, 47-53. ¹⁵¹ Heming, L., Waley, P., and Rees, P. (2001). Reservoir resettlement in China: Past

experience and the Three Gorges Dam. *The Geographical Journal* 167, 195-212. ¹⁵² The 2006/07 Pacific Access Category and Samoan Quota Scheme ballots will enable up to

75 citizens of Kiribati, 75 citizens of Tuvalu, 250 citizens of Fiji, 250 citizens of Tonga, and 1,100 citizens of Samoa (including their partners and dependent children) to be granted residence in New Zealand, For more details on these immigration policies, see

http://www.immigration.govt.nz/. Estimates of ballot registrations were obtained from http://www.eventpolynesia.com/news&info/tuvalu/TV2_page_newsroom.htm .

³³ Schwartz, P., and Randall, D. (2003). An Abrupt Climate Change Scenario and Its Implications for United States National Security. Global Business Network, San Francisco, California, USA. Available at:

http://www.gbn.com/GBNDocumentDisplayServlet.srv?aid=26231&url=%2FUploadDocumentDi splayServlet.srv%3Fid%3D28566 ¹⁵⁴ Barnett, J., and Adger, N. (2005). Security and climate change: Toward an improved

understanding. Human Security and Climate Change Workshop, Oslo, Norway, 20-21 June.Barnett and Adger, 2005. Available at:

http://www.cicero.uio.no/humsec/papers/Barnett&Adger.pdf . Note: Other workshop papers are available at: http://www.cicero.uio.no/humsec/list_participants.html

¹⁵⁵ According to the IPCC (note #37), "Adaptation refers to adjustments in ecological, social, or economic systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli and their effects or impacts. It refers to changes in processes, practices, and structures to moderate potential damages or to benefit from opportunities associated with climate change."

¹⁵⁶ Jones, R.N., and Mearns, L.O. (2005). Assessing future climate risks. In Adaptation Policy Frameworks for Climate Change: Developing Strategies, Policies and Measures, [B. Lim et al. (eds)], United Nations Development Programme, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 119-143.

Smit, B., Burton, I., Klein, R.J.T. and Street, R. (1999) The science of adaptation: A framework for assessment. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 4, 199-213. ¹⁵⁸ Yohe, G., and Smith, J.B. (2004). Coping with Global Climate Change: The Role of Adaptation in the United States. Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Arlington, VA, USA. Available at: http://www.pewclimate.org/global-warming-indepth/all reports/adaptation/index.cfm

From IPCC (note 37) based upon Burton, I. (1996) The growth of adaptation capacity: Practice and policy. In: Adapting to Climate Change: An International Perspective [Smith, J., N. Bhatti, G. Menzhulin, R. Benioff, M.I. Budyko, M. Campos, B. Jallow, and F. Rijsberman (eds.)]. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA, pp. 55-67.

Thomas, C.D., Cameron, A., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Collingham, Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N, de Siqueira, M.F., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A.S., Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M.A., Peterson, A.T., Phillips, O.L., and Williams, S.E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427, 145-148.

Ribot, J.C., Najam, A., and Watson, G. (1996). Climate variation, vulnerability and sustainable development in the semi-arid tropics. In Climate Variability, Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the Semi-Arid Tropics, [Ribot, J.C., A.R. Magalhães, and S.S. Panagides (eds.)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 13-54.

¹⁶² These six indicators of adaptive capacity were adopted from Working Group II, Chapter 18 of the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Available at: http://www.grida.no/climate/ipcc_tar/wg2/653.htm#186 ¹⁶³ World Bank (2006). Managing Climate Risk: Integrating Adaptation into World Bank Group

Operations. Global Environment Facility Program, The World Bank Group, Washington, DC, USA. Available at:

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/GLOBALENVIRONMENTFACILITYGEFOPERATIONS/Reso urces/Publications-Presentations/GEFAdaptationAug06.pdf

Data obtained from the Climate Analysis Indicators Tool of the World Resources Institute. Available at: http://cait.wri.org/.

¹⁶⁵ For more discussion of such trade-offs, see Tol (2006) Adaptation and mitigation: Trade-offs in substance and methods. Environmental Science and Policy 8, 572-578.

¹⁶⁶ IEA (International Energy Agency). (2004). World Energy Outlook 2004. OECD/IEA, Paris, France. Available at: http://www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/2004/weo2004.pdf

Country profiles obtained from the Population Division, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Available at:

http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/countryprofile/profile.htm. All monetary values represent 1990 US\$. Data represent most recent data available. Trends commonly represent 1995-2000 period, while remaining data represents either 2000 or 2005 estimates. Per capita CO₂ emissions represent 2002 energy emissions and were obtained from the Climate Analysis Indicators Tool of the World Resources Institute (See note #164).

¹⁶⁸ Wassmann, R., Hien, N.X., Hoanh, C.T., and Tuong, T.P. (2004). Sea level rise affecting the Vietnamese Mekong Delta: Water elevation in the flood season and implications for rice production. Climatic Change 66, 89-107.

¹⁶⁹ Darwin, R.F., and Tol, R.S.J. (2001). Estimates of the economic effects of sea-level rise. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 19, 113-129. ¹⁷⁰ UNEP (United Nations' Environment Programme) (2006). *Geo Year Book 2006: An Overview*

of Our Changing Environment. Early Warning and Assessment, United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya. Available at:

http://www.unep.org/geo/yearbook/yb2006/PDF/Complete pdf GYB 2006.pdf Population estimates are based upon 2050 projections.

¹⁷¹ Hay, J.E., and Mimura, N. (2005). Sea-level rise: Implications for water resources management. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 4, 717-737.

¹⁷²Mimura, N. (2000). Distribution of vulnerability and adaptation in the Asia and Pacific Region. In Global Change and Asia Pacific Coasts [N. Mimura and H. Yokoki (eds.)]. Proceedings of APN/SURVAS/LOICZ Joint Conference on Coastal Impacts of Climate Change and Adaptation in the Asia-Pacific Region, Kobe, Japan, Asia Pacific Network for Global Change Research and Center for Water Environment Studies, Ibaraki University, Japan, November, pp. 21-25.

¹⁷³ Tol. R.S.J. (2004). The Double Trade-Off Between Adaptation and Mitigation for Sea-Level Rise: An Application of FUND. Working Paper FNU-48, Research Unit Sustainability and Global Change, Hamburg University and Centre for Marine and Atmospheric Sciences, Hamburg,

Germany. Available at: http://www.uni-

hamburg.de/Wiss/FB/15/Sustainability/slradaptmitigatewp.pdf

¹⁷⁴ Holthus, P., Crawford, M., Makroro, C., and Sullivan, S. (1992). *Vulnerability Assessment of Accelerated Sea-Level Rise—Case Study: Majuro Atoll, Marshall Islands*. South Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) Reports and Studies Series No. 60, Apia, Western Samoa, 107 pp.

¹⁷⁵ Richmond, B.M., Mieremet, B., and Reiss, T. (1997). Yap Islands natural coastal systems and vulnerability to potential accelerated sea-level rise. *Journal of Coastal Research* 24, 153-172.

¹⁷⁶ Mimura, N., and Pelesikoti, N. (1997). Vulnerability of Tonga and future sea-level rise. *Journal of Coastal Research* 24, 117-132.

¹⁷⁷ Hare, W. (2003). Assessment of Knowledge on Impacts of Climate Change – Contribution to the Specificiation of Art. 2 of the UNFCCC. Wissenschaftlicher Beirat Der Bundesregierung, Berlin, Germany.

¹⁷⁸ Smith, J.B., Bhatti, N., Menzhulin, G., Benioff, R., Campos, M., Jallow, B., Rijsberman, F., Budyko, M.I., and Dixon, R.K. [eds.] (1996). *Adapting to Climate Change: Assessment and Issues*. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA, 475 pp.

¹⁷⁹ Scholze, M., Knorr, W., Arnell, N.W., and Prentice, I.C. (2006). A climate-change risk analysis for world ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 13116-13120.

¹⁸⁰ Hadley Centre (1999). *Climate Change and Its Impacts: Stabilisation of CO₂ in the Atmosphere*. Hadley Centre for Climate Prediction and Research, Met Office, UK. Available at: <u>http://www.met-office.gov.uk/research/hadleycentre/pubs/brochures/B1999/climate_web.pdf</u>

¹⁸¹ Based upon global extinction risks for tropical and temperature biomes from note #160.
 ¹⁸² Guinotte, J.M., Buddemeier, R.W., and Kleypas, J.A. (2003). Future coral reef habitat marginality: temporal and spatial effects of climate change in the Pacific basin. *Coral Reefs* 22, 551-558.

¹⁸³ Tsunekawa, A., Zhang, X., Zhou, G., and Omasa, K. (1996). Climate change and its impacts on the vegetation distribution in China. In *Climate Change and Plants in East Asia* [Omasa, K., Kai, K., Toda, H., Uchijima, Z., and Yoshino, M. (eds.)], Springer-Verlag, Tokyo, Japan, pp. 67-84.

84. ¹⁸⁴ Ni, J. (2000). A simulation of biomes on the Tibetan Plateau and their responses to global climate change. *Mountain Research and Development* 20, 80-89.

¹⁸⁵ Tol, R.S.J. (2002). Estimates of the damage costs of climate change. Part II. Dynamic estimates. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 21, 135-160.
 ¹⁸⁶ Martens, W.J.M., Jetten, T.H., Focks, D.A. (1997). Sensitivity of malaria, schistosomiasis and

¹⁸⁶ Martens, W.J.M., Jetten, T.H., Focks, D.A. (1997). Sensitivity of malaria, schistosomiasis and dengue to global warming. *Climatic Change* 35, 145-156.

¹⁸⁷ Knutson, T.R. and Tuleya, R.E. (2004). Impact of CO2-induced warming on simulated hurricane intensity and precipitation: Sensitivity to the choice of climate model and convective parameterization. *Journal of Climate* 17, 3477-3495.
 ¹⁸⁸ World Bank (2000). *Cities, Seas, and Storms: Managing Change in Pacific Island*

¹⁰⁰ World Bank (2000). Cities, Seas, and Storms: Managing Change in Pacific Island Economies. Papua New Guinea and Pacific Islands Country Unit, The World Bank, Washington, DC, USA. Available at <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPACIFICISLANDS/Resources/4-VolumeIV+Full.pdf</u>

¹⁸⁹ van Lieshout, M., Kovats, R.S., Livermore, M.T.J., and Martens, P. (2004). Climate change and malaria: Analysis of the SRES climate and socio-economic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change* 14, 87-99. ¹⁹⁰ ADB (Asia Development Bank). (1994). *Climate Change in Asia: Executive Summary*. Asian

¹⁹⁰ ADB (Asia Development Bank). (1994). *Climate Change in Asia: Executive Summary*. Asian Development Bank, Manila, Philippines, 122 pp.

¹⁹¹ Bhattacharya, S., Sharma, C., Dhiman, R.C., and Mitra, A.P. (2006). Climate change and malaria in India. *Current Science* 90, 369-375.

¹⁹² Rosenzweig, C., Strzepek, K.M., Major, D.C., Iglesias, A., Yates, D.N., McCluskey, A., Hillel, D. (2004). Water resources for agriculture in a changing climate: International case studies. *Global Environmental Change* 14, 345-360.

¹⁹³ Singh, P., Arora, M., and Goel, N.K. (2006). Effect of climate change on runoff of a glacierized Himalayan basin. *Hydrological Processes* 20, 1979-1992.

¹⁹⁴ Arnell, N. (2004). Climate change and global water resources: SRES emissions and socioeconomic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change* 14, 31-52.

¹⁹⁵ Mirza, M.Q. (1997). The runoff sensitivity of the Ganges river basin to climate change and its implications. *Journal of Environmental Hydrology* 5, 1-13.

¹⁹⁶ ECF (European Climate Forum). (2004). What is Dangerous Climate Change? Initial Results of a Symposium on Key Vulnerable Regions, Climate Change, and Article 2 of the UNFCCC. COP 10 Event at the EU pavilion, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 14 December, 2004.

¹⁹⁷ Liu, C. (1997) The potential impact of climate change on hydrology and water resources in China. *Advances in Water Science* 8, 21-32.

¹⁹⁸ Singh, P., and Kumar, N. (1997). Impact assessment of climate change on the hydrological response of a snow and glacier melt runoff dominated Himalayan river. *Journal of Hydrology* 193, 316-350.

¹⁹⁹ Jose, A.M., and Cruz, N.A. (1999). Climate change impacts and responses in the Philippines: Water Resources. *Climate Research* 12, 77-84.

²⁰⁰ Riebsame, W.E., Strzepek, K.M., Wescoat, L.L. Jr., Perritt, R., Gaile, G.L., Jacobs, J., Lieichenko, R., Magadza, C., Phien, H., Urbiztondo, B.J., Restrepo, P., Rose, W.R., Saleh, M., Ti, L.H., Tucci, C., and Yates, D. (1995). Complex river basins. In *As Climate Changes: International Impacts and Implications,* [Strzepek, K.M. and J.L. Smith (eds.)], Cambridge University Press, Melbourne, Australia, pp. 57-91.

²⁰¹ Winters, P., Murgai, R., de Janvry, A., Sadoulet, E., and Frisvold, G. (1999). Climate change and agriculture: Effects on developing countries. In *Global Environmental Change and Agriculture,* [Frisvold, G., and B. Kuhn (eds.)], Edward Elgar Publishers, Cheltenham, United Kingdom.

²⁰² Šaseedran, S.A., Singh, K.K., Rathore, L.S., Singh, S.V., and Sinha, S.K. (2000). Effects of climate change on rice production in the tropical humid climate of Kerala, India. *Climatic Change* 44, 495-514.

²⁰³ Peng, S., Huang, J., Sheehy, J.E., Laza, R.C., Visperas, R.M., Zhong, X., Centeno, G.S., Khush, G.S., and Cassman, K.G. (2006). Rice yields decline with higher night temperature from global warming. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101, 9971-9975.
 ²⁰⁴ Sohngen, B., Mendelsohn, R., and Sedjo, R. (1998). The Effect of Climate Change on Global

²⁰⁴ Sohngen, B., Mendelsohn, R., and Sedjo, R. (1998). *The Effect of Climate Change on Global Timber Markets*. Resources for the Future, Washington, DC, USA. Available at: <u>http://www-agecon.ag.ohio-</u>

state.edu/people/sohngen.1/forests/globcc.pdf#search=%22%22The%20effect%20of%20climat e%20change%20on%20global%20timber%20markets%22%22 ²⁰⁵ Mendelsohn, R. (2005). Climate change impacts on Southeast Asian agriculture. American

²⁰⁵ Mendelsohn, R. (2005). Climate change impacts on Southeast Asian agriculture. American Economic Association Annual Conference, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 7-9th August. Paper available at: <u>http://www.aeaweb.org/annual_mtg_papers/2006/0107_1430_1601.pdf</u>

²⁰⁶ Mendelsohn, R., Morrison, W., Schlesinger, M.E., and Andronova, N.E. (2000). Countryspecific market impacts of climate change. *Climatic Change* 45, 553-569.

²⁰⁷ Fischer, G., Shah, M., and van Velthuizen, H. (2002). *Climate Change and Agricultural Vulnerability*. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria.

²⁰⁸ Darwin, R., Tsigas, M., Lewandrowski, J., and Raneses, A. (1995). *World Agriculture and Climate Change: Economic Adaptation*, Report No. AER-709, Economic Research Service, Washington, DC, USA

²⁰⁹ Karim, Z., Hussain, S.G., and Ahmed, M. (1996). Assessing impacts of climatic variations on foodgrain production in Bangladesh. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 92, 53-62.

²¹⁰ Matthews, R.B., Kropff, M.J., Horie, T., and Bachelet, D. (1997). Simulating the impact of climate change on rice production in Asia and evaluating options for Adaptation. *Agricultural Systems* 54, 399-325.

²¹¹ Faisal, I.M., and Parveen, S. (2004). Food security in the face of climate change, population growth, and resource constraints: Implications for Bangladesh. *Environmental Management* 34, 487-498.

²¹² Aggarwal, P.K., and Mall, R.K. (2002). Climate change and rice yields in diverse agroenvironments of India. II. Effect of uncertainties in scenarios and crop models on impact assessment. *Climatic Change* 42, 331-343.

²¹³ Kumar, K. and Parikh, J. (1998). Climate change impacts on Indian agriculture: The Ricardian approach. In *Measuring the Impact of Climate Change on Indian Agriculture,* [A. Dinar, R. Mendelsohn, R. Evenson, J. Parikh, A. Sanghi, K. Kumar, J. McKinsey, and S. Lonergan (eds.)], World Bank Technical Paper No. 402, Washington, D.C.

²¹⁴ Sanghi, A., Mendelsohn, R., and Dinar, A. 1998. The climate sensitivity of Indian agriculture. In *Measuring the Impact of Climate Change on Indian Agriculture,* [A. Dinar, R. Mendelsohn, R. Evenson, J. Parikh, A. Sanghi, K. Kumar, J. McKinsey, and S. Lonergan (eds.)], World Bank Technical Paper No. 402, Washington, D.C.

²¹⁵ Kumar, K.S.K., and Parikh, J. (2001). Indian agriculture and climate sensitivity. *Global Environmental Change* 11, 147-154

²¹⁶ Buan, R.D., Maglinao, A.R., Evangelista, P.P., and Pajuelas, B.G. (1996) Vulnerability of rice and corn to climate change in The Philippines. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 92, 41-51.

²¹⁷ Mendelsohn, R., and Williams, L. (2004). Comparing forecasts of the global impacts of climate change. *Climatic Change* 9, 315-333.

²¹⁸ Erda, L., Wei, X., Hui, J., Yinlong, X, Yue, L., Liping, B., and Liyong, X. (2005). Climate change impacts on crop yield and quality with CO₂ fertilization in China. *Philosphical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 360, 2149-2154

²¹⁹ Liu, H., Li, X., Fisher, G., and Sun, L. (2004). Study of the impacts of climate change on China's agriculture. *Climatic Change* 65, 125-148.

²²⁰ Jinghua, W., and Erda, L. (1996). The impacts of potential climate change and climate variability on simulated maize production in China. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 92, 75-85.
 ²²¹ Matthews, R.B., Kropff, M.J., Horie, T., and Bachelet, D. (1997). Simulating the impact of climate change on rice production in Asia and evaluating options for adaptation. *Agricultural Systems* 54, 399-325.
 ²²² Tol. P.S. L (1995). The demonstration of the second second

²²² Tol, R.S.J. (1995). The damage costs of climate change: toward more comprehensive calculations. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 5, 353-374.
 ²²³ Mendelsohn, R., Schlesinger, M., and Williams, L. (2000). Comparing impacts across climate

²²³ Mendelsohn, R., Schlesinger, M., and Williams, L. (2000). Comparing impacts across climate models. *Integrated Assessment* 1, 37-48.

²²⁴ Mendelsohn, R., Morrison, W., Schlesinger, M.E., and Andronova, N.E. (1998). Countryspecific market impacts of climate change. Proceedings of the IPCC Asia-Pacific Workshop on Integrated Assessment Models. 10-12 March, 1997, Tokyo, Japan. Available at: <u>http://crga.atmos.uiuc.edu/publications/market_impact/MarktImp.PDF#search=%22Country-</u> specific%20market%20impacts%20of%20climate%20change%22